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News release via Canada NewsWire, Calgary 403-269-7605

Attention Business Editors:
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"Company") announces that it has reconstituted its board of director
"Board") by expanding its size from seven to eight members and adding
members to fill the existing vacancies which occurred following the change of
control of the Company to Total E&P Canada Ltd. The new Board comprises
Jean-Luc Guiziou, Humbert de Wendel, Anita O'Brien, Verne Johnson,
Bruce Libin, Michael Hibberd, Philippe Armand and Patrick Pouyanne.
In addition, Deer Creek is pleased to announce the appointment of
Jean-Luc Guiziou as Chairman of the Board and Verne Johnson as Lead Director.
Messrs. Johnson, Libin and Hibberd have been appointed as members of the
Audit Committee of the Board and Bruce Libin will act as Chair of this
committee.

CALGARY, Nov. 2 /CNW/ - Deer Creek Energy Limited ("Deen\\i;z/}e
S\ b
AN

The directors possess leadership qualities, credentials, and achievements
that will enable them to play a very meaningful role in governing the affairs
of the Company. "These Board members are well qualified to steward Deer Creek
through the challenges and responsibilities that lie ahead and oversee the
business of the Company", said Jean-Luc Guiziou. "We are more than pleased to
have such an able group of individuals added to our Board"”.

Deer Creek is a publicly traded, (TSX:DCE), Calgary-based oil sands
company engaged in the development of its Athabasca oil sands deposits through
SAGD and mining extraction methods.

Trading Symbol - TSX: DCE
$SEDAR: 00010187E
/For further information: please contact: Deer Creek Energy Limited,
Mr. Jean-Luc Guiziou, President & CEO or Mr. John S. Kowal, VP Finance & CF0O
at (403) 264-3777, (403) 264-3700 (fax), E-mail:
deercrk (at) deercreekenergy.com, Website: www.deercreekenergy.com/
(DCE.)
CO: Deer Creek Energy Limited

CNW 12:18e 02-NOV-05
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News release via Canada NewsWire, Calgary 403-269-7605

Attention Business Editors:
Minor Tank Fire at Deer Creek 0Oil Sands Facility

CALGARY, Nov. 4 /CNW/ - Deer Creek Energy Limited ("Deer Creek") is
advising that a minor tank fire interrupted the operations on its SAGD Phase I
oil sands facility at Joslyn, located approximately 60 km north of Fort
McMurray, Alberta. The fire began on Thursday, November 3, 2005 at about
11:00 a.m. and was fully extinguished by 12:45 p.m. that same day. There were
no injuries, explosions or environmental incidents as a result of the fire.
Regulatory agencies and local stakeholders have been notified.

An investigation into the cause of the fire and damage estimates is
underway. The fire was isolated to two storage tanks and had no impact on any
other tank or equipment of the facility.

The facility was shut down throughout the duration of the fire and is
expected to commence start-up later today. Production from the facility prior
to the fire was approximately 200 barrels of bitumen per day.

Deer Creek is a publicly traded, (TSX:DCE), Calgary-based oil sands
company engaged in the development of its Athabasca oil sands deposits through
SAGD and mining extraction methods.

%$SEDAR: 00010187E

/For further information: Deer Creek Energy Limited: Mr. Jean-Luc
Guiziou, President & CEO or Mr. John S. Kowal, VP Finance & CFO at
(403) 264-3777, (403) 264-3700 (fax), E-mail: deercrk(at)deercreekenergy.com,
Website: www.deercreekenergy.com/

(DCE.)

CO: Deer Creek Energy Limited

CNW 18:10e 04-NOV-05
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FORM 52-109FT2 ‘& %z 05 -

Certificate of Interim Filings during Tra sition Period
. ..:,_./“;(}).
I, Jean-Luc Guiziou, President and Chief Executive Officer of Deer C\?e(a/ig,Energy
Limited, certify that: h

1. | have reviewed the interim filings (as this term is defined in Multilateral Instrument
52-109 Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Intenm Filings) of Deer
Creek Energy Limited for the interim period ending September 30, 2005;

2. Based on my knowledge, the interim filings do not contain any untrue statement of a
material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated or that is necessary
to make a statement not misleading in light of the circumstances under which it was
made, with respect to the period covered by the interim filings; and

3. Based on my knowledge, the interim financial statements together with the other
financial information included in the interim filings fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the issuer, as
of the date and for the periods presented in the interim filings.

November 10, 2005
signed

Jean-Luc Guiziou
President and Chief Executive Officer
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FORM 52-109FT2
Certificate of Interim Filings during Transition Period

|, John S. Kowal, Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer of Deer Creek
Energy Limited, certify that:

1. 1 have reviewed the interim filings (as this term is defined in Multilateral Instrument
52-109 Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Intenim Filings) of Deer
Creek Energy Limited for the interim period ending September 30, 2005;

2. Based on my knowledge, the interim filings do not contain any untrue statement of a
material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated or that is necessary
to make a statement not misleading in light of the circumstances under which it was
made, with respect to the period covered by the interim filings; and

3. Based on my knowledge, the interim financial statements together with the other
financial information included in the interim filings fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the issuer, as
of the date and for the periods presented in the interim filings.

November 10, 2005
signed

John S. Kowal
Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer




should be read carefully before this Letter of Transmittal is

LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL

documents, must accompany certificates for common shares ("Shares") of Deer Creek Energy Limited ("Deer
Creek") deposited under the proposed transaction (the "Proposed Transaction™) pursuant to which Deer Creek will
amalgamate (the "Amalgamation") with 1202655 Alberta Ltd. ("Newco"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Total
E&P Canada Ltd. ("Total Canada") (which is itself a wholly-owned subsidiary of Total S.A.), pursuant to the
Business Corporations Act (Alberta). Upon such Amalgamation, each issued and outstanding Share of Deer Creek,
other than those held by Newco and Dissenting Shareholders (if any), will be converted into class A redeemable
preferred shares ("Preferred Shares") of the amalgamated company ("Amalco") and thereafter will be redeemed by
Amalco as of 5:00 p.m. (Calgary time) on the first Business Day following the date of the Amalgamation (the
"Redemption Time") at a cash price of $31.00 per Preferred Share (the "Redemption Amount"). Holders of
Preferred Shares can elect, prior to the Redemption Time, by following the procedure described below, to have
1202614 Alberta Ltd. ("Putco"), another wholly-owned subsidiary of Total Canada, purchase any and all such
Preferred Shares at a purchase price of $31.00 cash per Preferred Share (the "Purchase Amount") prior to such
redemption. Capitalized terms used but not defined in this Letter of Transmittal which are defined in the
management information circular (the "Circular") of Deer Creek dated November 10, 2005 have the meanings set
out in the Circular.

TO: DEER CREEK ENERGY LIMITED

AND TO: 1202655 ALBERTA LTD.

AND TO: 1202614 ALBERTA LTD.

AND TO: VALIANT TRUST COMPANY at its offices set out herein (the ""Depositary")

The undersigned represents and warrants that the undersigned owns the number of Shares represented by
the enclosed certificate(s) and delivers such Share certificate(s) to you for deposit pursuant to the Proposed
Transaction upon the terms and conditions contained in the Circular. The following are the details of the enclosed
certificate(s):

Certificate Number(s) Name in which Registered Number of Shares Deposited

The undersigned acknowledges receipt of the Circular and represents and warrants that the undersigned has
good and sufficient authority to deposit, sell and transfer the Shares (which shall be converted into Preferred Shares
of Amalco upon the Amalgamation of Deer Creek and Newco) represented by the enclosed certificate(s) (the
"Deposited Shares").

UNLESS THE UNDERSIGNED ELECTS TO RECEIVE THE PURCHASE AMOUNT BY
CHECKING THE BOX BELOW AND DELIVERS THIS LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL TO THE
DEPOSITARY PRIOR TO THE REDEMPTION TIME, THE UNDERSIGNED DEPOSITS THE
DEPOSITED SHARES IN CONNECTION WITH THE REDEMPTION THEREOF IN ORDER TO
RECEIVE THE REDEMPTION AMOUNT LESS ANY TAX WITHHOLDINGS. The undersigned
acknowledges that a portion of the payment that it receives representing the Redemption Amount following
the redemption by Amalco of the Deposited Shares will constitute a dividend for purposes of the Income Tax
Act (Canada), which may have adverse tax consequences to the holder of the Deposited Shares, and in the
case of a Non-Resident Holder, will be subject to withholding tax. For additional information, see "Canadian
Federal Income Tax Considerations" in the Circular. Shareholders are advised to consult their own tax advisors with
respect to the consequences to them of receiving a dividend from a Canadian corporation.
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| THE UNDERSIGNED ELECTS TO TRANSFER THE DEPOSITED SHARES TO PUTCO
IN CONSIDERATION FOR THE PAYMENT BY PUTCO TO THE UNDERSIGNED OF
THE PURCHASE AMOUNT. Note: To be effective, this election must be validly made
before the Deposited Shares are redeemed by Amalco - see Instruction 1(a) below.

The undersigned further represents and warrants that when the Deposited Shares are redeemed by Amalco
or purchased by Putco, as the case may be, Amalco or Putco (in either case, the "Acquiring Corporation") will
acquire good title to the Deposited Shares free from all liens, charges, encumbrances, claims and equities and in
accordance with the following: FOR VALUE RECEIVED the undersigned irrevocably assigns to the Acquiring
Corporation all of the right, title and interest of the undersigned in and to the Deposited Shares and (excluding the
payment of the Redemption Amount if the undersigned has not elected to transfer the Deposited Shares to Putco,
and excluding the payment of the Purchase Amount if the undersigned has elected to transfer the Deposited Shares
to Putco), in and to any and all dividends, distributions, payments, securities, rights, warrants, assets or other
interests (collectively, "distributions") which may be declared, paid, accrued, issued, distributed, made or
transferred on or in respect of the Deposited Shares or any of them after the time that the Deposited Shares are
redeemed by Amalco or purchased by Putco, as the case may be.

The undersigned irrevocably constitutes and appoints each of Jean-Luc Guiziou and Anita O'Brien, each of
whom is an officer of the Acquiring Corporation, and any other person designated by the Acquiring Corporation in
writing, the true and lawful agent, attorney and attorney-in-fact of the undersigned with respect to the Deposited
Shares purchased or redeemed under the Proposed Transaction and any distributions on such Deposited Shares with
full power of substitution (such power of attorney, being coupled with an interest, being irrevocable) to, in the name
of and on behalf of the undersigned, (a) register or record the transfer of such Deposited Shares and distributions
consisting of securities on the registers of Deer Creek, Amalco or Putco, as the case may be; (b) for as long as any of
such Deposited Shares are registered or recorded in the name of the undersigned (whether or not they are now so
registered or recorded), execute and deliver (provided the same is not contrary to applicable law), as and when
requested by the Acquiring Corporation, any instruments of proxy, authorization or consent in form and on terms
satisfactory to the Acquiring Corporation in respect of any such Deposited Shares and distributions, and to designate
in any such instruments of proxy any person or persons as the proxyholder of the undersigned in respect of such
Deposited Shares and distributions; {(c) execute and negotiate any cheques or other instruments representing any
such distribution payable to or to the order of the undersigned; and (d) exercise any rights of the undersigned with
respect to such Deposited Shares and distributions.

The undersigned revokes any and all other authority, whether as agent, attorney-in-fact, attorney, proxy or
otherwise, previously conferred or agreed to be conferred by the undersigned at any time with respect to the
Deposited Shares or any distributions. No subsequent authority, whether as agent, attorney-in-fact, attorney, proxy
or otherwise, will be granted with respect to the Deposited Shares or any distributions by or on behalf of the
undersigned, unless the Deposited Shares are not redeemed or purchased under the Proposed Transaction.

The undersigned covenants and agrees to execute all such other documents, transfers and other assurances
as may be necessary or desirable to convey the Deposited Shares and distributions effectively to Amalco or Putco, as
the case may be.

Each authority conferred or agreed to be conferred by the undersigned in this Letter of Transmittal may be
exercised during any subsequent legal incapacity of the undersigned and all obligations of the undersigned in this
Letter of Transmittal shall be binding upon the heirs, personal representatives, successors and assigns of the
undersigned. Except as stated in the Circular, the deposit of Shares pursuant to the Letter of Transmittal is
irrevocable.

The undersigned instructs Amalco or Putco (upon Amalco redeeming the Deposited Shares or Putco
purchasing the Deposited Shares), as the case may be, and the Depositary to mail the cheque for the aggregate
Redemption Amount or aggregate Purchase Amount (less any tax withholdings) for the Deposited Shares, as the
case may be, by first class mail, postage prepaid, or to hold such cheque for pick-up, in accordance with the
instructions given below. Should any Deposited Shares not be redeemed or purchased, the deposited certificates and
other relevant documents shall be returned in accordance with the instructions in the preceding sentence.




BLOCK A
ISSUE CHEQUE IN THE NAME OF: (please print)

(Name)

(Street Address and Number)

(City and Province or State)

(Country and Postal (Zip) Code)

{Telephone - Business Hours)

(Social Insurance or Social Security Number)

BLOCK B
SEND CHEQUE (unless Block "D" is checked) TO:

(Name)

(Street Address and Number)

(City and Province or State)

(Country and Postal (Zip) Code)

BLOCK C
U.S. residents/citizens must provide their Taxpayer
Identification Number

BLOCK D
O HOLD CHEQUE FOR PICK-UP

BLOCK E
Is the Beneficial Shareholder of the Deposited Shares a
Canadian resident for the purposes of the /ncome Tax
Act (Canada)?

0 YES

0 NO

Signature guaranteed by (if required under
Instruction 3):

Authorized Signature

Name of Guarantor (please print or type)

Address (please print or type)

Dated: , 2005

Signature of Shareholder or Authorized
Representative
(see Instruction 4)

Name of Shareholder (please print or type)

Name of Authorized Representative
(please print or type) (if applicable)
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INSTRUCTIONS

Use of Letter of Transmitta)

(a)

®

(©)

This Letter of Transmittal (or an originally signed facsimile copy thereof) together with
accompanying certificates representing the Deposited Shares must be received by the Depositary
at the office specified below in order for the holder thereof to receive the Redemption Amount or
the Purchase Amount and, in the case of an election to receive the Purchase Amount from Putco,
such documents must be so received prior to the Redemption Time (being 5:00 p.m. (Calgary
time) on the first Business Day following the date of the Amalgamation). If this Letter of
Transmittal and certificates representing the Deposited Shares are not received prior to the
Redemption Time, the holder thereof will no longer have any right to receive the Purchase
Amount. Subject to the requirements of applicable law with respect to unclaimed property,
if this Letter of Transmittal and certificates representing the Deposited Shares are not
received and the Redemption Amount is not claimed within six years of the Redemption
Time, the Redemption Amount will be forfeited to Amalco and the holder of the Deposited
Shares will no longer have any right to receive the Redemption Amount.

The method used to deliver this Letter of Transmittal and any accompanying certificates
representing Shares is at the option and risk of the holder, and delivery will be deemed effective
only when such documents are actually received. Deer Creek recommends that the necessary
documentation be hand delivered to the Depositary at its office specified below, and a receipt
obtained; otherwise the use of registered mail with return receipt requested, properly insured, is
recommended. Shareholders whose Shares are registered in the name of a broker, investment
dealer, bank, trust company or other nominee should contact that nominee for assistance in
depositing those Shares.

Amalco and Putco, acting alone or jointly, reserve the right, if they so elect, in their absolute
discretion to instruct the Depositary to waive any defect or irregularity contained in any Letter of
Transmittal.

Signatures

This Letter of Transmittal must be filled in and signed by the holder of Shares accepting the offer described
above or by such holder's duly authorized representative (in accordance with Instruction 4).

(a)

®

If this Letter of Transmittal is signed by the registered owner(s) of the accompanying
certificate(s), such signature(s) on this Letter of Transmittal must correspond with the name(s) as
registered or as written on the face of such certificate(s) without any change whatsoever, and the
certificate(s) need not be endorsed. 1f such deposited certificate(s) are owned of record by two or
more joint owners, all such owners must sign the Letter of Transmittal.

If this Letter of Transmittal is signed by a person other than the registered owner(s) of the
accompanying certificate(s):

(i) such deposited certificate(s) must be endorsed or be accompanied by appropriate share
transfer power of attorney duly and properly completed by the registered owner(s); and

(ii) the signature(s) on such endorsement or share transfer power of attorney must correspond
exactly to the name(s) of the registered owner(s) as registered or as appearing on the
certificate(s) and must be guaranteed as noted in paragraph 3 below.

Guarantee of Signatures

If this Letter of Transmittal is signed by a person other than the registered owner(s) of the Deposited
Shares, or if Deposited Shares are not redeemed or purchased and are to be returned to a person other than
such registered owner(s) or sent to an address other than the address of the registered owner(s) as shown on
the share registers of Deer Creek, or if the payment is to be issued in the name of a person other than the
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registered owner of the Deposited Shares, such signature must be guaranteed by an Eligible Institution, or
in some other manner satisfactory to the Depositary (except that no guarantee is required if the signature is
that of an Eligible Institution). :

An "Eligible Institution" means a Canadian Schedule 1 chartered bank, a major trust company in Canada, a
member of the Securities Transfer Agents Medallion Program (STAMP), a member of the Stock Exchange
Medallion Program (SEMP) or a member of the New York Stock Exchange Inc. Medallion Signature
Program (MSP) (members of these programs are usually members of a recognized stock exchange in
Canada or the United States, members of the Investment Dealers Association of Canada, members of the
National Association of Securities Dealers or banks and trust companies in the United States).

Fiduciaries, Representatives and Authorizations

Where this Letter of Transmittal is executed by a person on behalf of an executor, administrator, trustee,
guardian, corporation, partnership or association or is executed by any other person acting in a
representative capacity, this Letter of Transmittal must be accompanied by satisfactory evidence of the
authority to act. Any of Deer Creek, Amalco, Putco or the Depositary, at their discretion, may require
additional evidence of authority or additional documentation.

Miscellaneous
(a) If the space on this Letter of Transmittal is insufficient to list all certificates for Deposited Shares,
additional certificate numbers and number of Deposited Shares may be included on a separate

signed list affixed to this Letter of Transmittal,

(b) If Deposited Shares are registered in different forms (e.g. 'John Doe' and 'J. Doe') a separate Letter
of Transmittal should be signed for each different registration.

(c) No alternative, conditional or contingent deposits will be accepted.

(d) Additional copies of the Circular and the Letter of Transmittal may be obtained from the
Depositary at its office at the address listed below.

Lost Certificates
If a share certificate has been lost or destroyed, this Letter of Transmittal should be completed as fully as

possible and forwarded together with a letter describing the loss, to the Depositary. The Depositary will
respond with the replacement requirements.




Office of the Depositary, Valiant Trust Company
By Mail, Hand or Courier

Valiant Trust Company
310, 606 — 4th Street S.W.
Calgary, Alberta
T2P 1T1
Attention: Reorganization Department

Inquiries
Telephone: 1-866-313-1872
e-mail: stocktransfer@valianttrust.com

Any questions and requests for assistance may be directed by Shareholders to the Depositary
at its telephone number and location set out above.
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NOTICE OF SPECIAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

NOTICE is hereby given that a Special Meeting of the holders ("Shareholders") of the common shares ("Common
Shares") of Deer Creek Energy Limited (the "Corporation") will be held at the Calgary Petroleum Club, Viking Room,
319 — 5th Avenue S.W., Calgary, Alberta, Canada, on December 12, 2005 at 10:00 a.m. for the following purposes:

1. to consider, and vote on a special resolution of the Shareholders (the "Amalgamation Resolution") (the text of
which is set out in Appendix 1 to the accompanying management information circular (the "Circular"))
authorizing and approving the amalgamation (the "Amalgamation”) of the Corporation and 1202655 Alberta
Ltd. ("Newco"), a subsidiary of Total E&P Canada Ltd. ("Total Canada"), upon the terms and conditions set
forth in the amalgamation agreement entered into as of November 10, 2005 among the Corporation, Newco,
Total Canada and 1202614 Alberta Ltd., a copy of which is attached as Appendix 2 to the Circular; and

2, to transact such other business as may properly be brought before the Meeting (as defined in the attached
Circular).

DATED at Calgary, Alberta on this 10th day of November, 2005.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

(signed) Jean-Luc Guiziou
President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to section 191 of the Business Corporations Act (Alberta) (the "ABCA"), a registered holder of Common
Shares (as defined in the attached Circular) may dissent in respect of the Amalgamation Resolution. If the
Amalgamation is completed, dissenting Shareholders who have complied with the procedures set forth in the ABCA will
be entitled to be paid the fair value of their Common Shares. This right is summarized in Appendix 3 to the Circular and
the text of section 191 of the ABCA is set forth in Appendix 4 to the Circular. Failure to adhere strictly with the
requirements set forth in section 191 of the ABCA may result in the loss or unavailability of any right to dissent.

NOTE: Registered Shareholders who are unable to attend the Meeting in person are entitled to be represented by proxy
and are requested to complete, sign, date and return the enclosed form of proxy in the envelope provided for that
purpose.

To be valid, a proxy must be dated and signed by the Shareholder or the Shareholder's attorney authorized in writing.
The proxy, to be acted upon, must be deposited with the Corporation's Registrar and Transfer Agent, Valiant
Trust Company, at the following address: 310, 606 — 4th Street S.W., Calgary, Alberta, T2P 1T1, no later than
4:45 p.m. (Calgary time) on December 8, 2005.
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<7 VALIANT TRUST COMPANY

Subsidiary of Canadian Western Bank

November 14, 2005

Burnet, Duckworth & Palmer LLP
3700, 400 - 3rd Avenue SW

Calgary, Alberta

T2P 4H2

Attention: Jeff Oke
Dear Jeff:

Re:  Deer Creek Energy Limited
Special Meeting of Shareholders

In our capacity as the Transfer Agent for Deer Creek Energy Limited., we are pleased to enclose
herewith our Affidavit of Mailing with respect to the Special Meeting materials including the
Notice of Meeting, Information Circular, Instrument of Proxy, and Letter of Transmittal, which
was mailed to the common shareholders of Deer Creek Energy Ltd. on November 14, 2005.

We trust this is satisfactory.

Yours truly,

“Lita Tan”

Lita Tan
Account Manager, Client Services




DECLARATION AS TO MAILING

PROVINCE ) IN THE MATTER OF DEER CREEK ENERGY LIMITED (THE “CORPORATION")

OF

) SPECIAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

ALBERTA )

I, LITA TAN, OF THE CITY OF CALGARY IN THE PROVINCE OF ALBERTA, DO SOLEMNLY

DECLARE AS FCOLLOWS:

1.

I AM AN EMPLOYEE OF VALIANT TRUST COMPANY AND AS SUCH, HAVE KNCWLEDGE OF THE
MATTERS HEREINAFTER DECLARED.

ON NOVEMBER 14, 2005 I CAUSED TO BE MAILED IN A FIRST CLASS PREPAID ENVELOPE
ADDRESSED TO THE REGISTERED HOLDERS OF COMMON SHARES OF THE CORPORATION; COPIES
OF EXHIBITS "A" AS NOTED BELOW.

{a) a copy of the NOTICE OF MEETING marked EXHIBIT "A" and identified by me;

(b) a copy of the INFORMATION CIRCULAR marked EXHIBIT "B" and identified by
me ;

(c) a copy of the INSTRUMENT OF PROXY marked EXHIBIT "C" and identified by
me;

(d) a copy of the LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL marked EXHIBIT "D" and identified by
me;

(e) a copy of the PRE-PAID PROXY RETURN ENVELOPE marked EXHIBIT "E" and iden-
tified by me;

(£) a copy of the SECURITY RETURN ENVELOPE marked EXHIBIT "F" and identified
by me;

I FURTHER CONFIRM THAT COPIES OF EXHIBITS "A" and "D" AS NOTED IN ITEM 2 ABOVE,
WERE SENT BY COURIER ON NOVEMBER 14, 2005 TO EACH INTERMEDIARY HOLDING COMMON
SHARES OF THE CORPORATION WHO RESPONDED TO THE SEARCH PROCEDURES PURSUANT TO
CANADIAN SECURITIES ADMINISTRATORS' NATIONAL INSTRUMENT 54-101 REGARDING
SHAREHOLDER COMMUNICATION.

AND I MAKE THIS SOLEMN DECLARATION CONSCIENTIOUSLY BELIEVING IT TO BE TRUE AND KNCWING
THAT IT IS OF THE SAME FORCE AND EFFECT AS IF MADE UNDER OATH AND BY VIRTUE OF THE
CANADA EVIDENCE ACT.

DECLARED BEFORE ME AT THE CITY OF
CALGARY IN THE PROVINCE OF ALBERTA
THIS 14TH DAY OF NOVEMBER 2005.

“Phil Menard” “Lita Tan”

COMMISSIONER FOR OATHS IN AND FOR Lita Tan
THE PROVINCE OF ALBERTA
My commission expires on March 4, 2007.
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Attention Business Editors: D
Deer Creek Energy Limited Special Meeting of Shareholdeks iﬂga‘g)z 2&\
Z N
CALGARY, Nov. 14 /CNW/ - Deer Creek Energy Limited ("Dee sCreek") tgzzz P
announced the mailing of the management information circular and rela&gf
materials in connection with the previously announced special meeting
shareholders to be held on December 12, 2005. The special meeting of
shareholders has been called tc consider and approve the amalgamation of
Creek and 1202655 Alberta Ltd. ("Newco"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Total
E & P Canada Ltd. ("Total Canada"), which currently holds approximately 82.4%
of the outstanding common shares of Deer Creek. The special meeting will be
held on December 12, 2005 at 10:00 am at the Calgary Petroleum Club, 319 - 5th
Avenue S.W., in Calgary, Alberta. The record date for determining the
shareholders of Deer Creek entitled to receive notice of the meeting is
November 10, 2005. Full particulars of the proposed amalgamation are described
in the meeting materials mailed to shareholders and filed on SEDAR.
The amalgamation will result in Total Canada owning 100% of the common
shares of the corporation ("Amalco") resulting from the amalgamation of Deer
Creek and Newco, achieving Total Canada's originally expressed intention of
acquiring 100% of Deer Creek. Holders of common shares of Deer Creek on the
effective date of the amalgamation, other than Newco and any dissenting
shareholders, will receive one redeemable preferred share of Amalco for each
common share held. The redeemable preferred shares will be redeemed on the day
following the amalgamation for Cdn. $31.00 per share. This price is equal to
the amount paid under the take-over bid and offer to purchase made by Total
Canada for all of the Deer Creek common shares dated September 2, 2005,
pursuant to which approximately 82.4% of the outstanding common shares of Deer
Creek held by Newco were acquired. Alternatively, holders of the redeemable
preferred shares of Amalco are entitled to elect to sell such shares to a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Total Canada for Cdn. $31.00 per share at any time
prior to the redemption of the redeemable preferred shares.
Newco holds a sufficient number of common shares of Deer Creek to have
the amalgamation approved in accordance with applicable law. It is anticipated
that the amalgamation will be completed by December 12, 2005.

Deer Creek is currently a publicly traded, (TSX:DCE), Calgary-based oil
sands company engaged in the development of its Athabasca oil sands deposits
through SAGD and mining extraction methods. Following the amalgamation an
application will be made to delist the Deer Creek common shares following
which they will no longer be publicly traded on any stock exchange.

Trading Symbol - TSX: DCE
$SEDAR: 00010187E

/For further information: please contact: Deer Creek Energy Limited, Mr.
Jean-Luc Guiziou, President & CEO or Mr. John 8. Kowal, VP Finance & CFO at
(403) 264-3777, (403) 264-3700 (fax), E-mail: deercrk(at)deercreekenergy.com,
Website: www.deercreekenergy.com/

(DCE.)

CO: Deer Creek Energy Limited

CNW 09:43e 14-NOV-05
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DEER CREEK ENERGY LIMITED

PROXY SOLICITED BY MANAGEMENT FOR THE
SPECIAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

December 12, 2005

The undersigned holder of common shares ("Common Shares") of Deer Creek Energy Limited
(the "Corporation") hereby appoints Jean-Luc Guiziou, President and Chief Executive Officer of the
Corporation or failing him, John S. Kowal, Vice-President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer of the
Corporation, or instead of either of them, , as proxy with
power of substitution, to attend, act and vote for and on behalf of the undersigned with respect to all of the
Common Shares of the Corporation held by the undersigned, at the special meeting (the "Meeting") of
the shareholders of the Corporation to be held on Monday, December 12, 2005 at 10:00 a.m. (Calgary
time) in the Viking Room at the Calgary Petroleum Club, 319 — 5th Avenue S.W., Calgary, Alberta,
Canada and at any adjournments thereof and at every poll which may take place in consequence thereof
with the same powers that the undersigned would have if the undersigned were present at the Meeting, or
any adjournment thereof. This Instrument of Proxy is accompanied by a formal notice of the Meeting and
a management information circular (the "Information Circular"), both dated November 10, 2005,
providing more detailed information on the matters to be addressed at the Meeting. Without limiting the
foregoing appointment of proxy, the said proxy is hereby instructed to vote at the Meeting as follows:

FOR O or AGAINST [ a special resolution (the text of which is set out in Appendix 1 to the
Information Circular) authorizing and approving the amalgamation of the Corporation and 1202655
Alberta Ltd. ("Newco"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Total E&P Canada Ltd. ("Total Canada") (which
is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Total S.A.), substantially upon the terms and conditions set forth in the
amalgamation agreement among the Corporation, Newco, Total Canada and 1202614 Alberta Ltd.
attached as Appendix 2 to the Information Circular.

THE COMMON SHARES REPRESENTED BY THIS INSTRUMENT OF PROXY WILL
BE VOTED ON THE ITEM ABOVE AS THE SHAREHOLDER MAY HAVE SPECIFIED BY
MARKING AN "X" IN THE SPACE PROVIDED FOR THAT PURPOSE. IF NO CHOICE IS
SPECIFIED, THE COMMON SHARES WILL BE VOTED AS IF THE SHAREHOLDER HAD
VOTED "FOR" THE FOREGOING MATTER.

SHAREHOLDERS HAVE THE RIGHT TO APPOINT A PERSON OR COMPANY TO
REPRESENT THEM AT THE SPECIAL MEETING OTHER THAN THE PERSONS NAMED
IN THIS INSTRUMENT OF PROXY. IF THE SHAREHOLDER DOES NOT WANT TO
APPOINT EITHER OF THE INDIVIDUALS NAMED IN THIS INSTRUMENT OF PROXY,
THEY SHOULD STRIKE OUT SUCH NAMES AND INSERT IN THE BLANK SPACE
PROVIDED THE NAME OF THE PERSON THEY WISH TO ACT AS THEIR PROXY, WHO
NEED NOT BE A SHAREHOLDER OF THE CORPORATION.

THE SHAREHOLDER ALSO HEREBY CONFERS DISCRETIONARY AUTHORITY
ON THE SHAREHOLDER'S PROXY TO VOTE THE SHAREHOLDER'S COMMON SHARES
IN THE PROXY'S DISCRETION ON ANY AMENDMENTS OR VARIATIONS TO THE
MATTER IDENTIFIED IN THE NOTICE OF SPECIAL MEETING AND ON ANY OTHER

-MATTERS WHICH MAY COME BEFORE THE MEETING OR ANY ADJOURNMENT

THEREOF (STRIKE OUT THIS SENTENCE IF SUCH DISCRETIONARY AUTHORITY IS TO
BE WITHHELD).




-2.

This Instrument of Proxy will not be valid unless it is dated and signed by the sharehoider or by
the shareholder's attorney duly authorized by the shareholder in writing, or, in the case of a corporation, is
dated and executed under its corporate seal or by an officer or officers or attorney for the corporation duly
authorized.

This proxy, to be acted upon, must be deposited with the Corporation's Registrar and Transfer
Agent, Valiant Trust Company, at the following address: 310, 606 — 4th Street S.W., Calgary, Alberta,
T2P 1T1, no later than 4:45 p.m. (Calgary time) on December 8, 2005.

THIS INSTRUMENT OF PROXY IS SOLICITED ON BEHALF OF MANAGEMENT OF
THE CORPORATION.

The undersigned hereby revokes any proxy previously givén to attend and vote at the Meeting,.

Dated , 2005

Signature of Shareholder

Name of Shareholder (Please Print)

Please sign exactly as name appears on the address
label on the left. Joint owners should attach evidence
of their authority and a corporation should affix its seal
hereto. Shareholders who do not expect to attend the
Meeting in person are requested to date and sign this
Instrument of Proxy appointing a proxy and return it in
the envelope provided for that purpose.




DEER CREEK ENERGY LIMITED

December 12, 2005

REPORT OF VOTING RESULTS

Special Meeting Matters

1.

The approval of the amalgamation of

Section 11.3

File # 82-34856

Matters Voted Upon
Votes by Ballot
Outcome of Vote Votes For Votes Against
Passed 44,410,590 8,674,276
(83.7%)

Deer Creek Energy Limited and
1202655 Alberta Ltd. upon the terms
and conditions set forth in the
amalgamation agreement dated
November 10, 2005 among Deer Creek
Energy Limited, Total E&P Canada
Ltd., 1202655 Alberta Ltd. and 1202614
Alberta Ltd.
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BUSINESS CORPORATIONS ACT

CERTIFICATE
OF
AMALGAMATION

DEER CREEK ENERGY LIMITED
IS THE RESULT OF AN AMALGAMATION FILED ON 2005/12/12.




Deer Creek Energy Limited Announces Completion of Amalg;
Calgary, Alberta, December 12, 2005

Deer Creek Energy Limited (“Deer Creek”) is pleased to announce today that it has completed
the previously announced amalgamation (the “Amalgamation”) with 1202655 Alberta Ltd.
(*Newco”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Total E&P Canada Ltd. (“Total Canada”). The
shareholders of Deer Creek approved the Amalgamation at a special meeting held this morning.
The amalgamated companies will conduct business under the name Deer Creek Energy Limited.

As a result of the Amalgamation, Total Canada owns 100% of the common shares of Deer Creek
(the successor company resulting from the Amalgamation). Holders of common shares of Deer
Creek immediately prior to the Amalgamation, other than Newco and any dissenting
shareholders, have received one redeemable preferred share in Deer Creek, the successor
company, for every common share held. The redeemable preferred shares of Deer Creek will be
redeemed at 5:00 p.m. (Calgary time) on December 13, 2005 for Cdn. $31.00 per share.

Holders of preferred shares may elect, prior to the redemption time, to sell their preferred shares
to 1202614 Alberta Ltd., another wholly-owned subsidiary of Total Canada, for Cdn. $31.00 per
share. Preferred shareholders of Deer Creek who have already delivered a duly completed and
executed letter of transmittal, together with their Deer Creek share certificate(s), do not need to
take any action to receive their redemption proceeds.

Deer Creek’s board of directors is now comprised of Jean-Luc Guiziou as Chairman, Humbert de
Wendel and Anita O'Brien.

Deer Creek is currently a publicly traded, (TSX:DCE), Calgary-based oil sands company engaged
in the development of its Athabasca oil sands deposits through SAGD and mining extraction
methods. Following the redemption of the redeemable preferred shares Deer Creek intends to
de-list the Deer Creek common shares from the Toronto Stock Exchange and cease to be a
public company.

For further information please contact:

Deer Creek Energy Limited

Mr. Jean-Luc Guiziou, President & CEO or Mr. John S. Kowal, VP Finance & CFO at (403) 264-
3777, (403) 264-3700 (fax)

E-mail: deercrk@deercreekenergy.com

Website: www.deercreekenergy.com

Trading Symbol — TSX: DCE
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Deer Creek Energy Limited Completes Preferred Sharé)
Calgary, Alberta, December 13, 2005

N
N\

T N\
Deer Creek Energy Limited (“Deer Creek” or the “Company”) announced today the redemption of
all its outstanding redeemable preferred shares resulting from its amalgamation on December 12,
2005 with 1202655 Alberta Ltd., a wholly owned subsidiary of Total E&P Canada Ltd. (“Total
Canada”) for Cdn. $31.00 per share.

In addition, the Company has advised the Toronto Stock Exchange (the “Exchange”) of the
completion of the amalgamation and the redemption of the preferred shares and has filed an
application to de-list the Deer Creek common shares from the Exchange. Deer Creek anticipates
the common shares of the Company will cease to be publicly traded on the Exchange no later
than December 14, 2005.

Deer Creek is a wholly owned subsidiary of Total Canada engaged in the development of its
Athabasca oil sands deposits through SAGD and mining extraction methods.

For further information please contact:

Deer Creek Energy Limited

Mr. Jean-Luc Guiziou, President & CEO or Mr. John S. Kowal, VP Finance & CFO at (403) 264-
3777, (403) 264-3700 (fax)

E-mail: deercrk@deercreekenergy.com

Website: www.deercreekenergy.com

Trading Symbol - TSX: DCE
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Building a Pure Oil Sands Company

- Forthe nine months ended September 30, 2005 Quarterly Report

Deer Creek Continues Oil Sands Development Plans After Change of
Control

Quarterly Highlights
Total E&P Canada Ltd. acquired approximately 82% of the common shares at $31.00 per
common share

- Deer Creek’s Board nominates new directors and appoints new officers ‘ _ OO\:‘{
- Net capital investment of $38.2 million _ %\},
- Construction of SAGD Phase Il on schedule and on budget P Np},\}‘

- Completion of the drilling of the first five well pairs for SAGD Phase*:l'l ees‘('i
- Commenced construction of the 62 kilometre Joslyn Sales Lin&s -
- Averaged gross production of 220 barrels of bitumen per day

| am pleased to make my first report to the shareholders of Deer Creek as the new President and
CEO. The most significant event for the Company during the third quarter was the-announcement of
an agreement with Total E&P Canada Ltd. (“Total Canada”) whereby Total Canada made an all cash
offerof $25.00 per common share for all the issued and outstanding common shares of Deer Creek.
This offer was subsequently increased to $31.00 per common share after a superior proposal was
received valuing the Company at approximately $1.7 billion. On September 13, 2005, Total Canada
took up approximately 78% of the common shares of the Company and acquired control of Deer
Creek. Total Canada extended its offer to September 26, 2005 which was further extended to
October 11, 2005 and now holds approximately 82% of the common shares of Deer Creek.

In connection with the change of control, Mr. Glen Schmidt, President and CEO and the entire Board
of Directors of the Company resigned. A new board of directors has been established to steward
Deer Creek through this time of transition and to represent the interests of all shareholders. On
behalf of the shareholders, employees and new Board of Directors we gratefully acknowledge the
outstanding contribution of these departing individuals in building Deer Creek into a unique oil sands
company.

Additionally, | would like to express my gratitude to Mr. Don Riva and Mr. Mark Montemurro who have
both chosen to leave Deer Creek and pursue other interests. Mr. Riva and Mr. Montemurro provided
guidance and mentoring to Deer Creek through the challenging and exciting time of develcping a
junior oil sands company. We wish them every success in their new endeavors. Mr. Ray Reipas was
appointed Vice President, Mining and Mr. Matt Cartwright was appointed Vice President, Thermal
both effective October 11, 2005. Mr. Reipas was previously General Manager, Mining with Deer
Creek and has been active at the executive management level in developing Deer Creek's
aggressive mining oil sands growth strategy. Mr. Cartwright was previously Vice President Planning,
Development & Technology with Total Canada.

Total Canada has, consistent with the disclosure in its offering circular, proposed a subsequent

acquisition transaction to acquire the remaining common shares of Deer Creek which it did not
acquire under its offer. Information regarding this transaction is currently being prepared and is

Deer Creek Energy Limited Q3

DEer CREEK

Energy Limited




expected to be sent to shareholders to review and-o vate on at a special meeting of shareholders to
be held on December 12 2005in Calgary, Alberta.
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Advisory
This interim report contains certain “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of such
statements under apphcable securities law. Forward-looking statements are ﬁé’&ﬁgniﬁﬁgﬁaracterized
by words such as “plan”, “expect" “estimate”, “believe” and other similar words, or statements that

certain events or conditions “may” or “will” occur. By their nature, forward-locking statememts involve

assymptions and are subject to a variety of risks and uncertainties, rncludmg but notlrmlted to, those
agodthtEa with resource“deﬂmtron E'IH(-:‘ tlmellne t‘E& rpdu.ption the pés%l 1!' y”ofbré Bt cosf‘ove‘rruns
ResE Eid the”

or unahﬁ’(lcrparef:i c%sts and'g eﬁ"s é re lato v approvals, fluctuli ung g oita ée
brléy ab ateess Sitficent Cabﬁal %ﬁr}( ‘dev@lfi eni’ Aitfidu 27 (ﬁ"qparfy béﬁle:ves that
e%‘fa%annf:epre‘égnf&ﬂg h fdﬁﬁa? Gokma s?a’fe ts aré ?@g iatiie, {erb Cdi Beho
e that such exqecta,trczns wr_l! prove to be cor ~cf. xcept.as requrred under aopljcable

ass %@C }':' 2o -
SRgigiayar, the Compdn uné]ePta gs fig bgtia&tion to; ugdate’ ar PeVisE & For Jarg- Tooking

ﬁ?fgr ai’lo‘ﬁ' The rea’der ig caufio‘ﬁéaehot 1o ﬁﬁ&? undde FeIdRE e fonﬁardﬁ&ﬁ ok éfgtemen“fs

"Beédr Creek Fnergy: Liiitoct | 2 7~Q3




of five well pairs with liners set in place. The remaining well pads are on schedule with steaming
expected in the first quarter of 2006.

SAGD Phase | facility is performing as designed and is providing useiul information for the operation
of SAGD Phase ll. Production from the SAGD Phas« | well pair has been below expectztions due to
restricted reservoir flow canacity. A porticn of the Jroducing well was lecated 100 close 1o the
underlying Devonian formatiory which has inhitited steam chamber deveiopment. Srese production
from this well pair is expected to average 200 barrels of bitumen per day for the yea-. .

The Company, in coopers ‘ion with industry participants, continus d the pilct of hrirning emulsified
bitumen as an alternatlve fuel to natural gas, a prozess known as multiphase supeifire stomized -

residue or MSAR™. This pilot will be shut down and removed from the site during the fourth quarter

of 2005. Cetailed emi-sicns data collected during the caoatinuo:is burining of M3AR™ fuel will be

used as one of the far‘tors to evaluate fuel uiternattves for ¢ ommermal see Ie operations.

The SAGD Fhase HIA reguiato'/ application contmue’i to be stewarde4 thrcugh the regutatory and
stakeholder process, with expected approval 172 first half of 2006, - The senceptual dasign work

began during the third quarter of 2005 and w:ll be completed durlng the remalnder of the year.
Developmer" of the mine contmued wnth pr.;gree ar‘h eveanun the init al mina 1'\/( N oment plan the 4
social and economic assessment and public consiiation tiy suppert tl € comTletion f & raguistory ’
appiication in late 2005 or early 2006. e
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boriels per 22y of bitumen Lroduction 1 gether with the associated diluent, and will provide
transportatlon for all four phases of the Joslyn Project’'s SAGD development '

Ct‘r\s“ructvc . the pipel'r.es comni- -.zed in the third quarter of 2005 followmg the receist of :
r2q-datory zoilisation approvel in July The start-up of pipeline operations is planned for early 2006
to culicide wilh ihe siari-ap o ttie SAGD Piiase i fauiiity. .

et
e

Net Additions to Property, Piant and Equipment 7 BESTAVAILABLE COPY

Exploration, development and construction activities have been conducted under a joint-venture
agreement with Enerplus. .. =~

e Three Months Nine Months
B . - S Ended September 30 Ended September 30
{$ thousands) -~ - : - 2005 ,2004 - 29208 2004
Jeslyn Project, net S
. Project delinsation L322 588"' © 9,782 8,900
. 'SAGD Phase | B e 906" . 783 10,250
SAGD Phase Il ' o 32,285 4,447 714,148 7,420
SAGD Phase lil 202 39 801 298
SAGD Operations 1,112 1,493 4,334 2,293
Mining o L 587 209 2,045 311
Joslyn bales Lines = 7 PR . V S R 3,460 -
Other ~ = "~ T 1808 759, 6,664 1,175
Asset retirement obhganons U VAR, (- SRR [ REDI ¥ 4 IR -7
Caoltall7ed q_eneral and ddmlnlstratuon_:_‘_;j_;_w S 1.9:" S 738 631}1 1722
Projectcosts - L LT T 4214,4 ) 9189 A.'uos,460,_ 32,989
Office equipment ) T e (.40) .. 349 236
Net additions to property, plant and equipment 42,203 9,149 105,809 33,225
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Managementi’s Discussiori and Analysas o
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financial statemerue ahd accompanying notes for the filne months ended’ ‘Septerriber 30, 2005 and
the atdited coisolidated financial staterments &nd 'ti& Management's Disciission and Arialysis
contained in tiieé Lompar‘fi s‘Aﬁr.oal Report for t - year ended'December 31, 2004. Additional
inforniation’ w:th}espcc' o Deer Creelé; rr.;!aoi fnev-\nnual Informatiori Form, can be found ohi-is.”

e

SEDAR at-www. sedai’“"’o“ ot tr‘e-Company s w’ +fte at www. deercreekenergy com. This - G0
Management's DiScGusion &id Analysis i “datedHiovember 10, 2005, 5 0 ¢ cmsle 38

REAISINE

The followirig infor matron offers Management ] analysrs of the financial and operatmg results of the
Co*npany and may co -~.0n /2" "4ooking stater *"3-that are based on estimtes and assumptions
thatai 3 sub}ecf tount i 5. Acal results 6 ,nts may vary materially from those antrc:pa&d*
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On September 13, 2005, Totol E&P Canada Liri. ("Total (Janada”) whotly owned subsud'ary of l'otal
S.A., acquired contro! of Denr Creek in connectinn with an offer made August 5, 2005 to purchase aill
of the issued #nd outstanding cormmon shares of tiie Company for $31.00 par common share. The
offer was extended to September 26, 2005 and again to October 11, 2005, at which time Tot Lz
Canada had purchased, in aggregate, 82.4 percent of the issued and outstanding cornmon shales
Total Canada, in its offer documentation, informed ail shareholders that it intended tb”c,r‘)‘n’c‘atrcfe
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For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2005, net capital expenditures (excluding non-
cash items such as asset retirement obligations and capitalized stock-based compensation) were
incurred primarily for the construction of the SAGD Phase !l facility and gathering system. Progress
continued on the infrastructure required for the'Joslyn Project including water source and disposal
wells, and pipelines. -In the second quarter of 2005, Deer Creek purchased Qil Sands Lease 799
which is directly adjacent to the-primary SAGD area to provide addmonal opportunltles for the
development of the Joslyn Project. : o

~ The 2004-2005 core-hole program expanded Dezr Creek's geological well database by 271 wells
bringing the total to'more than 800 wells on the Joslyn Pro;ect : : ¢ .

The Comipany is expectung net capltal expenchtures before capitalized gnnerala'nd administration -
costs of $78.6 million for the semainder of 2005, excluding. SAGD operations. Of this total amourit, .
$54.0 million is for the continued development and construction of SAGD Phase li facility, $4.2 mlllion
is for mine.developmeant, $11.1 million is forithe construction of the:doslyn Sales Lines and $9 3
million is for proqect dellneatlon corporate costs and other |tems

Deer Creek ] pnmary ac’uwty is the development of the Joslyn Project. The current gross estlmated
initial cost remaining to:complete SAGD Phasei!'is $68.8 million. Future development costs of the
Joslyn Project are antisipZted ie-be financed throughia comblnatlon of lnternally generated cash ﬂow
and other financing arrangements.

SAGD Operations et

SAGD Phase i; Deer Creek'a initicl SAGD .demenstraticr: phase; provides.opereticnab knowledge for
future developrnentof tho Jeslyn RProject. =During-the third.quarter.of 2005;the SAGD Prase:|-well. -

pair averaged gross produstion af 220 barraits of bituméen. per day with a stean oil ratie(of 4.0. Tm'. oy
Company continu=s:{e undertake-aliaraate ste~ming strategies to opimize vrell carformance.. -

Three Konths l\llne llllontns

R sl Engod Scpiomber 30 Ended - Scatent ~r:30
($ thousands) - e "3005 L 2004' S 2005 - 20044
Bitumen sales, net of royaltres o | 728 . 954 ‘ -
Operatlng COSS " 7 Doode LUISOU T Nt L "1’@‘3‘: 1,403 . - g, 29@"‘ 2283

SAGD operat|0ns, net-éest T oerTE o T e b I 112 %, 493»* ; 4336 2295'

All net revenue and operating costs are capitalized for this demons_tra_tion pha_se_g_f_develop_ment; N

Financial Resulis = = R o N CoT
Three Meonths ~ ~ ~ 'Nine Months’

R Ended September 30 Ended September 30
($thousands) M . 2005 2004 2005 2004
Interest and other revenue . 909 656 2 848 1 074
General and admlnlstratlve expenses, net 21,843 819  ~24,018- 2005

Net income (Ipss) o e (16,034) (458) ,(‘l6,919)'7"‘('1',282)
Interest ang;cher Revent']e | | )

Interest anq,ether revenue is pnmaruy interest earned on cash invested in bankers’ acceptances
money maktKéet and other interest bearlng instruments held during the period. Interest and‘other
revenue lnc;eased by $0 3 million fof the three months ended September 30, 2005 and $1.8 m|II|on
for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 when compared to the sa e'penods in 2004 “The
average lnvestment balance was hlg,her during 2005 as a result of net proceeds recéived trom the
Company’ S“J_le 29, 2004 initial public offering. In accordance with corporate policies, cash |s N i
mvested i short-term lnvestment mstruments e B : , P

- ree r e . - - e B U
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General and Administrative Expenses

The 2005 net general and administrative expenses, befﬂre restructuring costs of $20. 5 mrllmn,
increased by $0.5 million and $1.5 million for the three and: nine months ended September 30, 2005,
respectively, when compared to the same periods of 2004. These increases are primarily due to an
increase in the number of employees and the:stock-based compensation costs for 200% stock option
awards. The number of employees at Dezr Creek increzsed to 56 at September.30, 2005 from 24 at
September 30, 2004. Employee increases have resuited primarily. from field coriract positions-
accepting full-time employment opportunities with the Company. Deer Creek’s general and
administrative expenses are expected to increase as the Joslyn Project advances.

Restructuring costs were incurred in September of-200% as a result of the acquisition of Deer Creek
by Total Canada resulting in a change of control of the Company. These one-time costs included
financial advisor fees, Iegal fees severance and other compensatlon costs related to the change of
control : i R - L .-

Cross general and-administrative expenses (not inciuding storck option compensation costs), hefcre
restructuring costs, increased primarily due to increased activities related tc project deveiooment,
including employees, computer services and consuiting costs. - Costs directly related.to preject
development activities are capltahzed

Three'Mohtbs c Nine Months

omL e P s oo Ended Sartember 37 < End -7 ®<piember 30
(Bthousands) - w50 et o Rl arcs cotta e o o 2008 00,2004 S0 0 2005 - 2004
General and administrative expenses, gross 22,351 1,583 27,091 3,606
Joint venture recoveries (357) (259) (1,111) (578)

21,994 1,324 25,980 3,028
Stock option compensation costs 2,836 233 3,458 699
Capitalized costs (2,987) (738) (5,421) (1,722)

Ge’ﬂera‘l 'a‘r'id a'dmin‘iStratiVe expe|1se's,'_‘net e e 21’,843 -“3‘“819"5' o 24,013 2,005
For the year erded December 31 2005 ‘the gross qeneral and admmrstratlve expenses are expected
to be approximately $33.7 million. A portion of thése expenditures will Be ofiset by Enerpius’ share,

pursuant to the joint-venture agreement, and the applicable capitalization.

Amorti:;ation }
Amorf|7at:on expense for the three months ended September 30, 2005 was $147 000 compared to
$"~5 000 for the three months ended September 30, 2004 and $404,000 for the nine month period
ended September 30, 2005 compared to $85,000 for the nine month perrod ended September 30,
2004 Amortization expense increased in 2005 due to the amortization of deferred financing charges:

rclated to-the Company’s credit facilities and the increase in corpora ate assets required to meet the
needs ‘of a laroer employee base. I B T SO AR

Income Taxes o

Income taxes recoverabie were recorded in the tnird qua—ter 01 2005 due to future incon.e tax related
to the significant restructuring costs incurred by the acquisition of Deer Creek by Total Canada offset
by the effect of negative resource allowance. Large Corporations Tax increased to $299,000 in the
first nine months of 2005 from $266,000 in the first nine months of 2004 due to the Cinipany’s higner
capital base, ofiset by the decrease in the tax rate.

Deer Creek is not subject to current taxes in Canada other than Large Corporations Tax.
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Net Income (Loss)

The net loss for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2005 increased when compared to
the net loss for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2004 primarily due to restructuring
costs. Increases in net general and adniinistrative before. restructuring costs, income: tax and
amortlzatlon expenses were offset by the mcrease in interest and other. revenue

Losses are expected to continue dunng 2005 as the Joslyn Project will remain in the developmental
phase. All net revenue and operating costs associated with SAGD Phase i wrl| be capltahzed and
amortized over the expected hfe of the assocrated reserves R 2T AP VPR S S

= - R ¥o

Quan‘erlylnformat/on R CIA A o s

($ thousands, except per share'amounts) Q305 Q205 Q105 Q404 Q304 Q204 Q104 Q403

Net additions to préoperty, plant =« " oacs i e ra e e o P R EIE
and equipment 42,203 30,652 32,954 16,489 9,149 2,980 21,096 5,988
Interest and other revenue 909 823 1,116 1,012 656 158 260 235
Net income (loss) = &5 (16034) (498) (387) (174)-- (458) “(450) (374) (169)
Net income {loss) pér share;” “ ‘ L S . Ll
basic and diluted -2 T (Q; 31) jO 011 (0 01) o ~(0.01)JO:02)” (0.04) {0.01)

Quarterly mformatlon is prepared in accordance W|th Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.
&'T AV vl

Net loss for‘t_.‘.-?g ‘i ’qua&er cgf?-%eﬁnslut};ss restructuring costs of $20.5 million related to financial
advisor fees! legal fees, severance ané other compensation costs resulting from the change of controf:

Liquidity -

Workmg Cap/tal

Workmg capftat SUrplus’ d’ecreased 62 6 mmon‘dunng the first fiifie months of 20057 The decrease
i working capitat suiplusts pwmarﬁy dus to-captat expenditures-forthetevelopnient of the Jostyn:
Pro;ect offset by the net proceeds from the June. 30 2005 issuance. of common shares and the s

(§ thousands) LvRELLOnEl R Ll TR T R LA e B L e .

Working capital, December 31, 2004 160,932
Capital expenditures (101, 588)
Proceeds from the issuance of common shares, net of share issue costs o 58,319
Restructurlng costs T o L i o e (19 73b)
Abandonment deposit reCovery | T e T 0 T 584"
Deferred charges L ) L Co (760
Other = ST S 7 -
Working capital, September 30,2005 : i coo T 98,097

The working capital surplus at September 30, 2005 is not sufficient to complete the SAGD Phase il
facility and the Joslyn Sales Lines. The Company is anticipating the future costs to be fi nanced
through internally generated cash flow and other financing arrangements. b

Capital Resources . . ., _.y

Equity Financing
SR LU L s TR G e Tt e an 0 rn LB s B L s B e 2 et e D
On June 30, 2005, the Company closed a bought deal financing of 3,000,000 common shares at a

price of $13.60 per common share for total net proceeds of $38.5 million. Proceeds from this share
issuance are intended to help fund the Company’s ongoing development activities for the Joslyn
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Project, including the costs of the Joslyn Sales Lines, mining and thermal expansion projecis, and
general corporate purposes.

On August 2, 2005, Deer Creek entered into an agreement pursuant to which Total Canada wouid
offer to acquire 100 percent of the issued and outstanding common shares, on a fully dituted basis,
for $25.00 per common share. On September 2, 2005, Total Canada amended this agreement,
increasing the consideration under its offer to $31.00 per common share which was the result of a
superior proposal being received by Deer Creek. Total Canada acquired 78 percent of the issued -
and outstanding common shares of Deer Creek on September 13, 2005. Upon change of control,
outstanding stock options.and perfermance share units vested and were exercised. The offer was
extended until September 26, 2005 and further to October 11, 20C5 at which time Tota! Canada had
acquired 82:4 percent of the issued and.outstanding common-shares. Total Canada, in its offer
documentation, informed all shareholders that:it intended to conduct a subsequent acquisition
transaction to acquire the remaining common shares not deposited under the: offer at the same price
as the offer price if it acquired, under the offer, 66 2/3 percent of the issued and outstanding common
shares of Deer Creek (excluding any common shares owned by it prior to its offer). Total Canada has
done so and has informed Deer Creek of its-intention:to proceed with ‘such subsequent acquisition
transaction. iinformation regarding this transaction is.currently being prepared. and is’expected to be
sent to shareholders to review and to.vote on at a spemal meetmg of sharehotders to be hcld on
December 12, 2005 in Calgary, AIberta R : : DoolnE T D

Credlt Facmty - W

e “ Co i < U S

On May 26, 2005, the Company entered mto a credat agreement wrth The Alberta Treasury Branches
to provide a non-recourse pipeline credit facility of $30.0 million secured by the Joslyn Sales Lines.

Drawdown of the credit facility is expected in January 2006 The credlt facmty isaone year revolver,
convertlng to a four year ‘erm Ioan S . CoLoo

During the nine: months ended September 30,2605, Deer Creek dld not d'aw Loon the lestmg $65 0
million committed credit facility. Camoemen e R TR e P pnario e ‘ :

Comm tmer;ts and Cun*raclua/ ut//g:t/cns

The Company s addltlonal matenal commltments -are settorth in Note 8 of the accompanylnc - notes to
.the unaudlted consolldated fmanC|aI statements

N

Outstandmg Share Data

AL W it o [ e T S OPI I C b W

At October 31, 2005 share capttal consisted of the followmg

(thousands)
Issued and outstanding T T
Common-ghares -~ wc.. . - D - L 53,856
Stock options » S L fie X
| iPgrformmaricd share units’ ¢ LR SR e B A o .
Fully diluted number of shares 53.856

Critica’ill Kécounting Estimates

A comprehenswe dlscussuon of the Company'’s srgmflcant accountlng policies is contamed |n Note 1
df the accompanying notes to.the audited consolidated financial statements for the year, ended
December 31, 2004 in Deer-Creek’s 2004 Annual Repert The Company s cr|t|ca| accountmg
estiratesrenvairamchanged-since December ,2604. e
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Risk Management and Success Factors .

Reference is made to the “Risk Management and Success Factors” section of Management's
Discussion and Anaiysis in Deer.Creek’s 2004 Annual Report. The nature of the Company’s risk
exposure and methods of managing risk remain substantially unchanged since December 31,.2004..
Outlook:s . =t oo man L UL L Ly AR

Production levels from the SAGD:Phase | well pair remain-flat and are estimated to average 190
barrels of bitumen per day for the.remainder of 2005, as the Company continues {c experiment with
steam distribution to increase well productivity. Deer Creek is.also planning a weil workover for -
January 2005 to improve production fromiithe well. . SAGD Phase Il.is utilizing data from the initial well
pair combined with advanced geo-statistical and reservoir modeling to enhance placement cf future
well palrs The Company does riot expect to change its productron estrmates for SAGD Phase W=
On-site constructlon of the SAGD Phase i expansron to oevelop 10, 000 barrels-of bltumen “per day
began during thefirst quarterof 2005 Construction is expected to be completed in late:2005, on--:
schedule and within budget.- Drilling uf the 17 well.pairs planned for development will continue
throughout 2005 and early 2006, with initial steaming expected to-commence.in.early 2006. ... =2

Deer Creek continues to compite the required data to support the planning and regulatory.appfication -
for SAGD Phase IIIB and the first two phases of the mine development, which are expected to add an
additional®15; 000 barrers of brtumen per day and 100 000 barrels of biturnen: per day of productton

Lot e o

The regulatory apptication forv SAGD Phase ||'|A"Wés 's'uiom'itted ’for aoprox/fal;on;Mar‘chc.ﬂ;’,s—éOO‘j.f;f'; s
Approval is expected in the first half of 2006. Work will continue on SAGD Phase IIIA for the
remainder of 2005, cunsisting ofithe preparation of a.cost estimate;: ongdlng stakehotder

communications and determination of infrastructure requirements. RN A IS R S EONTD Sl ERA [ HA

The Company will continue to make progress on the mining devi¢lopment regulatofy process and-
expects to submlt the apphcatron for the flrst 100 000 barrels of bltumen per day in Iate 2005 or early
Deer Creek is planning to run a pilot test in 2006 to cont” irm the mrmng extractlon technology rdentrt" ed
in the regulatory application.

Supplemental Information " e e T s
Joslyn-Project Development Plan -~ —~ S .
Expected Production ,_. -

Project Phase Bbis of bitumen per day Start-up* . Full Producticn”
SAGD Phase | «— ~wvr =« rees o eem =500 - e -Q2 2—(504 e é2§0{25 b
SAGD Phase || 10,000 Q1 2006 2007
SAGD Phase II1A 15,000 2007 ... 2008 1
SAGD Phase ilIB 15,000 2009 T 1o
Mine Phase | ... . 80000 . 2010 2011
Mme Phase | T 50 000_'_ o ’ ‘ 'v‘ 2010 ‘ L _' 2014
Mine Phase IV coh 2019 : : 2020.:: = )

B e L il
p) .

* Start-up for the SAGD phases of the Joslyn Project refers to initial steaming, with full production expected 12
to 18 months after start-up. Start-up for the mining phases of the Joslyn Project refers to initial extraction, with
full production expected six months after start-up.
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

(unaudited)
September 30 December 31
(thousands of dollars) 2005 2004
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 89,940 $ 85,437
Shori-term investments 23,426 86,168
Accounts receivable 6,041 8,578
Prepaid expenses and deposits 662 337
120,069 180,520
Abandonment deposits B R | ) 587
Deferred charges (note 3) 1,465 926

Property, plant and equipment ) 183,577 . 77,951

$ 305,114 $ 259,984

Llablhtues and Shareholders Equnty
Current liabilities - = Cem e e .
Acceunts payable and accrued habllmes e e L 821972 8 19,588

Future income tax liability (note 4) S 114 4475
Asset retirament obligations (note 5) . . o 1,038 - 860
23,122 24,923

Shareholders’ equity

Share capital (note 6) 280486 ... 222446

Contributed suiplus - B . 25,436 <. 27,626

Deficit (31 930) (15,011)
281, 992 235,061

$ 305,114 $ 259,984

Contingencies and Commitments (note 8)

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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Consolidated Statements of Income and Deficit

(Unaudited)

Three months ended

Nine months ended

(thousands of dollars, September 30 September 30
except per share amounts) 2005 2004 2005 2004
Revenue . B . :
Interest and other $ 909 $ 656 $ 2,848 $ 1,074
Expenses
Generaland -
administrative (note 9) . 21,843 819 24,018 2,005
Amortization 147 55 404 85
21,990 874 24,422 2,090
Income ({loss) hefore . - e o
income taxes - (21,081) ~- (218} - {(21,574)- (1,018)
Income taxes - ‘ v — L _
Large Corporations Tax 28 240 298 o ‘ A2’66‘
Future income tax (5,145) - 4983 -
(5.047) 240 (4655 266 -
Net income (loss) (16,034) (458) . .(18,919) (1,282) '
Deficit, beginning of period {15,898) .. (14379). ~ 7 (15,011) " 7 (13,558)7
Deficit, end of pericd .~ § (31,930) $ (14837) § (31,030 ..$. (14,837)
Net income (loss)
per comimon share (rivié v) e T
Basic and diluted $ (0.31) $ (0.01) $ {8.34) . §- 40.04)

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements™

g
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(Unaudited) L , -t
"~ Three months ended Nine months ended
September 30 . September 30
(thousands of dollars) 2005 2004 T 2005 2004
Operating activities : Sl e L YL
Netincome (loss) ~** ~~ ‘$§- (16,034)  § (458) - § (16,919) 5 (1,282)
Add (deduct) items ot . © T T G R o
affecting cgsh: ‘ L e I
Stock-based compensation 944 - . ... 145 . -.: 1,454 . 567
Amortization 147 55 404 85
Future income tax (5,145) - . . (4953) ‘ -
Changes in non-cash worklng o v o
capltal e (1,508) - . . . 223 . Q, 482) ) 325
T T zen . - (2%,593) . . - (3.,) , (21:,4953 = (305)
Investin‘g activities * s ' T R
Property, plant and S L
equipment additions (39,086)° * 8927y 77 (401,888 7 " (32,152)
Proceeds from short-term oy : : : : :

G Sl bl . G000 e D

investments.- . ~ .- . .. 30,605 T Gl e Fee
Abandonmentdeposut R - AL R T R >
recovery. (contnbuttan) e nhomit ane s e e okl b
Changes in~n§ﬁ=cash«wﬁrkingfvll Seopaorlen et et g sl
capital _ (5,541) - 5,466 6,847 2,321

(158)

Tr—

Financing activities

Proceeds from the issuance B

of common shares (note 6) 19,501 151,104 58,319 167,751
Deferred charges i « ™ =7 30 (391) Ft ?“1(963) Lt H{T60) T (963)
Charigesin th cash workmg f SR GRS e

capital A o (208) 322 R 5.5 A 172

18902 150463 = _ 57,414 . 166,960

RO

Increase (decrease) in cash
and cash equivalents (16,713) (146,960) 4503 . 136666

Cash and cash equivalents,
beginning of perfod . - ¢ .0 106,683 - . 24,838~ .- 85437 .- .35132

—, = TR
CEIEAR S i R PR

Cash and cash equivalents, .7 . .77 ‘ \V : - o
end-of period+ .« . 7§ 89,940 . 0§ 171,798 - $ . 89,940.-$ 171,798

Cash and cash equivalents
is comprised of:

Deposits with banks $ - $ 120 $ - $ 120
Interest bearing instruments 89,840 171,678 89,940 171,678

$ 89,940 $ 171,798 $ 89,940 $ 171,798

Other Cash Flow Information
Large Corporations Tax paid $ 108 3 12 $ 532 $ 58

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements — September 30, 2005

(Unaudited)
{tabular amounts in thousands of dollars except per share amounts and otherwise noted)

1. Acqulsmon of Deer Creek Energy Limited "

On August 2, 2005, Deer Creek Energy Limited (“Deer Creek or “the Company”) enterec irto an
agreement pursuant to which Total E&P Canada Ltd. (“Total Canada”) offered to acquire, 100 percent
of the issued and outstanding common shares, on a fully diluted basis, for cash consideration of
$25.00 per common share. On September 2, 2005, Total Canada amended the terms of the
agreement by increasing the cash consideration under its offer to $31.00 per common shaie. On
September 13, 2005 otal Canada acqunred control of the Company. .

2. Summary of Sig'nifiéant Accounting Policies

The interim consohdated ﬁnancnal statements of Deer Creek-are prepared in accordance with
Canadian generally accepted accountlng principles. Management makes estimates and assumphons
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and ~
liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements, and revenue and expenses durmg the
reporting period. Actual resuits may dlffer from those estlmates , o
The accounting policies applied are consistent with those outlined in the Company’s annuai
consolidated financiai statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004. These coneo-cdated
financial statements for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 do not include zil disclosures
required in the annual"consolidated financial statements and should be read in ',oniunction‘Wiih.'th‘e i,
audited consolidated f nanmal statements mcluded in the Company s 2004 Arnual Regort.. -

Certam comparative’ ﬂgures nave been reclaSSIF edto con*nrn‘ ia current financiai siatement
presentation. - - - R e

Basis of Presentation ) L S B
The consolidated fi rarual statements mclude the accounis of the Company, its wholly-ﬁw..ed~ e
subsidiary, and its newly formed subsidiary, Deer Creek Pipelines Limited (: ‘DCELY), ;omtly owned b/
Deer Creek and Enerplus Resources Fund (“Enerplus”) through its wholly-owned subsidiary e
EnerMark Inc. The Company owns an 84 percent interest |n DCPL and these consolidated: financial

statements reflect oniy Déer Creek’s proportionate interest.”

PR

Share Appreciation Righis

LN
ot

The Company establistied’a Share Appreciation Rights Pian (the “SAR Plan”) on March 11, 2005 |
Under the SAR Pian émployees and providers of services to the Company ‘are entitied to cash ™~ ™~
payments equal to the excess of the market price of the common shares cover.the-axercise price ofz«
the share appreciation right. The obhgatxons are accrued ard recorded as compensatlon exrense e
over the graded vesting period. ‘ AR

Y

N ‘:Z\..". h
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3. Deferred Charges

- Amount
Balance, December 31, 2004 “$ 7 926
Deferred charges 760
Amortization (221)
Balance, September’ 30« 2005 $ 1,465

Deferred charges include debt financing costs that have been incurred in establishing the Company’s
credit facilities and long-term insurance costs. These amounts are being amortized over the term of

the related credit facility or policy and are included in amortization expense (see Note 7).

Ca

4. Future Income Tax Liability

The following summarizes the temporary differerices that give risé to'thesiuture income tax liability:

B

et e &»p{w»

sl Bee3czmber 31

: . S R AT TON ~ a2y mrn 2004
Future income tax liabilities gE L T

Property, plant and equipment .3 536 ., $ 9,909
Future income tax assets . A :

Share issue costs (3 386) (3,420)

Non-capital losses (8,039) (2,014)

Capitallosses: . . . .- o o~ ek W s oo oo{189) .- £189)
Future income tax Ilablhty sl e envnanrel £ (T78) 4,286
Valuation allowance 189 189
Future: income tax liability $ 111 $ 4,475
5. Asset Refirement Obligations -

o Amount
Balance, December: 31, 2004 $ 860
Liabilities incurred’ WP gty 134
Actretion T T T T - & 45

e 1039

paiarice, Séptefnber 30, 2005~ =

The estimated undiscounted amount of cash flows required to settle the -agsef retirement:obligations
is $2.4 million and have been discounted at rates between 5.9 percent and 7. 3 percent The costs

are expec.2d to be incurred betweean 2008 and 2040 SR IR e RS
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6. Share Capital

Authorized
Unlimited number of common shares without par value
Unlimited number of first preferred shares without par value, issuabie in series.

Issued
Number of
‘Shaies . S
o i e (tnousands) ‘ Amount
Common Shares = - IR o ) N o -
Balance, December 31, 2004 e . 47898 S 222,446
Issued for cash ' 3,000 40,800
Issue costs, net of tax benefits of $770 _ T e (1,520)
Exercise of performance shara.units and stock opti\ons o 2,958 26,760
Balance, September an "005 53,856 $ 288,486

On June 30, 2005, tne wumpany closed a public offering of 3,000,000 common shares at $13 60 per
common share for total gross proceeds of $40.8 million. . T Sk

On September i3, 2005 upon change of control of the Company, ail outstandrng performance share 3
units and stock optuons vested and were immediately exercised. - -

Performance Share Un/*s e e

The Company has & "&q rormance Share Unit Plan under which directors, offlcers empIOyees anc
providers of services to:the Company are eligible to receive grants. SRR

N S - - Exervise .
“Number’ 7 Price

(thousands) ($/unit)
Outstanding, December 31, 2004 ;oL A7TT %, 005
Granted 73 0.01
Cancelled ) (3 . . (oo
Exercised U241y e (0.04Y
Outstandi'ng, September 30, 2005 R
Exercisable, September 30, 2095 o - . s 7

On September 13 2005, upon change of control of the Company, all outstanding performance share
units vested an vIers Jb tuentlw ﬂxermsed and acqur ed by Total Cc nada. . NI : .

For the nine months ended September 30 2005 comnensat.on coe‘ of $1. 3 mi 'I|onf P per‘t marce .
share units granted has been credited to contributed surplus.
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6. Share Capital (continued)
Stock Options

The Company has a Stock Option Plan under wh'ch dlrectors oﬁ" icers, empioyee,s and provnders of
services to the Company are eligible'to receive grants

Weighted

Average

o o . . Exercise

;- Number , Price

L (thousands) ($/option)
Outstanding, December 31, 2004 L. 2,33 ‘ $ 5.80
Granted | oL 481 L. 1524
Exercised S enn (7.28)
Caiicelied - e e 488 (9.59)
Outstanding, September 30, 2005 .. — T -
Exercisable, Septembe@' 406, 2005 T R -

- e — - L

z

On September 13, 2005, upon change of contro! of the Company, all outstandmg stock optlons
vested and were subsequently exercised and acquired by Total Canada.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2005, compensation cost of $3 S mllllon has been
recoqnlzed for stock optlons granted aﬁer January 1, 2005 L o

No compens’atlon Cost ias bean racorded for stock options grari{éd"inféoué. :Thfeifdj‘l"_owi'ng shows pro
forma net loss and loss per common share had the fair value method of accounting been applied for
stock options granted during 2002:

Three months ended Nigr"iie‘"month‘s' ended
AR R ap,,ember30 - S Sep'tember30 .
e T e zoo» 12004 - 2005 2004
Net i mcome (Ioss) T T CoL e A _
As reported U T e03m 5 (458 $!;,;(;.1§6,'9'19’)' L% (1,282)
Less fair value of stock options | 61 ( 19 122 56
Pro forma o $ (16,095) ~ $ ~ (a77)  $ (17.041) S _ (1,338)

Basic and-dituted ne’income (loss) per share e SR TR N
As reported $ (031) $ (001 $ (034 S (0.04)
Pro forma $ (0.31) $ (0.01) $ {0.35) $ (0.04)

The estimated fair value of stock options was calculated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes
model and the following assumptions:

September 30

2005

Weighted average fair value ($/option) $ 5.19
Expected volatility (percent) 30.0
Risk free interest rate, average for the period (pzrcent) 3.8
Expectied life (years) 5
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Share Appreciation Rights

On March 11, 2005, the Company established a Share Appreciation Rights Plan. Under this plan,
employees and providers of services to the Company. are eligible to receive cash payments equal to
the excess of the market price of the common shares cver the exercice pric? of the right. The vesting
period of the share appreciation rights is two years.

September 30
2035
Share appreciation rights granted 47,059
Share appreciation rights.exercised , (47,059)..
Share appreciation rights outstanding v ' o -
Weighted average exereis_e price ($/right) $ S
Market value ($/right) . $ .

All share apprecnatlon nqhts granted were granted to employees direcily u.volved in pre- commercul ’
development ectivities. On September 13, 2005, upon change of control cf th» Comn2ny, all :
outstanding siiare appreciation Tights vedtad and weis subseguently exercised. Cempensation cost -
of $0.9 million related to the qhare appre0|at|on rights has been capltahzed

Earnings per share : “!

Basic and diluted niet incdme (Ioss) per sna‘f’c—}m -
number of common shares outstanding during the e
49,153,500 (33,509,300 in 2004) and the three month per.\ .
51,527,600 (41, be OUO in 4u04) o

: uatp“”“usmg the welght daverage o

7. Credit Facilities

On May 26, 2035, the Company entered intc a cicai. agreement wunfThe Alberta Treasury Branches
to provide a non-recourse pipeline credit facility of $30.0 miilion. The Joslyn Sales Lines, which

consists of two pipelines to'be constructed, owned and operated under DCPL have been vledged as
security. Fees incurred in relation to the credit faC|I|ty are included in deferred charges and WI|| be -
amortized over the ter‘m of the agreement which expires Cecémber 31, 2010. 4

As___at September 30, .;0.05, no amountshegj been advanced-under either the $30.0 rﬁillioh-or $650 -
million credit farilitv_ | o o ‘

Standby fees of $0.7 million in relation to the credit facilitizs have been cabitalized durirgih2 nive - ..
month period ended Seotember 30, 2005. .

BEST AVAILABLE COPY

. I LT atE -
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8. Contingencies and Commitmenis el T

Joslyn Project Development

el i
The Company has agreements with Talisman Energy Inc. {the “Talisman Agreement”) and Enerplus
related to the development of the-Josiyn Praiect.«Detaiis of these agreements are proyided‘in Note 8
to the annual consolidated financial statements forthe fiscal year ended December 31,-2004...

aeinuhoy T nea ey Ty boinT

Contingent amounts payable to Talasman Energy Inc. by both the Company and Enerplus under the
terms of the debenture granted pursuaef to thie, Talisman Agreement are as follows:

. . P F
Lt V0 ot ,'v it -.’I T8 20T

- Ty & 4

it Jr' YT September 30 December 31
2005 7 y 2004

Y.
e

Contingent preduction payment: . T

ChA NS THRE

Deer Creek nor®acievil 64 o § 17,640
Enerplus o lemay 3,360 3,360
T | $ 247 a$ 21,000
LR
~ Contingent rnteresrpa}f/rl‘l:gr\lt\lq“’;":l “, L.
T $ 5,657

Deer Creek ' , $ €
Enerpius i - 1,137
S SIS 7,104

- ———— - . ™=

T

ééf')ﬁ"ith i

As at Septer” 30T dthod . advanced suﬁ‘iciently to
este! ea ishilows. Additional incestrent is
_ oro;ecl. o 1&,,2[ “of the pror.aity aid to pay cont:noent consideration
to Tailicriie.. . ciated croduciior levels 2ra reached.
Other Commitme. .,

. . .‘ / ’D (-s!» .“*"
The Cumpany has contracte . -
Saics Lines. As at Septemb

.45 tne Company had committed o pay $5.0 miltion to this party

regardless of whethar the Jos.) " 'as Lines are constructed by Deer Cree.i. As at September 30,
20905 the Corapeny fully intan_ . p—ogre"c wrth the project and, therefore, has not recorded these
costs. S e BT

sl S

(AES sEay - T A

T, CGenersl . 7. .miznistativo Criimn

Includad in general and administrative costs in the consolidated statements of income anda defici: icr
the three and 1iine menth periods ended September 30, 2005 is $20.5 million in costs associated with
Total Canada’s acquisition of 2 controlling interest in Deer Creek’s issued and outstanding common
shares (see Note 1). These costs inclu. 2 professional fees, and compensation costs related to
stock-based compensation and severance.

10. Reiated Party Transactions

Totai Carada and Deer Creek entered into a reciprocal services agreement on November 10, 2005,

gurs” . .hofTotal Canada and the Company will, subiect to av “ability, make servicas
avai o .er. Se. ines picvided are charged at predetarmin2d rates identified in the

e - _vision is mad~ for the maintenznce of confidentiality of information of each of Tatal
Czn . . ... 4.2 Company.

|. © peSTARLABECORY
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A ADITGY
For more information, please contact# ] THEIL JAT I H4?2

Deer Creek Energy Limited
2600, 205 — 5n Avenue SW
Calgary, Alberta T2P 2V7

R do a0,
Phone: 403-264-3777
Facsimile: 403-264-3700
Toll Free: 1-888-264-3777
E-Mail: deercrk@deercreekenergy.cain

Toronto Stock Exchange
Trading Symbol - DCE

Deer Creek’s annual report and other  + 1 ; ;

ZANDIVHFHLHCAN

dv A

documents are available online at PPVNA
www.deercreekenergy.com. B T

1IN
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File # 82-34856

This document is important and requires your immediate attention. If you are in doubt as to how to deal with it, you
shouid consult your investment dealer, cvoker, Gank manager, lawyer or other profésyonal advisor.
g 5
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Epergy Limited

NOTICE OF SPECIAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

NOTICE is hereby given that a Special Meetirig of the holders ("Shareholders") of the common shares ("Common
Shares") of Deer Creek Energy Limited (the "Corporation™) will be held at the Calgary Peiroleum Club, Viking Room,
319 — 5th Avenue S.W., Calgary, Alberta,\Canada,' on December’ 12, 2005 at 10:00 a.m:. for the following purposes:

L. to consider, and vote on a special resolution of the Shareholders (the "Amalgamation Eesolution") (the text of
which is set out in Appendix 1 to ihe accompanying management iriformatiom circuiar {the "Circular"))
authorizing and approving the amalgamation (the "Amalgamation") of the Corporation and 1202655 Alberta
Ltd. ("Newco"), a subsidiary of Total E&P Canada Ltd. ("Total Canada"), upon the terms and conditions set
forth in the amalgamation agreement entered into as of November 10, 2005 among the Corporation, Newco,
Total Canada and 1202614 Alberta Ltd., a copy of which is attached as Appendix 2 to the Circular; and -

2. to ‘transact stich other business as may properly be brought before the Meeting (zs defined in the attached

‘ ‘Circular). ' ‘ o T S ST

T . R . . Tt .
“DATED ai Calgary, Alberta on this 10th day of November, 2005,

 BY ORDER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

(signed) feéa_n;Lhé Guiziou
President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to section 191 of the Business Corporations Act (Alberta) (the "ABCA"), a registered holder of Common
Shares (as defined in the attached Circular) may dissent in respect of the Amalgamation Resolution. If the
Amalgamation is completed, dissenting Shareholders who have complied with the procedures set forth in the ABCA will
be entitled to be paid the fair value of their Common Shares. This right is summarized in Appendix 3 to the Circular and
the text of section 191 of the ABCA is set forth in Appendix 4 to the Circular. Failure to adhere strictly with the
requirements set forth in section 191 of the ABCA may result in the loss or unavailability of any right to dissent.

NOTE: Registered Shareholders who are unable to attend the Meeting in person are entitled to be represented by proxy
and are requested to complete, sign, date and return the enclosed form of proxy in the envelope provided for that

purpose.

To be valid, a proxy must be dated and signed by the Shareholder or the Shareholder's attorney authorized in writing.
The proxy, to be acted upon, must be deposited with the Corporation's Registrar and Transfer Agent, Valiant
Trust Cempany, at the following address: 310, 606 — 4th Street S.W., Calgary, Alberta, T2P 1T1, no later than
4:45 p.m. (Calgary time) on December 8, 2005.
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NOTICE 7O NON-CANADIAN RESIDENTS

Pursuant to the Amalgamation Agréement, the Corpsratien, which is a Canadian issuer, and Newco,
which is also a Canadian issuer, will amalgamate to form Amalco, which will also be a Canadian issuer,
and while this Circular'is subject to the disclosure requiremnents of Canada, Shareholders should be
aware that these requirements are different from these of the United States and other non-Canadian
jurisdictions.

Shareholders should be aware that the Amalgamation and subsequent redemption of the Amalco
Redeemable Preferred Shares by Amalco or purchase of the Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares by
Putco, as the case may be, may have tax consequences both in their country of residence (for example,
the United States) and in Canada. United States income tax conseqguences for Shareholders who are
resident in, or citizens of, the United States (or for that matter, the income tax consequences of any
other non-Cznadian jurisdiction) are not described herein and such residanis or citizens are urged to
consult their tax advisors as to the apglication of U.S. federal income tax law (or other non-Canadian
income tax laws) to their particular circumstances, as well as to any state or local income or other tax
consequences of the redempiion of the Amaico Redeemable Preferred Shares by Ansaico or purchase of
the Amaico Redeemable Preferred Shares by Putco, as the case ieay be. See also “The ‘Amalgamation —
Canadian Federal Income Tax Considerations — Non-Residents ¢f Canada",

The enforcement by Shareholders of civil liabilities under the United States federal securities laws or
. under other non-Canadian laws may be affected adversely by the fact that the Corporation, Newco,
Amalco and Putco are geverned by th2 laws of the Province of A,‘lvbergta, that their directors and officers
are residents of Canada and France, that certain of the experts nazsed in this Circular are residents of
Canadz cnd that all- or a.substantiz! portion of the assets of the. Corporation, Neweo, Amalca, Putco
and of said persons may be lecated in Canada. - Prospectivé investors inay not be able to sue the
Corporation, Newco, Amalco and Putco, each a Canadian issuer, or their sfficers or directors in a
Canadian or other non-U.S. court for violations of United States feceral sccuriiies iaws or under other
non-Canadian laws and may find it difficult to compel the Corporation, Newco, Amalco and Putco or
such other persons to subject themseives o 1 United States or other foreign court’s judgment.

No broker, dealer, salesperson or other person has been authorized 10 give any informaiion or make any
.. representation. other than those contained in this document and, if given or made, such information or
representation. must:not be relied upon as having been authorized by the Corporation, Newco, Amalco, Putco
or the Depositary. - ; o ‘
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS
The fo]lowmg isa glossary of terms used frequently throughout this Circular.

"ABCA" means the Buszness Corporatzons Act (Alberta) R S, A 2000, ¢. B-9, as amended mc]udmg the regulauons
promulgated thereunder. e e Foe g
"Acquisition Agreement" means the acquisition agreement entered into between Total Canada and the Corporation
dated August 2, 2005, as amended September 2, 2'00”5.,

TR N . R

"affiliate” is a person descrlbed i sectlon 2 of the ASAY
: ER Patane,

g

"Amalco" means the corporanon con-tmumg asaresult of the Amalgan‘*atlon : o APt S TSSOV SRS

isaey
2 134 e

"Amalco Common Shares'“means commoit shares in the share cap1tal of Amalro the rlghts pr1v1leges restrrctlons and
conditions of Wthh are $et out in Schedule A to the Amalgamation.Agreement. »

Soaias T ek s .
Do . TR s

"Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares means class A redeemable preferred shares i the share caprtal of Amalco
the rights, privileges; resfrictions and condmons of Wthh arg set.out in Schedule A to the Amalgamatlon Agreement
"Amalgamation" means the am:ilgamétion of th‘é'Corpo’r“ation and Newto pursuarit to the térms of the Amalgamation

Agreement Bd wrs. o . L ‘ .
R L e TV L R S Lo -~-l,-"-..;?r' NI el Y

"Amalgamatlon Agreement “mbafté te amalgafnatlon agreement efitered ‘into as 6 Novermber 10, 2’005‘ ameng ‘the
Corporatlon Newcd; Total Chntidaahd Putco, a eopy of whrc‘l 1s attached as Apptndix 2‘ to thrs Ciscalars

sty FERRFISEEL LM AR LIPS ¢ ! I R Nt a':n 'ff'“;"‘-'.'jl’d'
"Amalgamation Resclutien’ m¥ans the $pecial - resdlutrm of fhefSharehdders ‘concerning the. Amalgamation -to- be
con51dered at the Meetlhg, substantially in the form setfforth in A-ppendlx l 1o thrs Circular, ; viosviry tpetie o 3o

2uilte Yool o PG e

"AMF" means the.Autontedes,marolres ﬁnanc:ers LA E G mrelte g

vvvvvv 2 Ve U R ot ‘ S ;
i : NI iy - Vool .- : Lt R R LS T

"ASA" means the Seeyrltze,s :4;: (Alberta) R. S A 2000 c. S 4 as amended
"associate" has the meaning given, to that _term,in the ASA.-

"Board of Dlrectors or "Board" means thé board of dlrectors of the' Corporatlon comprlsed up 6 dfid inéluding
September 13, 2005, of John G. Clarkson; Jonathah C. Farber:Rondld J. Hieber, S. Barry Jackson; Gordon I. Kerr,
Brian K. Lemke and Glen C. Schmidt; comprised, from and including September 13, 2005 to October 31,2003, of Jean-
Luc Guiziou, Humbert de Wendel and Anita O'Brien; and comprised, from and including October 31, 2005, of Jean-Luc
Guiziou, Humbert de Wendel, Anita O'Brien, Verne Johnson, Bruce Libin, Michael Hibberd, Philippe Armand and
Patrick Pouyanne.

"Business Day" means any day, other than a Saturday, a Sunday or a statutory holiday in the Province of Alberta, on
which banks are open for business in Calgary.

"CBCA" means the Canada Business Corporations Act, R.S.C. 1985, c¢. C-44, as amended.
"Circular” means this Management Information Circular.

"Commeon Shares" means the common shares in the share capital of the Corporation.
"Corporation" means Deer Creek Energy Limited, a corporation governed by the ABCA.

"Depositary" means Valiant Trust Company.



"Directors' Circulars" means, collectively, the Original. Directors' Circular and the Nctice of Change to Directors'
Circular.

"Dissenting Shareholder" means a registered Shareholder who, in connection with the Meeting of the Shareholders to
approve the Amalgamation Agreement and the Amalgamation, has exercised the right to dissent pursuant to section 191
of the ABCA in compliance with the provisions thereof and who has not withdrawn the notice of the exercise of such
rights and in respect of which the Corporation has not rescinded the Amalgamation Resclution to approve the
Amalgamation Agreement and the Amalgamation.

"Dollars” or "$" means the lawful currency of Canada.

"Effective Date" means the date shown on the certificate of amalgamation to be issued in respect of the Amalgamation,
which date is antlcrpated to be December 12, 2005

"fair value", where used in relanon to a Common Share held by a Dissenting Shareholder means fair value as
determined by a court under section 191 of the ABCA or as agreed between Amalco and the stsentmg Shareholder.

"Joslyn Project” is a multi-phased oil sands development project, as contemplated and descrw\,d in the -public disclosure
record of the Corporation, to recover bitumen through SAGD and mining operations from lands in the regional district of
Wood Buffalo, Alberta in which the Corporation is the lessor under Alberta Crown Oil Sands Lesze No. 7280060T24,
Alberta Crown Oil Sands Lease No. 7404110452 and Alberta Crown Qil Sands Lease No. 7405070799 and includes any
phase or portion of such deveiopment project. -

"Letter of Transmittal” means the letter of transmittal (in the form printed on blue paper) accompanymg this Circular,
'to be' completed by registered holders of Comtacn Shares. S

"Management" means the management of the Corporatron

“Meeting" means the ipecial meeting of Sha r-holders 0 be Laldon be\.&mbe' 12, 2’)0‘ or 5ich later date as may be
determined by the Board of Directors, and any adjournments thereof. 7

"RAE 52- G mca‘rs Multrlat"rar insttument 52-1 10 - Au it Conunitices.

"Minority Shareholdeis" mieans the Sharehclcers, Gther thai. Total ‘Canada and MNewco (in beil cases other than in
respect of the Common Shares acquired pursuant to the Offer), the whole within the meaning of and as to be determined
pursuant to Rule 61-501 and Regulation Q-27, and subject to the excepticrs set out thereir.

"Newco" means 1202655 Alberta Ltd., a corporaiion governed oy the ABCA and a wholly-ewned subsidiary of Total
Canada.

"Newco Cemmon Shares” means common shares in the share capital of Newco.
"Netice" means the notice of the Meeting accompanying this Circular.

"Notice of Change to Directors' Circular" means the notice of change to directors’ circular dated September 6, 2005
relating to the Varied Offer.

"Offer" means the Original Offer as varied and extended by the Varled Offer as further extended on September 13,
2005 and September 27, 2005 ‘ . . :

"Offer Clrcular"“means colleetively, the orfer and circular cf Total Carada dated August 5, 2435, the notice of
variation and extension dated September 2, 2005, and the notices of extension dated September 13, 2005 and
September 27, 2005, in respect of the Offer.




"Original Directors' Circular" means the circular of the Board of Directors dated August 5, 2005 relating to the
Original Offer.

"Original Offer" means the offer by Total Canada dated August 5 2005 to acquire all of the issued.and outstanding
Common Shares. : ,

"OSC" means the Ontario Securities Commission.
"Proposed Transaction" means the proposed Amalgamation and related transactions.

"Putco" means 1202614 Alberta Ltd a corporat1on govemed by the ABCA and a wholly- owned subsidiary of Total
Canada. ‘ : ; o . . . v erean

"Record Date" means November 10, 20035, the record date for determmmg Shareholders entltled o receive notlce of and
vote at the Meetlng : : :

"Redemption Date" means the ﬁrst Busmess Day followmg the Effectwe Date, which Redemption Date is antrcrpated
" fo be December 13,'_005 ‘

"Redemption Tlme meﬂns 3: OO p.m. (Calgary t1me) on the Redemptlon Date
"Regulation Q 27" means Regulatxon Q 27 - Protectlon of Mrnorlty Securrtyholders n the Course of . Certaln
Transactions of the AMF as amended.

pler : ¢ ; A

Ci,

"Rule 61-501" means OSC Rule 61 501 - Insrder BldS Issuer Brds Busmess Combmatrons and Related Party
Transactions, as amended.

"SAGD" is an acronym for "steam assisted gravity dramage and refers to an in situ recovery technrque for e;(tractlon of
heavy oil or bitumen from oil sands that involves dritlizg a pair of horizontzl wells one ahove the.other; one well is used
for steam injection and the other for production. , « . - :

"Share Certificates” means certificates representing Cocamon Shares and, following the Amalgamatjon;:Amalco
Redeemable Preferred Shares (other than certificates held by Dissenting Shareholders which, followmg the
: Amalgamation, represent the. rlght to receive payment n accordance with section 191 of the ABCA)., T

o

”Shareholders means the holders ofCommon Shares o
"subsidiary” has the:meaning ascribed thereto in section 4-of the ASA,

"Tax Act" means the Jncome Tax Act (Canada) R.S.C. 1985, ¢. 1, (5th Suppl ) as amended.

BTSN I P

"Total" means Total S.A., a corporation govemed under the laws of France

"Total Canada" means Total E&P Canada Ltd a corporatlon mcorporated under the CBCA and a wholly owned
subsidiary of Total. . . : TR . o -

"TSX" means the Toronto Stock Exchange ‘

i _41 [ 38]
"Varied Offer” means the Orlgmal Offer as vaned and extended by Total Canada's vaned offer dated September 2,
2005, pursuant to which the consideration offered by Total Canada was increased from $25.00 per Common Share to
$31.00 per Common Share and the.expiry. date of the varied offer was extended to September 13, 2005. .

N e
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SUMMARY

The following is a summary only and is qualified in its entirety by the detailed provisions contained elsewhere in the
Notice and this Circular. Shareholders are encouraged to read the Notice and this Circular in their entirety.

Date, Time and Place of ‘Vlee‘tmg

The Meeting will be held on December 12, 2005 at 10:00 a.m. (Calgary timé) at the Caigary Peiroleum Club, Viking
Room, 319 — 5th Avenue S.W., Calgary, Alberta, Canada.

Record Date

'The Record Date for the determmatlon of Sharehordera enut.\,d to notice of and to VOtL at the Meeting is November 10,

Special Business B 3 R

At the Meeting, Shareholders will bé asked to consider and to vote on the Amalgarnation Resglution, being a special
resolution of the holders of Comrion' Shares approving the Amalgamation substantially on the terms set out in the
Amalgamation Agreement. The full text of the Amalgamation Resolutiou is attached to this Circular as Appendix 1.

Amalgam’aiioh'Resoiution
Terms of che Amalgamation

If the Amalgamation Resolution is approved and the conditions set out in the Amalgamation Agreement are satisfied, on
the Effective Date, the Corporation and Newco will amalgamate and continue as one corporation. As a result of the
Amalgamation, the property of both the Corporation and Newco will become the property of Amalco and Amalco will
continue to be liable' for the. oblrgations of both the Corporation and’ Newco: Immemate;y after the Amalgamation,
Amalco will continue to carry on the operatlons of the Cotporation and-wiil have the same assets and liabilities. Total
Canada w1ll be the only holder of Amalco Lommon Shares rollowmg the’ Amalgamatlon

Upon the completion of the Amalgamation'on the Effecuve Date, Sharenoiders {other than Dissenting Shareholders and
Newco) will receive one Amalco Redeemable Preferred Share for each Common Share held: In addition, each Common
Share heid by Newco will be cancelled without any repayment of capital in respect thereof. Amalco will redeem any and
all such Amalco Kedeemable Preferred Shaves for 331.00 in cash per share ai the Redemption Time. Holders of Amalco
Redeemable PreIerreﬂ Shares can elect, prior 1o the Redemption Time, to have Putco purchase any and all such Amalco
Redeemable Preferred Shares ata purchase price of $31.00 in cash per share prior io smh reden.pnon

The consxderanon pald by Amalco on redemption of Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares and ihe purchase price paid
by Putco for the purchdse of Amalco Redeemabie Preferred Shares will be funded directly or indirectly by Total Canada.
In accordance with the terms of the Amalgamation Agreement, it is a condition to the completion of the Amalgamation
that 1rnmedxately available funds required for the redemption of the Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares and the
purchase of any Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares shail have been pmvrded w0 rhe Deposdary on or before the
‘ Eftectrve Date

Certam Canadian federal income tax 1mphcatlons of the Amalgamatron and the redemption or purchase of the Amalco
Redeemable Preférred Shares are discussed in greater detail i in thls Circular under the headmg "The Amalgamation —
‘ Canadlan F ederal Income Tax Con51deratrons

"Drsqentrng Shareholders who have comphed with the provmons of sectron 191 of the ABCA wiil be entitled to be paid
the fair value of their Common Shares in accordance with the ABCA "See " F he Amalgamatlon R]ght to Dissent"

.. See "The Amelgamation — Terms of the Amalgamation" and .,‘j’he./é{rpalgam‘arion ~ The Amalgamation Agreement”.




Background and Reasons for the Amalgamation

On August 5, 2005, Total Canada made the Original Offer and on September 2,-2005 it made the Varied Offer. On
September 13, 2003, and again on September 27, 2005, Total Canada extended the Varied Offer, which ultimately
expired on October 11, 2005. On September 13, 2005, Total Canada took up and paid for 42,036,043 Common Shares
deposited pursuant to the Offer. On September 26, 2005, Total Canada further took up. and paid for 2,338,906 additional
Common Shares deposited pursuant to the Offer. On October 11, 2005, Total Canada further took up and paid for
24,653 additional Common Shares deposited pursuant to the Offer. As a result, Total Canada acquired 44,399,602
Common Shares pursuant to the Offer, representing approximately 82.4% of the outstanding Common Shares. All of the
Common Shares acquired by Total Canada pursuant to the Offer were subsequently transferred to Newco on
November 10, 2005.

In the Offer Circular, Total Canada disclosed. its intention, if the Offer was successful, to acquire all of the Common
Shares not deposited under the Offer by means of a subsequent acquisition transaction. Because a statutory right of
compulsory acquisition under the ABCA is not available, Total Canada is proceeding with the Proposed Transaction.
The Corporation and Total Canada agreed in the Acquisition Agreement that if Total Canada took up and paid for, or
otherwise acquired, directly or indirectly, at least 66%% of the outstanding Common Shares (calculated on a diluted
basis) pursuant to the Offer, Total Canada would use all commercially reasonable efforts to acquire, and the Corporation
would use all commercrally reasonable efforts to assist Total Canada in acquiring, the balance of the Common Shares as
the consideration per Common Share is not less than §31 00 per Common Share. The Proposed Transactron constitutes a
"going private transaction” or "business combination” within the meaning of certain applicable .securities legisigtion,
including Rule 61-501 and Regulation Q-27. T e e

See "The Amalgamation — Background to the Proposed Transaction".

B L S T E

BoardApnprova.lw SR , R IR

On August 5, 2005, after carefull Y consrdermg the terms of the Acqursitmn Agreement the terms of the Or1gmal Offer,
the fairness opinion of. Goldman Sachs & Co. dated August 2, 12005, the falmess opmron of Peters & Co. Limited dated
August 2, 2005, the advice of its financial and legal adv1sors and, varlous additional matters, the Board of. Dlrectors
determined unanimously that the Original Offer was fair to the Sharéholders and was in the best iniérests of the
Corporation and the Shareholders and unanimously recommended that holders of Commgn Shares accept the Orlgrnal
Offer and tender, thetr Common Shares to the Original Offer. '

On September 2 2005 after careful]y consrdermg the terms of the Acqutsmon Agreement mcludmg the amendments
thereto, the terms, of the Varled Offer, the fairness, opinjion of Goldman, Sachs & Co. dated August2 2005 and the
faimess opinion of Peters & Co. lelted dated August 2, 2005, each as updated verbally in relatron to the Var1ed Offer,
the advice of its financial and legal advisors and various additional matters, the Board of Directors "determined
unanimously that the Varied Offer was fair to the Shareholders and was in the best interests of the Corporation and the
Shareholders and unammously recommended that Shareholders accept the Vaned Offer and tender their Common Shares
to the Varied Offer See "The Amalgamatron Falmess Opinions". .
On September 13 2005 Glen C Schmldt S Barry Jackson John G. Clarkson Jonathan C. Farber, Ronald J. Hlebert

Gordon J. Kerr and Brian K. Lemke resigned as directors of the Corporation. Jean-Luc Guiziou, Humbert de’ Wendel
and Anita O'Brien were appointed as directors of the Corporation on September 13, 2005 to fill certain of the vacancies
created by such resignations. On October 31, 2005, Verne Johnson, Bruce Libin, Michael Hibberd and Philippe Armand
were appointed dlrectors of the Corporatron to fill the remaining vacancies created by the aforementioned re51gnat10ns

The Board also appomted Patrick Pouyanne as an additional member of the Board on October 31, 2005 On the same
date, the Board appointed Jean-Luc Guiziou as the Chairman of the Board and appointed Verne Johnson as the Lead
Director of the Board. In addition, the Board appomted Bruce Libin (Chair), Verne Johnson and Michael Hibberd to the
Audit Commrttee of the Board, all of whom are rndependent” directors as defined in MI 52- 110 and are mdependent of
Total and its affiliated entities. See "The Amalgamatton - Mermbers 'of Board 6f Directors™.

Bétwééﬁ“ (:)‘cto'he:rE 3 li,' '200.5: ‘and‘Nove‘mher‘ 1 0",:2005, inclusive, the three indépéhdent’ merbers of thé Board rh;e’t:formally
and informally with Management and with representatives of Burnet, Duckworth & Palmer LLP, special counsel to the




Corporation, on a number of occasions, and also met with represeniatives of Goldman, Sachs & Co. and Peters & Co.
Limited, financial advisors to the Board.

On November 10, 2005, the Board met to consider the Amalgamation. Prior to considering the Amalgamation or any
matters relating thereto, each of the non-independent members of the Board (being Jean-Luc Guiziou, Humbert de
- Wendel, Anita O'Brien, Philippe Armand and Patrick Pouyarine) requested to have 2ntered in the minutes of the meeting
of the Board the nature and extent of their interest in the Amalgamation zund the Amalgamation Agreement. The
independent members of the Board {being Vems Johrson, Bruce Libin and Michael Hibberd), after considering various
matters, unanimously resolved to approve the Amalgamation Agreement and the Circular and related meeting materials,
as well as the mailing of the Circular to the Shareholders. The non- mdeper*dent members of the Board abstained from
voting on the resolutions approving the foregoing miatters.

See "The Amalgamation — Board Approval”.
Shareholder Approval

The Amalgamation raust be approved by the Shaieholders in accordance with applicable law.. Pursuant to the ABCA,
the Amalgamation Resolution must be passed Ey at lcast 66%% of the. votes cast by holders of. thz Common Shares
" present or represcnted by proxy at the'Meeiing and entitled to'vote on the Amalgamation Resolution. In addition, Rule
61-501 and Regulation Q-27 requise that, in-addition to any other required Shareholder apptowval, in order to complete a
"business combination” or "going private transaction" (as such terms are defined in Rule 61-501 and Regulation Q-27,
respeciively), the approval of a simple majority of the votes attached to the Common Shares held by "minority" holders
of the affected securities muist also-be obtained:: Newco-is: permitted o vote the. Cc-mmon Shares held by it for the
pu”pobes ot the approv al of the Pro })Ooﬁd Transaction by Mmorlty Shauaholderc T

Newco, which holds approxunately 82.4% of the Common Shares (bemo the. Commou Shares acquired by Total Canada
pursuant to the Offer, which were subsequently transfeired by Total Canada to Newco), has advised the Corporation that
it intends to vote all Common Shares owued by it, direCdy or ndirecily, tn favour of the Amalgamation Resolution.

See "The Amalgamation — Shareholder Approval” and "The Amalgamation s liegal Aspects”.: «..

L-etter of Tr‘ansmittal ‘ : : G

P
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A-Letter of 1ra1lsn11tlal (prifited on blué paper) is cnclosed with this Clr"ular for usé by Shareho‘ders for the surrenider of
Share“Certificates. The-details for the surrender of Sharé Certificates to the Depositary and the address of the Depositary
are set out in the Letter of Transmittal, The Letter of Transmittal includes -a-box for Sharshclders to check if they desire
to elect to sell their Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares to Putco for $31.00 in cash per share prior to the redemption
‘of such shares” by Amaico. Uiiless a Shareholder has made 2 valid -election to-sell the Shareholder's Amalco
Redeemable Preferred Shares to Putco in accordance with the reqyiréments of the Letter of Transmittal and
delivers the Letter of Transmittal to the Depositary prior to the Redemption Time, together with such
Shareholder's Share Certificate(s) and any other required documentation, in accordance with the procedure
specified in the Letter of Transmittal, the Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares held by such Shareholder will be
rédeemed at the Redemptson Time. See "The Amalgamation — Letter of Transmittal", "The Amalgama ion - Surrender
of bhare Certmca{ s' and "The Amalgamdtlon ‘Paymeni and Delivery of the: Conclderdnon :

P

Surrender of Share Certtf cates

In order to receive the consideration payable to a Shareholder in connection “v:th'the Proposed Transaction, Shareholders
(other than Dissenting Shareholders and Newco) must duly complete, execute and deliver to the Depositary the Letter of
Transmittal-together with such Shareholder’s Shase Certificates and such. other additional documents as the Depositary
- ‘may reasonably require, if any. - ' : : : S




Procedure for Receipt of Consideration

As soon as practicable after the Redemption Time, if a holder's Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares are redeemed by
Amalco, or the Effective Date, if a holder of Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares: elects to have the holder's shares
purchased by Putco, assuming due delivery of the required documentation, Amalce or Putco, as the case may be, will
cause the Depositary to forward a cheque for the aggregate.consideration (without interest) to which'a holder of Amalco
Redeemable Preferred Shares is entitled, by first class mail to the address of such holder as shown on the register of
Shareholders maintained by the Depositary; unless such- holder indicates in the. Letter-of Transmittal that he wishes to
pick up the cheque representing the aggregate consideration, in which case the cheque will be available at the office of
the Depositary for pick-up by such holder. See-"The:Amalgamation — Consideration”, "The Amalgamation — Letter of
Transmittal”, "The Amalgamation - Surrender of Share Certificates”, "The Amalgamation — Delivery Requirements” and
"The Amalgamation - Payment and Delivery of the Consideration”. '

Fairness Opinions

In connection with the Original Offer, each of Goldman, Sachs & Co. and Peters & Co. Limited delivered a written
fairness opinion to the Board of Directors dated: August 2,: 2005, stating.that as of the date of its opinion and subject to
the assumptions and considerations set forth, therein, the consideration to be received by the holders of Common Shares
under the Original Offer awvas fair, from a financial point of view, to Shareholders. Copies of the fairness opinions dated
August 2, 2005 are attached to the Ongmal Directors' Clrcular dated Augnst 3,2005.

In connection w1th the Vaned Offer, on Septembcr 2, 2005 each of Goldman, Sachs & Co., and Peterq & Co lelted
verbally confirmed-to the-Board. of Directors its-opinion-that, subject:to the,assumptions and conmderatmns set_forth
therein, the consideration to be received. by.:the holders: of CGommeon :Shares. under.the; Varied Offer was fair, from a
financial point of view, to Shareholders. Each of Goldman, Sachs & Co. and Peters & Co. Limited have delivered a
written faimess oplmon dated September 2005 conﬁrmmg heir ve(bal opm1ons _ : ~

See "The Amalgamanon Fan'ness Oplmens and "")ocume ‘s. anorporated by Reference
Canadian Federal Income. Tax Considerations

In general, Shareholders who hold Common Shares as capital property will not realize a capital gain or loss on the
Amalgamation but will be subject to a taxable transaction on the subsequent redemption or disposition of Amalco
Redeemable Preferred Shares. . The tax consequences. of such transactions; will depend upen each Shareholder's
particular circumstances and Shareholders should consult with their own tax advnsors as to whether they should
exercise the optlon of sel}mg their Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares to Putco S

The foregomg is- *qua-laﬁed in- its entlrefy by the more detalled summary that appears under "The Amalgamat:on -
Canadian Federal Income Tax Cons.deratlons ' : gt : B
nght ofDlssent LR R B PO R LT B AT AR . »?- \ «‘ ‘ | » .
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Under the provisions of section. 191 of the ABCA, a registered Shareholder may dissent in respect-of the Amalgamation
Resolution. If the Amalgamation is completed, Dissenting Sharehoiders who comply with the procedures-set forth in the
ABCA will be entitled to be paid the fair value of the Common Shares in respect of which their right to dissent was
exercised. See "The Amalgamation — Right to Dissent".

Total, Total Canada, Newco and Putco
Total, a French société anonyme, was mcorporated in-1924 and, together w1th its subsidiaries and afﬁhates is the fourth
largest publicly-traded integrated oil and gas company in the world by market capitalization, with operations in more

than 130 countries.

Total Canada is a corporation governed by the federal laws of Canada, incorporated on January 1, 2001, and is a direct
wholly-owned subsidiary of Total.




Newco was incorporated under the ABCA on November 3, 2005 as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Total Canada. Newco
was incorporated for the sole purpose of participating in the Proposed Transaction and has not carried on any material
business or activity other than entering into the Amalgamation Agreererni and related matters.

Putco was incorporated under the ABCA on November 3, 2005 as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Total Canada. Putco
was incorporated for the sole purpose of participating in the Proposed Transaction and has not carried on any material
business or activity other than entering into the Amalgamation Agreement and related matters.

See "Information Concerning Total, Total Canada, New:zo-and Putco”.

Effect of the Amalgamation on Markeis and Listings

The Corporation intends to delist the Common Shares from the TSX and to cause the Corporation to cease to be a

reporting issuer under the securities laws of each province in which it is a reporting issuer on or shortly following the
Effective Date. See "Effect of the Amalgamation on Markets and Listings".




GENERAL INFORMATION -
SOLICITATION OF PROXIES

This Circular is furnished in connection with the solicitation by Management of the Corporation of proxies for use at the
Meeting to be held on December 12, 2005 at the-place ‘and time and for the purposes set forth i the Notice.

The cost of solicitation by Management will be borne by the Corporation. In addition to the solicitation of proxies by
mail, directors, officers and regular employees of the Corporation may, without additional compensatiorn, solicit such
proxies on behalf of Management personally, by telephone, email, Internet, facsimile, telegram or other means of
communication. Upon request, the Corporation will reimburse.investment dealers, banks, custodians, nominees and
other fiduciaries for their reasonable charges and expenses incurred in forwarding proxy material to beneficial owners of
the Common Shares. - R '

Registered Shareholders unable to attend the Meeting in person are urged to complete the enclosed form of proxy and to
forward it to Valiant Trust Company, 310, 606 — 4th Street S.W., Calgary, Alberta, T2P 1T1, no later than 4:45 p.m.
(Calgary time) on December 8, 2005. If the Shareholder is a corporation, an officer's signature on the said form of proxy
must be duly authorized in writing.

The information provided herein is given as of November 10, 2005 unless otherwise specified.
APPOINTMENT OF PROXY HOLDERS, VOTING OF PROXIES AND REVOCATION OF PROXIES
General

The persons named in the enclosed form of proxy are directors and/or officers of the Corporation. Hewever, each
Shareholder has the right to appeint a person (who need not be a Shaieholder), other than those named in the
enclosed form of proxy, to attend and act on behalf of the Shareholder at the Meeting. That right may be
exercised by striking out the names of the Management nomirees in the encliosed form of proxy and inserting the
name of such person in the blank space provided in the enclosed form of proxy or by completing arother proper
form of proxy.

Common Shares represented by proxies appointing Management nominees will be voted or withheld from voting in
accordance with the instructions of the Shareholder as specified in the form of proxy. In the absence of such
instructions, such Common Shares will be voted FOR the Amalgamation Resolution.

The accompanying form of proxy, when properly signed, confers discretionary authority upon the persons named therein
with respect to amendments or variations to matters identified in the Notice and with respect to any matter which may
properly come before the Meeting. Management presently knows of no such amendments, variations or other matters to
come before the Meeting other than those referred to in the Notice. If any such amendment, variation or other matter
properly comes before the Meeting, it is the intention of the persons named in the enclosed form of proxy to vote on such
amendment, variation or other matter in accordance with their judgment.

In addition to any other manner permitted by law, a registered Shareholder who has given a proxy may revoke it by
depositing an instrument in writing executed by the Shareholder or by the Shareholder's attorney authorized in writing at
the office of the Corporation, Deer Creek Energy Limited, Bow Valley Square 2, Suite 2600, 205 — 5th Avenue S.W.,
Calgary, Alberta, T2P 2V7, to the attention of the Chief Financial Officer at any time up to and including the last
Business Day preceding the day of the Meeting, or an adjournment thereof at which the proxy is to be used, or with the
Chairman of the Meeting on the day of the Meeting, or the day of an adjournment thereof. Each Common Share entitles
the registered holder thereof to one vote on each ballot taken at a meeting of Shareholders and such votes may be given
in person or by proxy. Common Shares may be voted for or against, or the Shareholder may abstain from voting.

The execution or exercise of a proxy does not constitute a written objection for the purposes of exercising dissent rights
under section 191 of the ABCA. For information on Dissenting Shareholder rights, see "The Amalgamation — Right to
Dissent".
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Advice to Beneficial Holders

The information set forth in this section is of sigrificant importance as most of the Shareholders do not hold their
Common Shares in their own name. Shareholders who do not hold their Common Shares in their own name
("Beneficial Shareholders") should note that only proxies-depoesited by Shareholders whose names appear on the
records of the Corporation as the registered holders of Common Shares can be recognized and acted upon at the Meeting.
If the Common Shares are listed in an account statement provided to a Shareholder by a broker, then in almost all cases
those shares will not be registered in the Sharzholder's own name on the records of the Corporation. Such Common
Shares will more likely be registered in the name of the Shareholder's broker or an agent of that broker. In Canada, the
vast majority of these shares are registered in the name of CDS & Co. {the regisiration name for The Canadian
Depositary for Securities, which acts as nominee for many Canadian brokerage firms). Common Shares held by brokers
or their agents or nominees can only . be voied {for or against.resclutions) upon the instructions of the Beneficial
Sharehoider. Without specific instruictions, brokers-and their agents and nominees are prohibited from voting Common
Shares for the broker's clients. Therefore; Beneficial Shareholders cannot be recognized at the Meeting for purposes of
voting their Common Shares in person or by way of proxXy anless their brokers or agents are given specific instructions.

If you are a4 Beneficial Shareholder and wish io vote in person at the Meeting, t please contact your broker or agent well in
advance of the Mesting to determine how jou can de so, ‘

Applicable regulatory policy requires brokers to seek voting instructions from Beneficial Shareholders in advance of
Sharehelders' meetings. Every broker ks its own mailing ‘procedures and prevides its cwn . return instructions to its
clients, whick sheuld be carefully followed by Beneficial Shareholders in order to ensure that their Common Shares are
veied ai the-Meeting. . In certain cases, the form of proxy supplied to a Rereficial Shareholder by its broker (or the agent
of the broker) is identical to the proxy provided to-registered Shareholders, howavar, its purpose is limited to instructing
the regisiered Shareholder (1.e., the broker or agent of the broker) how to:- vote on behalf of the Bensficial Shareholder.
The majority of Canadian brokers now delegete. respensibility for obfaining:instructions frem . clients to ADP Investor
Communications {"ADF"). - ADP typically pirepares a machine-readable voting instruction form, mails that form to the
Beneficial Shareholders and asks Beneficizl Sharcholders to. return the: iastruction forms to ADP.  Alternatively,
Beneficial Shareholders can either call their toll free telephone number to vote their.Common Shares or access ADP's
dedicated voting website at www.proxyvotecanada.com to deliver their voting instructions. ADP then tabulates the
results of all instructicns received and provides instructions raspecting the voting of Common Shares to be represented at
the Meeting. A Beneficial Shareholder receiving a voting instruction form from ADP cannct use that form to vote
Common Shares directly 2t the Meeting ~ voting instructions must be provided to ADP {inm accordance with the
nstructions ser’ t‘nrth on the ADP forin} well in advance of the Meeting ir order to have the Common Shares
vo[eﬂ Do T R . Lo R o Lo s
Although a'Bc'néﬁCI Shar holdez may not e rerogmzed directly at the Meeting for the purpmcw of voting Comunon
Shares registered in the name of the Beneficial Shareholder's broker (or agent of the breker), a Beneficial Shareholder
may attend at the Meeting as proxyholder for the registered Shareholder and vote the Common Shares in that capacity.
Beneficial Sharcheiders who wish to attend the Meeting and indirectly vote their Common Shares as proxyholder
for the registered Sharcholder shouid enter their own names in the blank space con the Proxy and return the
Proxy to their broker (or the broker's agent) in accordance with the instructions provided by such broker (or
agent) well in advance of the Meeting

VOTING “HA‘IES AND PRINFHPAL HOLDERS THEREOF

The Corporation has issued and ou&standmg 53,855,904 Common Shares A Re»o*d Date of Nnvumber 10, 2005 has
been set for determining the Shareliolders entitled to receive notice of, aud tc vote at, the Mesting. Only Shareholders of
record at the close of business on November 10, 2005 shal! be entitled to vote at the Meeting, except to the extent that:
{i) a regisiered Shareholdér has transferred the-ownership of any Common Shares, subsequent to November 10, 2005;
and (ii) the transfereé of those Coinmon Shares produces properly endorsed Share Certificates, or otherwise establishes
owrnership of the Common Shares and demands, not later than ten days before the Meeting, that the iransferee's name be
inciuded on the Sharehoider list for the Meeting in which case the (ransferee- cnail he entitled to vote such Common
Shares at the Meeting. The transfer books will not be closed. o

“To thé knowledge'of the directors and executive officers of 'theé Corporation, the only persos or companies, directly or
- indirectly, beuefigially owning or exercising control or direction: over Cormraon Shares carrying more than 10 percent of
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the voting rights attached to all Common Shares are: (i) Newco (which is directly controlled by Total Canada and
indirectly controlled by Total), which the Corporation understands, based on information provided by Newco, owns,
directly or indirectly, 44,399,602 Common. Shares, representing approximately 82.4% of the outstanding Common
Shares; and (ii) Paulson & Co. Inc., which the Corporation understands, based on documents publicly filed by Paulson &
Co. Inc., owns, directly or indirectly, 8,552,640 Common Shares, representing approximately 15,9% of the outstanding
Common Shares. - . L s v SR C .

THE AMALGAMATION

Background to the Proposed Transactlon S

On August 2, 2005, Total Canada and the Cotporatron entered into the Acquisition Agreement pursuant to which Total
Canada agreed to make the Original Offer to'purchase all of the issued and outstanding Common Shares. - The intention
of Total Canada to make the Original Offer was announced before the opening of markets on August 2,-2005. On
August 5, 2005, the Original Offer was made to purchase all of the issued and outstanding Common -Shares of the
Corporation for $25.00°in cash for. each- Common Share deposited under the Original Offer. Additional background
information in respect of the Original Offer is set forth in the Original Directors' Circular, which is incorporated by
reference herein.

On August 31, 2005, the Corporation received an-unsolicited takeover proposal from athird party to acquire all of the
Common Shares for-831.00 per Common:Share:: On September: 2, 2005, Total Canada notified the Board of Directors
that it was varying the terms of the Original Offer by increasing the consideration payable for each Common Share of the
Corporation from $25:00 cash per Common :Share to-$31.00 cash.per:Common Share-and extending, the.expiry. time to
September 13, 2005: On’September-2, 2005, Total'Canada and the Corporation-entered into an. amending agreement in
respect of the Acquisition :Agreement providing. for the increase. in consideration payable for each Commen. Share and
the extension of the expiry time:of. the Offer;: ‘On September 2, 2005, the Varied Offer was.made to Shareholders.
Additional background information i respect of the Varied: Offer 1s set forth in the Notice-of Change to Directors’
Circular, which is 1ncorp0rated by reference: herem . ,;'E';a‘.-,: I T : :
On September 13, 2005, Total Canada took up.. 4" 036 ,043 Common Shares, representmg approxtmatelv! 78 O% of the
outstanding Commosi*Shares ‘or a fully dilited -Hasis. - In:addition, :on September:13, 2005; Total Canada extended the
Offer until September 26, 2005 -In connection with: the. take-upsof the: aforementioned Common; Shares.and: in
accordance with the terms of the Acquisition-Agreément, Glen-Schmidt resigned as a-director and as President-and Chief
Executive Officer of the Corporation, S. Barry Jackson resigned as a director and the Chairman of the Board of the
Corporation, and Messrs. John Clarkson, Jonathan Farber, Ronald Hiebert, Gordon Kerr and Brian Lemke resigned as
directors of the Corporation: ‘Jean-Luc Guiziou, Humbert de Wendel and Anita O'Brien were each appointed dizectors of
the Corporatlon anct Mr GUIZlOU was appomted the Pres1dent and Chief Executive Officerof the Corporatuon

As of September f27 ”005 Total Canada had taken up_an aggregate of: 114,.;74 940 Common Shares represemmg
approximately 82:4% of the outstanding Common Shares on a fully diluted basis. - In add'tlon on September 27, 2005

Total Canada exténded the'Offer a second time until Gctober 11, 2005: g e : T

As of October 12, 2005, Total Canada had taken up an aggregate of 44,399,602 Common Shares under the Offer,
representing approximately- 82:4% of the Comimon Shiares outstanding. The Corporation also announced the expiration
of the Offer and that it had been informed by Total Canada that, as disclosed in the Offer, Total Canada anticipated
proposing to the Corporation a subsequent acquisition transaction with the objective to acquire the remaining Common
Shares not deposited under the Offer at the same price as the Offer price. The. Corporation and Total Canada agreed in
the Acquisition Agreement that if Total:Canada took up and paid for, or.otherwise acquired, directly or indirectly,.at least
66%% of the outstanding Common-Shares (calculated on.a diluted basis) pursuant to the Offer, Total Canada would, use
all commercially reasonable’ efforts to -acquire, and the Corporation would use all commercially reasonable. efforts to
assist Total Canada in acquiring, the balance of the Common Shares.as soon as practicable, and-in any. event by
March 13, 2006, pursuant to a subsequent acquisition fransaction, provtded that the consideration per Common Shate is
not less than $31.00 per Common Share. e KO AN T

On October 31;: 2005, - Verne Johnson,;‘Bruce Libin, Michael Hibberd.and Philippe Armand were appointed, directors of
the Corporation to fill the'remaining-vacancies created by the resignations described above. The Board.also .appeinted
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Patrick Pouyanne as an additional member of the Board on October 31, 2005. On the same date, the Board appointed
Jean-Luc Guiziou as the Chairman of the Board and appointed Verne Johnson as the Lead Director of the Board. In
addition, the Board appointed Bruce Libin (Chair), Verne Jochnson and Michael Hibberd to the Audit. Committee of the
Board, all of whom are "independent” directors as defined in MI 52-110 and are 1ndependeqt of Total and its affiliated
entities. See "The Amaigamation - Members of Eoaid of Directors".

From October 31, 2005 to November 10, 2005, the Corporation and Total Canada negotiated the form of Amalgamation
Agreement. On November 10, 2005, the board of directors of each of the Corporation, Newco, Total Canada and Putco
approved the Amalgamation Agreement and the Board approved ihe Circular.

On November 10, 2005, Total Canada transferred all of its Comimon Shares to Newce, with the result that Newco now
owns approximaiely §2.4% of the Common Shares outstanding.

On November 10, 2005, the parties signed the Amalgamation Agreement.

Total Canada and the Corporation entered into a reciprocal services agreernent daied efiective as of September 13, 2005
pursuant to which each of Total Canada and the Corporation will, subject to availability, make the services of members
of their siaft available to the other. Services previdzd are cherged at rates identified in the agreement for various
categories of staff and in the absence of identification at cost (including overhead) plus 5%. Provision is made for the
maintenance of confidentiality of information of each of Total Canada and the Corporation.

Ternis of the Amalgamaticn

If the Amalgamation Resolution is approved and the conditions set out in the Amalgamation Agreement are satisfied, on
the Effective Pate, the Corpoiation und Newceo will amalgar.aie and coniinue &s ¢nie corporation. As a result of the
Amalgarnation, the property of both the Corporation and Newe2 will become the property of Ainaico and Amalco will
continue to be liable for the obligations of both the Corporation and Newco. Immedizicly 2fter the Amalgamation,
Amalco will continue to carry on the operations of the Corporation and will have the same assets and liabilities. Total
Canada will be the only holder of Amalco Common Shares follewing the Awalgaraciion.

Jpon the cu*npletmn of the Amalgamatior. on the Effetive Date, Sharekolders {other then Disserting Shareholders and

- Newcoj will receive onie Amalco Redeemabie Prefe. ved Share for cach Commen Shize held. In addition, each Common
Share held by Newco will be cancelled without any repayment of capital in respect tieraof Amalco will redeem any and
all such Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares for $31.00 in cash per share at the Redemption Time. Holders of Amalco
Redeemable Prefetred Shares car eleet, grior o the R Fudemptlon Time, ¢ bave Putco purchase ary and all such Amalco
Redeemable Preferred Shares at a purchase price of $31.00 in cash per share prior t¢ such redemption. Holders who
intend to have their Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares redeemed or sold as described herein must complete and
return the enclosed Leiter of Transmittal 2na any other iequired documentation in accordance with the procedure
specified in the Letter of Transmittal. See "The Amalgamation - Letter of Transmittal".

The consideration paid by Amalco on redemyption of Amalco Redeemable Preferted Shares and the purchase price paid
by Putco for the purchase of Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares will be funded directly or indirectly by Total Canada.
‘In accordance with the terms of the Amalgamaticn Agreement, it is a condition to the completicn of the Amalgamation
that immediately avaiiable funds required for the redemption of the Amalco Redsemable Preferred Shares and the
purchase of any Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares shall have been provided to the Depositary on or before the
Effective Date.

Certain Canadian federal income tax implications of the Amalgamation and the redemption or purchase of the Amalco
Redeemable Preferred Shares are discussed in greater detail in this Circular. See "The Amalgamation - Canadian
Federal Income Tax Considerations” helow. P

Dissenting Shareholders who have complied with the provisions of section 191 of the ABCA will be entitled to be paid
. the fair val e of thelr Commen Shares in ac-ordstce vith; the ABC A. :See "The Amalgamation - Right to Dissent”
Cbelow. o n L ¥ L .
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The Amalgamation Agreement

The Amalgamation will be carried out pursuant to sections 181 and 182 of the ABCA, and will be effected in accordance
with the terms. of the Amalgamation Agreement among the Corporation, Newco, Total Canada and Putco. Upon
approval by the Shareholders, satisfaction of all other conditions as provided in the Amalgamation Agreement and the
filing of articles of amalgamation, the Amalgamatron will become effective on the Effective Date.

The Effective Date of the Amalgamation is expected,to be December 12, 2005 On the Effective Date, the Corporanon
and Newco will amalgamate and continue as one.corporation and: - S

(i) each issued and outstanding Common Share will be converted into one Amalco Redeemable
Preferred Share, other than those Common Shares.held by Dissenting Shareholders and those
Common Shares held by Newco;

(1) each issued and outstanding Common Share held by Newco will be cancelled without any
repayment of capital in respect thereof;

S (i) = each issued and outstandmg Newco Common Share will .be converted into one Amalco
= Conimon Share; and

(1v) each Dissenting Shareholder shall cease to have any rights as a Shareholder other than the
right to be paid the fair value in respect of Common Shares: held..hy such..Dissenting
Shareholder in accordance with the provrsrons of the ABCA. '
Following the cornpletren of the Amalgamatwn Amalco mll centinue to operate Lmder the name "Deer Creek Energy
Limited". Immediately after the Amalgamatron Amalco wxll continue to carry onthe operatlcns of the Corporation with
the same assets and habrhtres T S

In accordance with the ABCA ‘npon the Effectrve Date

(i) - the amalgamation of the Corporatisa:and Neweo and their continuance:as_one, corporation,
©  Amalee, under the terms and ccndrtm”s prescrrbed mn the Amalgamahon Agreement wrll be
' effectrve : : o : : : : coern el e
- the- property of each- of the Corporatlon and Newc‘o wrll contmue tQ be the»,propegty of
©. Amalco; : . . : Cot e i sk
(iii) -~ - *‘Amalco will continue to be hdb]e for the obhgatlom cf each of the Corporalmn and Newco.
(iv) any ex1st1ng cause of action, clalm or liability to prosecution with respect to elther the

e Corporatlon or Newco or both will be unatfected;

" (v)'- - any civil, criminal or admrmstratwe action or proceeding pending by or. against:either the
Lo _"Corporatron or Newco may be continued to be’ pto>ecuted by or against-Amalcoy. ;i

(vi) any conviction agamst or ruling, order or Judgment in favour of or agamst erlher of the

Corporation or Newco may be enforced by or against Amalco; and

~(vil)  the articles of amalgamation will be.dsemed to be the articles of incorparation of ‘Amalco and

the certificate of amalgamation to be issued in respect of the Amalgamation shall 'be deermed
to be the certlﬁcate of lncorporatlon of Amalco

Following the Amalgamatron each Amalco Redeemable Preferred Share - w1ll be redeemed. b) Amalcr) for S31 00 in
cash, in accordance with the terms of the Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares, at the Redemption Time. Amalco
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Redeemable Preferred Shares which, at the election of a holder, are sold io Puico for $31.00 in cash per share before the
Redemption Time wili also be redeemed by Amalco for $31.00 in cash.

The respective obligations of the Corporation and Newco to consummate the transactions contemplated by the
Amalgamation Agreement, and in particular the Aialgamation, are subject to the satisfaction, on or before the Effective
Date, of the following conditions, any of which may be waived by the mutual consent of the Corporation and Newco
without prejudice to their right to rely on any other condition:

(1) the Amalgamation Agicement and the transactions contemplated thereby, including in
particuiar ‘the Amalgdmatlon shall have been applowed by the sharcholders of each of the
Corporatiorl ‘and lVewco in “accordance with the provisions of the ABCA and any other

- applicable regulatory requirements; . : ‘
B L .

(i) all necessary governmeniai ¢r reguidtory approvals, orders, rulings, exemptions and consents
in respect of the Amalgamation shall have been ubtained on terms satisfactory to the
Corporation and Newco or any applicable govemmental or regulatory waiting period shall
have expirea orbeen tcn'llnated RS

(11) immediately available funds required for the redemption of the Amalco Redeemable Preferred
Shares by Amalco and the purchase of any Amalco Redeemabiz Prefzrred Shares by Putco
shall have been prov1ded to tl‘*e Deposxtary, and

(iv) Newco and the Corpuratxon shall be satisfied lhut there are redsondblc grounds for believing
that at the Redemption Date and after payment of the consideration on redemption of the
Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares (1) Amalco will be able to pay its liabilities as they
become due and (11) the reahzable Value of Amalco s assets will not be less than the aggregate

The 'Amalgamdlion ‘Agréement nay, pi'ior‘to the issuance cf 2 certificate of*amalgamation, bs terminated by the Board of
Directors of the \,orporatlon or I‘w WCO no;w1thstan ing the approval theresf by the Sharesholders of the Corporation and
“Neweco: - : G e , . v

The Amalgamation Agreement may at any time and from time to time be amended by written agreement of the parties
thereto' withoui; sibject to applicabie law, fuither notice i or authorization cn the part of their respective shareholders
‘ and any such amendment inay, wiihout limitation: (i) change the time for performance of any of the obhganons or acis of
" the parties taereto; (if) waive compliance with or modify any of the covenants contained thersir and waive or modify
perfonnance of ' any of ‘the obligations of the parties thereto; or (iii) waive compliance with or modify any other
‘conditions precedent contzined iherein; provided thiat no such améndment shall change the previsions thereof regarding
“the ‘censideration to be received by the Sharehiolders and thie shareholders of Newco-for their Corron Shares or Newco
Common Shares, as the case may be, without approval of such shareholders, giver in the same manner as required for
the approval of the Amalgamation.

“The foregoing description of the Amalgamation Agreement is quaiified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the
Amalgamation Agresment attached o' this Circular as Appendix 2: For a full description of the rights, privileges,
‘restrictions and conditions attaching to the Amalco Common shares and the Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares, see

B Scheoule A io the Amalgamatlon Agr#ement : :

Dnssentmg bharehoxders will be entitied to be paid the fair value of their Comnion Shares in accorcance with and subject
" to ‘compiiance with the provisions “of section 191 of the ABCA. Fora fuil descrlptxon such dissent rights, see "The

)

Amalgamation — Right to Dissent" below and Appendices 3 and 4 to thls Clrcmdr
. Shareholder Approval

"The Amalgamation must be approved by the Sharéholders in ‘accordance witii applicabie law. Pursuant to the ABCA,
the Amalgamation Resolution must be passed by at least 66%% of the votes cast by holders of the Common Shares
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present or represented by proxy at the Meeting and entitled to vote on the Amalgamation Resolution. In addition, Rule
61-501 and Regulation Q-27 require that, in addition o any other required Shareholder approval, in order to complete a
"business combination” or "going private transaction" (as such terms are defined in Rule 61-501 and Regulation Q-27,
respectively), the approval of a simple majority of the votes attached to the Common Shares held by "minority” holders
of the affected securities must also be obtained. Newcgo -is. permitted to vote the Common Shares held by it for the
purposes of the approval of the Proposed Transaction:by. Minerity Shareholders.

Newco, which holds approximately 82.4% of the Common Shares, has advised the Corporation that it intends to vote ail
Common Shares owned by it, directly .or indirectly; in favour of the Amalgamation Resolution. The votes attached to
the Common Shares held by Newco are sufficient.to enable all the foregoing approvals to be obtained. In
particular, the votes attached to 44,399,602 Common Shares taken up by Tetal Canada pursuant to the Offer, and
subsequently transferred to Newco (representing approximately 82.4% of the Common Shares) may be counted
as part of the votes attached to the Common Shares held by Minority Shareholders and represent more than a
majority of such votes. Total Canada and Newco are therefore in a position to have the Amalgamation approved.
See "The Amalgamatton Legal Aspects below. '

Unless otherwise specrfled by a Shareholder executmg a proxy, the persons named as proxies in the enclosed form
of proxy intend to vote the Common Shares represented by such proxy FOR the Amalgamation Resolution.

Expenses of the ProposedTransaction.f.. i e

o
N .

The Corporation will pay the costs of the Proﬁosed Transactiond inciuding le‘gal f;rting'and printing costs, and all costs
associated with the preparatton of thls Clrcular Such costs are expected to aggregate approximately $250,000.

Board Approval

On August 5, 2005 after carefully consrdermg the terms of the Acqursrtlon Agreement the terms of the Original Offer,
the faiess opinion of Goldman, Sachs & Co. dated August 2, 20035, the fairness opinion of Peters & Co. Limited dated
August 2, 2005, the advice of its financial and Jegal advisors and wvarious additional matters, the Board of Directors
determined unanimously:that. the . Original Offer was fair- to the Shareholders and was,in the best interests of the
Corporation and the Shareholders and unanimously recommended that holders of Common Shares’ accept the Orlgmal
Offer and tender their Common Shares to the Orrgmal Offer.
On September 2 20()5 after eareful]y consrdermg the terms of the Acqursmon Agreement, mcludmg the"amendments
thereto, the terms, of the Varied Offer, the fairness epinion-of, Goldman, Sachs & Co. dated. August2 2005 and the
fairness opinion of Peters & Co. Limited dated August 2, 2005, each as updated verballv in relanon to.the Vaned Offer
the advice of its financial and legal advisors and various additional matters, the Board of . Directors. determmed
unanimously that the Varied Offer was fair:to the Shareholders and was in-the best 1nterests of the Corporanon and the
Shareholders and unanimously recommended that Shareholders.accept. the Varled Offer and tender thetr Common Shares
to the Varied Offer.; See "The Amalgamation — Eairness Opinions”. -

On September 13, 2005, Glen C. Schmidt, S. Barry Jackson, John G. Clarkson, Jonathan C. Farber, Ronald J. Hiebert,

Gordon J. Kerr and Brian-K. Lemke, resigned as directors of the Corporation. Jean-Luc Guiziou, Humbert de Wendel
and Anita O'Brien were appointed as directors of the Corporation.on September 13 ,2005 to fill certam of the vacanc1es
created by such.resignations. ,On October 31, 2005, Verne Johnson, Bruce Libin, Mrchael Hrbberd and Phlhppe Armand
were appointed directors of the Corporation to fill the remaining vacancies created by the aforemennoned resrgnatlons

The Board also appointed Patrick Pouyanne as an additional member of the Board on October 31, 2005. On the same
date, the Board-appointed, Jean-Luc Guiziou as the Chairman. of the, Board and appointed Verne Johnson as the Lead
Director of the Board.. In addition, the Board appomted Bruce Libin (Chalr) Verne Johnson and Michael Hibberd to the
Audit Committee of the Board, all of whom are. mdependent" drrectors as deﬁned in ML 52-110 and are mdependent of
Total and its affiliated entities. See "The Amalgamation — Members of Board of Directors".

Between October 31, 2005 and November 10, 2005, inclusive, the three independent members of the:Beard met fOrmally
and informally with:Management;and with representatives of Burnet, Duckworth & Palmer LLP, special counsel to the

Wi
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Corporation, on a number of occasions, and also met with representatives of Goldman, Sachs & Co. and Peters & Co.
Limited, financial advisors to the Board.

On November 10, 2005, the Board met to consider the Amalgamation. Prior to considering the Amalgamation or any
matters relating thereto, each of the non-independent members of the Board (being Jean-Luc Guiziou, Humbert de
Wendel, Anita O'Brien, Philippe Armand and Patrick Pouyanne} requested to have entered in the minutes of the meeting
of the Board the nature and extent of their interest in the Amalgamaticn and the Amalgamation Agreement. The
independent members of the Board (being Verne Johnson, Bruce Libin and Michael Hibberd), after considering, among
other things:

1. the terms of the Acquisition Agresment relating (o a subsequent acquisition transaction, including the
Corporation's obligation under the Acouisiiici: Agreement to use all commercially reasonable efforts to assist
Total Canada in acquiring the Common Shares that were not acquired by Total Canada under the Offer as soon
as practicable, and in any event by March 13, 2006 {provided that the consideration per Common Share is not
less than-$31.00 per Common Share); :

2. the process that had occurred in relation to the Cffer, including the receipt of fairess opinions dated August 2,
2005 and September 2, 2005 from each of Goldmen, Sachs & Co. and Peters & Co. Limited, and the
recommendations previously made by the Board of Directors to Shareholders;

3. the advice of counsel;

4. the financial advice of Goldman, Sachs & Co al'd Peters & Co. Limited previded to the Corporation in respect
of the Offer; S

s. the ability of the Corporation to cmlpi\,te anethsr ‘ransuction give.: Total's staterment to the Corporation's Board

that Total intends to hold the Comiraon Shares as a lorg & investment;

6. the ability and mtentlor; ;n Neww to vo&e its +4 9 602 Common Shares in favour of the Amalgamation
Resolution; » » .

7. tpe abiliEy of the Corporation to coptinue w1th its cﬁnent‘business plan;

8. the provisions of the Amalgamation Agreement; and | |

9. the procedural sate guards provided to Minority Shareholders, including the righi to dissent undgr the ABCA;

unanimously resolved to approve the Amalgamation Agreement and the Circular and related meeting materials, as well
as the mailing of the Circular to the Shareholders. The non-independent members of the Board abstained from voting on
the resolutions approving the foregoing matters. ‘

Fairness Opinions

In connection with the Original Offer, each of Goldman, Sachs & Co. and Peters & Co. Limited delivered a written
fairness opinion to the Board of Directors dated August 2, 2005, stating that as of the date of its opinion and subject to
the assumptions and considerations set forth therein, the consideration to be received by the holders of Common Shares
under the Original Offer was fair, from a financial point of view, to Shareholders. Copies of the fairness opinions dated
August 2, 2005 are attached to the Original Directors' Circular dated August 5, 2005; '

In connection with the Varied Offer, on September 2, 2005, each of Goldman, Sachs & Co. and Peters & Co. Limited
verbally confirmed to the Board of Directors its opinion that, subject to the assumptions and considerations set forth
therein, the consideration to be received by the holders of Common Shares under the Varied Offer was fair, from a
financial point of view, to Shareholders. Each of Goldman, Sachs & Co. and Peters & Co. Limited have delivered a
written fairness opinion dated September 2, 2005 confirming their verbal opinions.
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There are currently eight directors of the Corporation, each of whom holds office until the next annual general meeting
of the Shareholders or until the director ceases to hold office or the director's successor has been elected or appointed.
Certain information in respect of the Corporation’s directors is set forth below.

Nanmie and

Province/State and

Country of
Residence® .

Principal Gccupation, Business or
Employment During the Five

Positions with the
Corporation

Jean-Luc Guiziou
Paris, France

Humbert de Wendel .

Paris, France

Anita O'Brien
Alberta, Canada

Verne Johnson

Alberta, Canada
Bruce Libin® -
Alberta, Canada

Michael Hibberd?’
Alberta, Canada

Philippe Armand
Paris, France

-Director Since - - .. .

- September 13, 2005

September 13,2005 -

September 13, 2005

October 31, 2005

.. October 31, 2005

- October 31, 2005

October 3 1A,520105

- Preceding Years.

In-addition- to being President and
Chief Executive Officer of the
Corporation, President of Total
Canada. since September 2002.
Prior . ‘thereto,  Vice-President,
Southérn Cone, Americas, Total
Exploration & Production of Total
since January 1999.

. Vice-President, Finance Division of .

Total since 2000.
Vice-President,: General

Canada since May 2005. Prior

- ‘thereto, . Associate. General Counsel

of EnCana Corporation, a TSX
listed oil and gas company.

| Indeﬁendent businessman.

Executive Chairmen and Chief .
Executive Officer of Destiny

_ Resource Services Corp., a

front-end seismic services company,
since December 2000. President of
B.R. Libin Capital Corp.,an =~
mvestment and merchant banking
company, since February 1995.

President of MJH ' Services Inc.

‘ "§i'nc\e, 1995.

S‘er_l_ioi' Vice-.Presbide_gt,‘ 'Americas,
Total Exploration & Production of
Total, since December 2000.

Counsel
.and .Corporate..Secretary. of Total . _.

Chairman of :the Board,
President, Chief Executive
Officer and Director

Director . .- -

Director , ., .

ot I

Lead ‘Direc‘t(')r'o'f the Board
ard Director .

Director

Director

Director
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Patrick Pouyanne October 31, 2005 Senior Vice-President, Finance, Director
Paris, France o Economics and Information Systems
" of Total, Exploration and Production
Branch, since 2002. Prior thereto,
Managing Director of TotalFinaElf
E&P Qatar 22d Total Qatar Oil &

Gas.
Notes:
0 Based on information provided to the C0fp6fation by each of thedirectors, as at the date of this Circular, none of the |
-directors (and none of said directors' associates and affiliates) beneficially own, directly or indirectly, or control or direct any ,
securities of the Corporatlon or any of its subsidiaries.
) Members of the Audit Committee of the Board (Bruce Libin being Chalrman) _
3) Pursuant to the Acquisition Agreement, all of the members of the Corporation's Board resigned on September 13, 2005 and

were replaced by the existing members of the Board. Ail memboers of the Board are directors and/or officers and/or
employees of Total and/or its affiliates, other than Messrs. Johnson, Libin and Hibberd, all of whom are "independent”
directors as defined in MI 52-110 and are independent of Total and its affiliated entities. fec "The Amalgamation —
Background to the Proposed Transaction”, "The Amalgamation — Board Approval" and "Informatlon Concerning Total,
Total Canada, Newco and Putco”. : :

“No.director.of the Carporetion:

(a) is, as at the date of this Circular, or has been, within 10 years before the date of this Circular, a director
" or eveuative officer of any company (1 icluding the Corporation; that, while that person was acting in
that capacity: :

(i) was the subject of a cease trade or similar order or an order that denied th= relevant company
access to any exemptlon under securities legislation, for a period of more than 30 consecutive
days; - :

(i) .. was subject to an event that resulted, after the director or executive officer ceased to be a

director or executive officer, in the company being the subject of a cease trade or similar order
or an order that denied the relevant company access to any exemption under securities
leglslabon fora perlod of more than 30 consecutive days; or

@) .- or w;thln a year of that person ceasing to act in tha* capac1ty, Her‘arr‘e bankrupt, made a

: ~proposal under any legislation relating fo bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or
instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver,
receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets; or ;

(b) has, within the 10 years before the date of this Circular, become bankrupt, made a proposal under any
legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or become subject to or instituted any proceedings,
arrangement or corap:amise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to
hold the assets of the director. : :

Legal Aspects

The Amalgamation constitutes a "business combination" or "going private transaction" within the mezning of certain
applicable Canadian securities legislation, including Rule 61-501 and Regulation Q-27.
- Rule .61-501 . and Regulation Q-27 provide ihat; unizsss exempted, 4 corporstion preposing to carry out a business
combination or-going private transaction is required to. prepare a valuation: of the affected securities (and any non-cash
“reonsideration being offered therefor) and to provide the holders of the affectsd zecurities a summary of such valuation.
in that connection, Newco is relying on an exemption fron: the valuation requirement under Rule 61-501 and Regulation
Q-27 for a second step business combination or geing private transaction carried out within 120 days after the expiry of a
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formal bid. For this purpose, the Offer constitutes a formal bid. Newco is able to rely on such exemption because,
among other criteria, the consideration per share payable pursuant to the Proposed Transaction is at least equal in value
to the consideration per Common Share paid under the Offer ($31 00 in cash per Common Share} and is in the same
form (cash). :

Under the ABCA, the Amalgamation requires the approval or at least 66%% of the votes cast by holders of the Common
Shares at a meeting duly called and held for the purpose of approving the Amalgamation. Rule 61-501 and Regulation
Q-27 also require that, unless exempted, in addition to any other required securityholder approval, in order to complete a
second step business combination or going private transaction, the approval of a simple majority of the votes attached to
the Common Shares held by "minority” holders of the affected securities must also be obtained. Newco is permitted to
vote the Common Shares held by it, which were acquired by Total Canada under the Offer and subsequently transferred
to Newco, for the purposes of the approval of the Proposed Transaction by Minority Shareholders. Newco has advised
the Corporation that it intends to vote all of the Common Shares held by it in favour of the Amalgamation Resolution.
Newco holds sufficient Common Shares to approve the Amalgamanon Resolution in accordance with the foregoing legal
requirements as it holds approxrmately 82.4% of the Common Shares.

Judicial Developments s

Prior to the adoptron of Rule 61-501 (or its predecessor, OSC Policy 9.1) and Reguiation Q-27, Canadian courts had in
several instances granted preliminary injunctions to prohibit transactions involving business combinations or going
private transactions. The trend in both legislation and Canadian jurisprudence has been towards permitting such
transactions to proceed subject to compliance with procedures designed to ensure substamtive fairness. to the minority
shareholders.

Shareholders should consult therr lega' advrsors fora determmatron of therr 1egal nghts wrth respect to any transaction
which may constitute a business combination or going private transaction. oo

Right to Dissent =~ = - urt E o

Under the provisions of section 191 of the ABCA, a registered Shareholder may dissent in respect of the Amalgamation
Resolution. If the Amalgamation is completed, Dissenting Shareholders who comply with the procedures set forth in the
ABCA will be éntitled to'be paxd the farr value of the Co*nmon Shares n respect of whlch their right to dissent was

S .o N

exercised. S <

Common Shares that are held by a Dissenting Shareholder shall not be converted-into Amalco Redeemable Preferred
Shares and shall not be redeemed by Amalco. Rather, on the Amalgamation becoming effective, Dissenting
Shareholders cease to-have any rights as Shareholders -other than the right to be.paid the fair value of their Common
Shares in accordafice with section 191-of the ABCA. However, in the event.that a Shareholder's rights as a Shareholder
have been reinétated as-a result of:a fatlure to properly exercise the dissent rights in accordance with the ABCA, each
Common Share held by that Shareholder 'shall thereupon be deemed to have been converted, as of the Effective Date, for
an Amalco Redeemable Preferred Share which share shall be deemed to have been redeemed at the Redemption Time
for $31. 00 in cash

The d1ssent rrght and drssent procedure provrded by section. 191 of the ABCA s summan?ed in Appendix 3 to this
Circular and the text of section 191 of the ABCA is set out in Appendix 4 to this Circular. Shareholders who wish to
exercise dissent rights should seek legal advice, as failure to adhere to the requirements set out in sectlon 191 of
the ABCA may result in the loss or unavailability of any right te dissent. S

Consideration: T T R : < : . e

Upon completion of the Amalgamation on the Effective Date, Shareholders (other than Dissenting Shareholders and
Newco) will receive one Amalco Redeemable Preferred Share for each Common Share held. :Each Amalce. Redeemable
Preferred Share will be redeemed for $31.00 in:cash per share at the:Redemption Time. Holders of Amalco.Redeemable
Preferred Shares-can:elect; prior.to:the. R,edemptron Tirne, to have. Putco purehase -any and'al} such Amalco; Redeemable
Preferred Shares at ‘a pumhaSe prlce of$31:00 in cash per ahare i » o

AP X B e ) ,_z"%"‘r'ii"_, J R Y SN D S I
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Share Certificates

No certificates will be issued in respect of" Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares and such shares shall be evidenced by
certificates representing the Common Shares. ‘

Letter of Transmittal

A Letter of Transmittal (printed on blue paper) is enclosed with this Circular for use by Shareholders for the surrender of
Share Certificates. The details for the surrender of Share Certificaies to the Depositary and the address of the Depositary
are set out in the Leiter of Transmittal. The Letter of Transmittal includes a box for Shareholders to check if they desire
to elect to seil their Amalco Redeemable-Preferred Shares to Putco for $31.30 in cash per share-prior to the redemption
~of such shares by Amalco. Urless a Sharchelder has inade a valid eclection to sell the Shareholder's Amalco
Reédeeiniable Preferred Shares to Putco in accordance with the requirements of the Letter of Transmittal and
delivers the Letter of Transmittal to the Depositary prior to the Redemption Time, together with such
Shareholder's Share Certificate(s) and any other required documentation, in zccerdznce with the procedure
specified in the Letter of Transmittal, the Amalco Redeemiable Preferred Shares heid by such Shareholder will be
" redeemed at the Redemption Time. See also "The Amalgamation - Qurrmder of Share Certificates” and "The
Anialgamation - Payment and Delivery of the Consideration" below S

Provided that a Shareholder has delivered and surrendered to the Depositary the Share Certificates together with the
Letter of Transmittal duly completed and executed in accordance with the instructions on sucz form or in otherwise
acceptable form, together with such other required documents and instruments, promptly thereafter, Amalco or Putco, as
the case may be; shall cause the Depositary to send a cheque (without interest) in respect of the proceeds from the
xedempt.ua or sele, as the case may be, of the-AnaicoRedecmable Preferrad: Shares that the Shareholder is entitled to
receive, uniess the Shareholder indicates in (he Letter of Trunsmittal that he o she wishes to. pick-up the cheque the
Sharenolder is-eatitled o receive, in which case the cheque will be macde availebie at the office of the Depositary for
pick-up. If the Amalgamation is notcomplated; the swrrendered Share eruf‘ iczias will e returned by the Depositary.
Lost Certificates -
A Shareholder who has lost or misplaced the Shareholder’s Share Certificates should complete the Letter of Transmittal
as fully as possible and forward it, together with a letter explaining the loss, to the Depositary. The Depositary will
assist in making arrangements for the necessary affidavit (which may :1clude 2 bording require nent} for payment of
$31.00 in cash per share in accordance with the Proposed Transaction.

'Qurren’w Share Lemﬂ:cates

In order to rece'ive the consideraticn payable to a Sharehiclder in connection with the Proposed Transaction, Shareholders
(other than Dissenting Shareholders and Newcc) must duly compiete, execuie and deiiver to the Eepositary the Letter of
Transraitfal together with such Sharehclder’s Share Certificates and suck other adciticnal docursenis as the Depositary
'“may reasonaoiy requ1re if any.- See also "The Amaigaraation — Prescripiion Period" below.

Delivery Requirements

The method of delivery of Share Certificates, the Letter of Transmittal and all other required documents is at the option
and risk of the person surreridering them. The Corporatlon recommends that such docuinents be delivered by hand to the
Depositary, at the office noted in the Letter of Transriittal, and a receipt obtainzd therefer, or if mailed, that registered
mail, with return receipt requested, be used, and that proper insurance be obtained.

»Shareholders holding Common Shares which are registered in the name of a broker, investment dealer, bank, trust
company of other nominee ‘must contact their nominee holder to arrdnge for the urrender of therr Share Certificates.
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Payment and Delivery of the Consideration

In order to receive the consideration payable to a Shareholder in .connection with the. Proposed Transaction, a
Shareholder must deliver to the Depositary such Shareholder’s Share Certificates and such other additional documents as
the Depositary may reasonably require, if any.

Unless a Shareholder has made a valid election to sell the Shareholder's Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares to Putco,
the Amalco Redeemable. Preferred -Shares held by such Shareholder will be redeemed for $31.00 in cash per Amalco
Redeemable Preferred Share at the Redemptmn Trme .See also "The Amalgamatron Letter of Transmittal” above.

As soon as practrcable after the Redemptmn Trme Lf a holders Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares are redeemed by
Amalco, or the Effective Date, if a holder of Amalco:Redeemable Preferred Shates elects to have the Shareholder's
shares purchased by Putco, dssuming due delivery-of the required documentation, Amalco or Putco, as the case may be,
will cause the Deposttary to forward a cheque for-the. aggregate consideration (without interest) to which a holder of
Amalco Redeemable:Preferred:-Shares is-entitled, by first class mail to the address of the:holder as shown on the register
of Shareholders: maintained by:ithe Depositary; urless:the holder indicates in the Letter of Transmittal that he wishes to
pick up the cheque:répresenting the aggrogate consideration, in -which case the cheque will be ‘available. at the. office of
the Depositary for pick-up by such holder. Under no tircumstances will-interest on the.considergtion be paid hy: Amalco
or Putco, as the case may be, by reason of any delay in paying the consideration or otherwise.
ERVEEUR S AR RS TR o8 K T A P ; :

Prescription Period: -« . oo e R T .
On the Effective-Date, ‘each Shareholder:will be:removed. from the: Corporation’s_regjster of.Shareholders,.and until
validly surrendered, the Share Certificate(s) héld by such.formér holder will represent only the right 1o TgpeIve, ypon
such surrender, the tonsideration {without intefestydo-which the:Shareholder.is entitled;.and in:the case.of a Dissenting
Shareholder, the right to receive fairivalue.for the Cammon:Shares held. -Any certificate-which prior to-the Effective
Date represented issued. and:outstanding Comismen Shares. which..has. not-been:surrendered, with all other
instruments required by the Letter of Transmittal, on or prior to the sixth anniversary of the Redemption Date,
and subject to applicable law with respect to unclaimed property, will cease to represent any, ¢laim against, or
interest of any kind or nature m, Amalco, Putco or the Deposntary, and the Redemption Amount shall be forfeited

to Amalco. e ‘ ‘ e o K
Canadian Federal Income Tax Considerations

The following i1s a summary of the principal Canadian federal income tax considerations under the Tax Act of the
Amalgamation and the redemption of Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares generally applicable to:Shareholders who,
for the purposes of the Tax Act and at all relevant times, hold their Common Shares and the Amalco Redeemable
Preferred Shares as capital property and deal at arm's length with, and are not affiliated with," Amalco, Putco,_or the
Corporation. Common. Shares and Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares generally will constityle caprtal property toa
Shareholder unless the Shareholder holds such shares in the course of carrying on a business or has acquired such shares
in a transaction or transactions considered to be an adventure in the nature of trade. Certain Shareholders who are
resident in Canada and whose Common Shares or Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares might not otherwise quahfy as
capital property may be entitled, in certain circumstances, to obtain such qualification by making the irreyocable glection
permitted by subsection 39(4) of the Tax Act. ' ’

This summary is not apphcable toa Shareholder that is.a "financial mstrtutron specrﬁed financial institution" or an
interest in which-would be a tax shelter investment, all as defined in the Tax Act This summary assumes that any
Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares acquired by Putco will be cancelled by Amalco within 6() days of the
Amalgamation.

This summary 18 based on the carrent prov1srons of ‘he Tax Act artd the regulatlons 1ssued thereunder (the
"Regulations") and on the Corporation's understanding of the current published administrative practices of the Canada
Revenue Agency (the "CRA™). This summary takes into account all specific proposals to amend the Tax Act and the
Regulations that have been publicly announced by the Minister of Finance (Canada) prior to the date hereof (the "Tax
Proposals"), but does not otherwise take into account or anticipate changes in law, whether by judicial, governmental or
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legislative decision or action, or changes in administrative practices of the CRA. No assurances can be given that the
Tax Proposals will be enacted as proposed, if at all. This summary does not take into account the tax legislation of any
province or territory of Canada or of any non-Canadian jurisdiction.

This summary is not exhaustive of all Canadian federal income tax considerations. The following summary is of a
general nature only and is not intended to be, ncr sheuld it be construed te be, legal or tax advice to any
particular Shareholder. Accordingly, Shareholders should consult their own tax advisors with respect to their
particular circamstances, includiag the application and effect of the income and oiher tax laws of any country,
province, territory, state or local tax authaerity.

Residents of Canada

The following portion of the summary is generally applicable to a Shareholder who, at all relevant times, is, or is deemed
to be, resident i Canada for the purposes of ihe Tax Act and any applicabie income tax tr=aty ("Canadian Resident
Holder").

Amalgamation

A Canadian Resident Holder who receives Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares in exchange £or Coraron Shares on the
Amalgamaiion will not realize any capiial gain or capital loss on the conversicn. The Canadicu Resident Holder will be
considered to have disposed of the Common Shares for proceeds of disposition equal ic the aggrogate adjusted cost base
of the Common Shares to the Canadian Resident Holder immediately before the Amalgamation and to have acquired the
Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares at an aggregate cost equsli o those proceeds of disposiiioi.. There will, however,
be income tax consequences to the Canadian Resident Holder on the redemption or sale of the Canadian Resident
Holdei's Amalco Redeemable Frefurred Shares, as discussed below.

" Redemption of Am‘alco Redeemable’Preferred Shares
" The amount paid ou ihe redemption of an ‘Amalco'Redecmable Prc;cr ed Slu,rc in gxcess of we paid-up capital of the
share as deterrtined for purposes of the Tax ‘Act will bé deeried o be a dividend (subject, as-discussed below, to the
potential re-characterizaiion as a capital gain in the hands -of certain corporate Shareholdc‘ts). The Corporation has
estimated that the paid-up capital of each Amalco Redeemable Preferred Share will be approximately $5.20 and
accordingly, the deemed dmdcnd on t‘le redempuon of the Ainalco Reueemaole P'eferred a'lare is estimated to be
Aapprommdtcly $2’ P S SR

" Subject {0 the app[ication of subsection 55(2) of the Tax Act as described below, dividends deemed to be received by a
corporate Shareholder on a redemption will be included i coinputing its iicorne but normally will alse be deductible in
' computing the taxable income of the receiving corporation. Subsection 55(2) of the Tax Act provides that where a
corporate Shareholder is deemed to receive a dividend which recucés the capital gam otherwise arising, the deemed
~ dividend will be re-characterized as proceeds of disposition of the shares for the purpose of computing the Shareholder’s
capital gain on the disposition of the shares, except to the extent that the deemed dividend is paid out of "safe income" or
is subject to Part IV tax which is not refunded as part of the series of transactions or events.. Corpovrate Shareholders
should consult their tax advisors for specific advice as to the apphcatmn o them of subseutmn 55(2) on the
' redemption of the Amaico Redeemable Preferred Shares

A Shareholder that is a "privaté corporation” (as defined in the Tax Act) or a "subject corporation™ {described in Part IV

of the Tax Act) may be liable to pay a 33 1/3% refundable tax under Part IV of the Tax Act on dividends deemed to be

received on the redemption of the Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares to the exient that such dividends are deductible

in computing such corporation’s taxable income.

In the case of a Shareholder who is an individual, the dividend deemed tc be received on the rederaption of the Amalco

Redeemable Preferred Shares will be iricluded in'computing that Shareholder’s income and will be-subject to the gross-
=" up and dividend tax credit rules nor’naliy apphcc‘ble to taxable drv1dendo paid by taxablc anad1an "orporatlons
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A Shareholder disposing of Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares on the redemption thereof by Amalco will also realize
a capital gain (or, subject to the comments below, a capital loss) to the extent that the proceeds of disposition thereot
exceed (or are exceeded by) the adjusted cost base thereof to such Shareholder. For these purposes the proc_eeds of
disposition will exclude the amount of the deemed dividend received on the redemption.

Disposition of Amalco Redeemable'é*hfzrred Shares
. ¥ 1 \ s
A Shareholder who elects to sell Amalco Redeemable Preferred S}‘ares to Putco wrll generally realize a caprtal gain (or
capital loss) on the disposition of such shares equal to the amount by which. the: payment made by Putco exceeds (or is
less than) the adjusted cost base of those shares to such holder. See "Taxation of Capital Gains or Losses" below.

Dissenting Shareholders

Under the cusrent administrative practice of the CRA, Canadian Resident Holders who exercise their right of dissent in
respect of the Amalgamation will be considered to have disposed of their Common Shares for proceeds of disposition
equal to the amount paid by Amalco to them for such Common Shares less the amount of any interest awarded by the
court and will realize a capital gain (or capital loss) to the extent that those proceeds of disposition exceed (or are less
than) the aggregate adjusted cost base of such Common Shares to the Canadian Resident Holder who is a Dissenting
Shareholder and any.reasonable costs of .disposition. Any interest awarded to a Canadian Resident Holder who is a
Dissenting Shareholder - will be included in the Canadian Resident, Holders income. The tax treatment of capital gains
and capital losses pader the Tax Act is.discussed below, S

Taxation of Capital Gains-or Losses.. -

A Canadian Resident Holder who realizes a capital .gain or a capital less-on the disposition of Amalco Redeemable
Preferred Shares or, in the case of a Canadian Resident Holder who is a Dissenting Shareholder, on the disposition of
Common Shares, will generally be required to include in income one-half of any such capital gain ("taxable capital
gain") and may apply one-half of any such capital loss ("allowable capital loss") against taxable capital gains in
accordance with the detailed rules in- the Tax, Act:: Allowable capital losses in excess of taxable capital gains may be
carried back and deducted in any of the-threg: precedmg years .or carried ,forward and deducted in any following year

against taxable capital gains realized in such years in accordance with the detailed rules of the Tax Act. -

A capital loss reahzed on. the drsposmon of any sucb shares may7 iR, certam crrcumstances, be reduced by the amount of
certain dividends previously received or deemed to have been received on such shares or, in the, .case ofa dlsposmon of
Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares received on the Amalgamation, on the Common Shares converted therefor, to the
extent and under:the:circumstances described in the Tax.Act, Similar, rules may. apply where a corporatien is a member
of a partnership or:a beneficiary of a.trust that owns shares, or where a. trust or partnershrp of whrqh a corporatlon is a
beneficiary -or & member is itself a member of a partnership or a beneﬁmary of a trust that QDS shares Canadlan
Resident Holders.te. whom these rules may be relevant should consult their own. tax advrsors in this regard
G ae

"Canadran-concrolled prwate corporatlon (as defined in the Tax Act) may be. hable to pay an addmonal 62/3%

refundable tax.euccertain investment income, mcludmg taxable caprtal gains.
S Taodiet L Lok REFE R R R g

The reahzanon ofa capltal gain (or caprtal loss) by an mdlvrdual or a trust (other than certam specxﬁed trusts) may affect
the individual's or the trust's liability for alternative minimum tax under the Tax Act. Canadian Resident Holders
should consult thelr own tax a,dwsors with respect to alternative minimum tax provisions.

Non-Reszdents of Canada

The fo]lowing portion of the summary is applicable to a Shareholder who, for purposes of the Tax Act and any
applicable income:.tax freaty-and at-all relevant times, is neither resident, nor deemed to be resident,in. Canada, does not
use or-hold:and is ot deemed. to use or.-hold Common Shares or. Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares in carrymg ona
business in Canada-or as "desrgnated insurance property and to whom spch shares do not otherwrse consmute taxable
Canadian property" within the meaning of the Tax Act (a "Non-Resident Holder").
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Common Shares and Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares will generally not constitute taxable Canadian property to a
Shareholder unless, at any time during the 60 month period immediately preceding the disposition thereof, 25% or more
of the issued shares of any class or series of a class of the capital stock of the Corporation or 25% or mere of the Amalco
Redeemable Preferred Shares were owned or deemed under the Tax Act to be owned by the Shareholder, by persons
with whom the Sharcholder did not deal at arm's lepgth, or by any combination therecf. If the Common Shares are
"taxable Canadian property" to the Shareholder, then the Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares will be deemed to be
"taxable Canadian property" to the Shareholder. : :

Amalgamation
A Non-Resident Holder who receives Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares in exchange for Common Shares on the

Amalgamation will not realize any capital gair or capital loss on the conversion. The Non-Resident Holder will be
considered to have disposed of the Common Shares for proceeds of disposition equal to the aggregate adjusted cost base

-of the Common Shares to the Non-Rzsident Holder immediately before the Amalgamation and to have acquired the

Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares at an aggregate cost equal to those proceeds of disposition. There may, however,
be income tax consequences to the Non-Resident Holder on the redemption cr sate of the Non-Resident Holder's Amalco
Redeemable Preferred Shares, as dxscussed below.

Redemption of Ama!co Redeemablie Preferred Shares
‘Where an Amalco Redeernable Preferred Share acquired by a Non-Resident Holder is redeemed the amount paid on the
redempiion in excess of the paid-up capital of such share will generally be deemed to be a dividend... It is estimated that a

" dividenid of approximiateiy $25.80 per Arelco:Redeemable Preferved Share will bedeemed (0. have been paid on the

redemption and wiil be subject to withholding tax at the rate of 25% subject io reduction under the terms of an applicable
income tax treaty. Any capital gain (or capital loss) arising on the redemption of the Amalco Redeemable Preferred
Shares will generaliy'noi be subject to"Canadian inconie tax if thé:Arnalco Fedeemabls Freferred Shares are not "taxable
Canadian property". RN e s

In the everit that the Amalce Redeemable Prefsrred Shares conztitute "taxabie €znadian property” to the Non-Resident
Hcider, then the Nen-Resident Holder will ‘generally realize.a cap tal gain. (or capita! loss} in-the same manner as a
Shareholder resident in Canada, unless the Non-Resident Holder is-entitled to relicf under an applicable income tax
treaty. Under the Canada-U.S. Income Tax Convention such relief would generally not be available. A capital loss
realized by the Non-Resident Holder will only be available to offset capital gains realized by the Non-Resident Holder in
respect of a disposition, or deemed dispositicn, of property that constitutes "taxable Canadian property” to the Non-

-Resident Holder, and only where the Amalco'Redeemable Preferred Shares do not constitute "treaty protected property”

(as defined in the Tax Act) to the Non-Resident Holder. The taxation of capital gains or losses are described above
under "Residents of Canada - Taxation of Capital Gains or Losses".

Drsposn‘zor ‘of Amalw Redeemable Preferred Shares :

4thre an Amalco Redeemdble Preferred Share acquired by a Non-Resident Holder is acqmred by Putco such Non-

Resident Holder will not be subject to Canadian income tax on capital gains (or capital lesses) arising on the disposition
if the Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares are not "taxable Canadian property".

In the event that the Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares constitute "taxable Canadian property” to the Non-Resident
Holder, ‘hen the Non-Resident Holder will generally r=aiize a capiial gain (or capital 10ss) in the same manner as a
Sharehoider resident in Canada, unless the Non-Resident Holdei s entitled to relief under an applicable income tax
treaty. Under the Canada-U.S. Income Tax Convention such relief would generally not be available. A capital loss
realized by the Non-Resident Holder will only be available to offset capital gains realized by the Non-Resident Holder in
respect of a disposition, or deemed disposition, of property that constibites "taxable Canadian, property" to the Non-

“Resident Holder; and only where the Amalco Redeemable Preferred Staies do not constitute "treaty protected property”
¢ (as defined in the Tax Act) 1o the Non-Resident: Holder. The taxation of cepital gains or losses are described above

under "Residents of Canada - Taxation of Capital Gains or Losses".
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Dzssenttng Shareholders

A Dissenting Shareholaer who is a Non-Resident Holder will, under the current administrative practice of the CRA, be
considered to have disposed of such shares to Amalco for'proceeds of disposition equal to the amount paid by Amalco
exclusive of any interest awarded by the court. A Non-Resident Holder will generally not be subject to Canadian income
tax on capital gains arising on such disposition if the.Common Shares are not "taxable Canadian property". Any interest
awarded to a dissenting Non-Resident Holder by the Court will be subject to Canadian withholding tax at the rate of 25%
unless the rate is reduced under the provisions of an applicable bilateral tax treaty.

INDEBTEDNESS OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

As at the date hereof, no executive officer, dlrector employee former executlve officer,, former drrector or former
employee of the Corporation or any ‘of its subsidiaries has indebtedness to: (i) the Corporation or any of its subsidiaries;
or (ii) another entity where the indebtedness is the subject of a guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit or. other
similar arrangement:or understanding” provided by the Corporation or any of its subsidiaries; whether incurred in
connection with the purchase of securities:or otherwise. -

In addition, no individual who is, or at any time during the most recently completed financial year was, a director or
executive officer of the Corporation or any associate of any such director.or executive officer: (i) is, or at any time since
the beginning of the most recently completed financial year of the Corporation has been, indebted to the Corporation or
any of its subsidiaries;.or (ii) has indebtedness to another entity that is, or-at any time since the beginning. of the most
recently completed finéncial year-has been, the siibject-of a guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit or other similar
arrangement or understanding provided by the Corporatlon .or-any; of-its subsrdlarles which indebtedness was. mcurred n
connection with secunty purc}‘ase programs or any other programs e ' Cnne
EXECUTIVE COMPENSATIO\I ANI) SECURITIES AUTHORIZED FOR ISSUANCE UNDER
EQUITY COMPENSATION PLANS 2

Reference is made to the Management Proxy Circular.of the; Corporation ‘dated April.13,.2005 for the 2005 Annual and
Special Meeting of.Shareholders, the Offer-Circular and the Directors' Circulars. for information concerning executive
compensation and securities authorized tor issuance- under equrty compensatlon plans. :See "Documents Incorporated by
Reference" below:::. -+~ - Sl - ‘ R o

Messrs. Johnson lem and Hlbberd have each been mdemmﬁed by the Corporanon In addrtmn each of' saxd d1rectors
is entitled to receive coverage. under Total's dlrectors and ofﬁcers hablllt:y ‘insurance -policy as-the Corporatron is an
indirect subsidiary of Total. ' : Do

The Corporation has agreed to pay each of Messrs. Johnson, Libin and Hibberd: (i) an annual retainer of $75,000, such
retainer to be paid in advance and not pro-rated as to the amount of time served during the year; (ii) $2,500 per meeting
of the Board and $2,500 per meeting of the audit committee of the Board, whether held in person or by telephone
conference call; and (iii) $400 per hour to a maximum of $3,000 per. day for the provision of services other than
attendance at Board meetings and audit committee meetmgs ‘ :

The other directors of the Corporatlon are not remunerated by the Corporatron for serving on the Board.

INTEREST OF CERTAIN PERSONS OR COMPANIES INTHE MATTERS TO BE ACTED .;‘-7,; .‘
s - UPON.AT THE MEETING N

Other than as: dlsclosed below and elsewhere in thl., Crrcular (mc]udmg the documents.incorporated by reference herem)
the Corporation is not'aware of any material interest, direct or indirect, by way. of beneficial ownership of securities
otherwise, of any person who- has been a director or:executive officer .of the Corporation at any time sinpgg.the beginning
of the Cotporation's last financial year-or any of such persons' associates-ot affiliates, in any matter to be acted upon at
the Meeting. TP : ‘ I
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The Proposed Transaction includes the Amalgamation between the Corporation and Newco. Newco is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Total Canada, which is a wholly-owned subsidia:y of Total. The Proposed Transaction has been proposed
in order to permit Total Canada to acquire, through Newco, the Common Shares that were not deposited under the Offer.

Certain directors and executive officers of the Corporation also serve as directors and/or executive officers of Total
and/or its affiliates. See "The Amalgamation — Members of Board of Directors” and "Information Concerning Total,
Total Canada, Newco and Putco”. :

INTEREST OF INFORMED PERSONS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS

Other than as disclosed elsewhere in this Circular (including the documents incorporated by reference herein), no
director or executive officer of the Corporation, no directo: 0:*exacutive officer of a person or company that is itself an
"informed person"” or subsidiary of the Corporation, no person or company who beneficially owns, directly or indirectly,
voting securities of the Corporation or who exercises control or direction over voting securities of the Corporation or a
combination of both carrying more than 10% of the voting rights attached to all outstanding voting securities of the
Corporation, and no associate or affiliate of any such persois, nas any ma‘ezal interest, direct or indirect, in any
transaction since the commencement of the Corporation's most recently completed financial year or in any proposed
transaction which has materially affected or would materially affect the Corporation or any of its subsidiaries.

INTEREST OF EXPEKTS

No direct or indirect interests in the property of the Cerporation or of an zssociaied party or affilizte of the Corporation
has been received or is to be received by & person or compeny whose profession or business gives authority to a
statement made by the person or company and who is named in this Circular or a documsnt specifically incorporated by
reference in this Circular as having prepared or certified a part of that document or a report or valuation described in this
Circular or ini a aocument specifically incoiporated by refer. ace ia ihis Cireu! 1. :

Persons or companies referred to in the preceding paragraph beneficially own, directly or indirectly, less than 1% of the
securities of the Corporation and its associated parties and affiliates. In addition, no person, and no director, officer or
employee of any person or compaity, referred to in tae pieseding pacagrapa, is o i§ sxgected to be elected, appointed or
employed as a director, officer or employee of the Corporation or of any associated party or affiliate of the Corporation.

PROMGTERS

No person ot company is, or has been within the two years 1mmed1ately preuedmg the Gate of this Ci rcular a promoter of
the Lorporatlon or of a subsidiary of the Corporatioi.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

The management functions of the Corporation and iis subsidiaries are not to any substantial degres performed by persons
or companies other than by the directors or executive officers of the Corporation or its subsidiaries.

EFFECT OF THE AMALGAMATION ON MARKETS AND LISTINGS

The Common Shares are listed and posted for trading on the TSX under the trading symbol "DCE". On November 9,
2005, the last trading day prior to the date of this Circular, the closing price of the Common Shares on the TSX was

$32.06.

The following table sets forth the reported high and low sales prices and the curmaulative volume of trading of the
Common Shares on the TSX for the periods indicated. For additional trading information in respect of the Common
Shares, see the Offer Circular incorporaied by reference herein. See "Documents Incorporated by Reference”.
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_ Price Range . Trading
Period High Low Volume
2005 .
June 16.90 13.61 3,005,299
July -~ 1820 16.00 2,647,207
August 2500 - 18.00 17,799,074
September 32.63 24.89 19,755,733
October 32.14 31.00 1,458,430
November ! -9 . 3299 31.27 82,994

The Corporation intends te delist the Common Shares from the TSX and to cause the Corporation to cease to be a
reporting issuer under the securitiss laws of each province in which.it is a reporting issuer on or shortly following the
Effective Date.

. INFORMATION CONCERNING THE CORPGRATION

The Corporation is a-Calgary-based oil sands ccmpany engaged in the development of its Athabasca oil sands deposits
through SAGD and mining extraction methods. The Corporation's principal assets include its interest in the Joslyn
Project. The head office of the Corporation s located at Bow Valley Square 2, Suite 2600, 205 — 5" Avenue S.W.,
Calgary, Alberta T2P 2V7 and its registered office is located at Suite 4500, 855 — 2™ Street S.W., Calgary, Alberta
T2P 4K7. The Corporition was incorporated vunder the ABCA on Qctober 1, 1996. The Cmporatlon is.a reporting
issuer in each of the pravinces of Canada. The “orpcration has nc material subsidiaries other than Deer Creek Pipelines
Limited and 703090 Alberta Ine. . - -

For additional mformatlon in respect of *‘16' Co: pera*!on 1udll"" a desrnptmn cf its busmess its capitahzatlon its
securities and risk factors relating to the Corporation and an 1nvestment in its securities, see "Documents Incorporated by
Reference" below: Co

: DOCUMENTS_ INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Information has been incorperated by reference in this Circular from documents filed with securities
commissions or similar authorities in Canada. Copies of the documents incorporated herein by reference may be
obtained on request without charge from the Chief Financial Officer of the Corporation at 2600, 205 — 5" Avenue S.W.,
Calgary, Alberta T2P 2V7, telephone (403) 264-3777. For the purpose of the Province of Quebec, this Circular contains
information to be completed by consulting the permanent information record. A copy of the permanent information
record may be obtained from the Chief Financial Officer of the Corporation at the above-mentioned address and
telephone number. In addition, copies of the docurments inccrporated herein by reference may be obtained by accessing
the disclosure documents available through the Internet on the Canadian System for Electronic Document Analysis and
Retrieval (SEDAR) website at www.sedar.com. The Corporation's SEDAR profile number is 10187.

The following documents of the Corporation filed with the various securities commissions or similar authorities in the
provinces of Canada are specifically incorpora‘ed by refererce into and forn an integral part of this Circular:

(ay . the Offer Circular;

b the Directors' Circulars;

(c) the Corporation's revised initial annual informaticen form dated March 18, 2005;
(d) management's  discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations of the

Corporation as at and for the year ended December 31, 2004;

(e) the audited comparative financial statements of the Corporation as at and for the year ended December
" 31, 2004, together with the notes thereto and the auditors’ report thereon;
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() the unaudited comparative financial statements of the Corporation as at and for the nine month period
ended September 30, 2005;

(2) management's discussion and'anaiysis of the financial condition and results of operations of the
Corporation as at and for the nine month period ended September 30, 2005; :

(h) the Corporation's Management Proxy Circular dated April 13, 2005 relating to the annual and special
N meeting of Shareholders held on May 26, 2005, excludmg the sections entrtled "Report on Executive
Compensatlon and "Performance Graph"

@) the Corporation's material change report dated September 15, 2005 in respect of Total Canada's
acquisition of certain Common Shares under the Offer, the extension of the Offer and the resignation
and replacement of certain directors and ofﬁcers of the Corporation;

1)) the Corporation's material chiange report dated August 10, 2005 in respect of the entering into of the
Acquisition Agreement and the commencement of the Offer and

(k) the Corporation's materiai cliange report dated Tune 30, 2005 in respect of the Corporation's issuance
of 3,000,000' Common Shares at a prrce of $13 60 per Common Share for gross proceeds of $40.8
million.

' In addrtlon any material . change reports (exclumng conf‘ dential reports) comparatrve interim financial statements,
comparatlve annual ﬁnancral statements and the auditors’ report theteon and mformatron ‘circutars (excluding those
portions that are not requrred pursuant to Natlonal Instrument 44-101 of the Canadian Securiti€s Administrators to be
mcorporated by reference herein) filed by the Corporatlon with the secuntles commissions or similar authorities in the
provinces of Canada subsequent to the date of this Circular and prior o the Meeting, shall be ‘déeemed to be incorporated
by reference in this Circular.

Any statement contained in a document mcorporated or deemed to be incorporated by reference herein shall be
deemed to be modlﬁed or superseded for the purposes of this Clrcular to the extent that a statement contained
heréin or in any other subsequently filed docament which also“is, or is déémed to be; incorporated by reference
~ herein miodifies or supersedes such statement The modlfymg or supersedmg statement need not state that it has
modlﬁed or superseded a pl‘IOI' statement or mclude any other information set forth in the document that it
modifies or supersedes The makmg ofa modlfymg or supersedmg statement shall not' be deemed an admissien
for any purposés that the modifi ed or superseded statentent, when made, constituted a misrepresentation, an
"untrue statement of’ a materlal fact or an omission to state a material fact that is required to' be stated or that is

necessary to ‘make a 'statement not mlsieadmg in light of the circumstances in which it was'made. Any statement
S0 modtﬁed or superseded shail not be deemed, except as so modlf' ed or superseded fo censtltute a part of this
Circular.

INFORMATION CONCERNING TOTAL, TOTAL CANADA, NEWCO AND PUTCO

ZAll information set forth below and elsewhere in this Circular in respect of Total, Total Canada, Newco and Putco was
‘ 'supphed by the respective company to the Corporation for inclusion herein, and with respect to’ such 1nf0rmat10n the
. Corporatron and its Board of Drrectors and ofﬁcers have relled on the respectrve company '

Total
Total, a French société anonyme, was incoiporated in 1924 and, together with its subsidiariés and affiliates, is the fourth
largest publicly-traded integrated oil and gas company in the world by market capitalization, with operations in more
than 130 countries. Total engages in all aspects of the petroleum industry, including upstream operations (oil and natural
gas exploration, development and production) and downstream operations (refining, marketing, trading and shipping of
crude oil and petroleum products). Total also produces chemicals for industrial and consumer use and has interests in
coal mining and in the cogeneration and electricity sectors. The head office of Total is located at 2, place de La Coupole,
La Défense 6, 92 400 Courbevoie, France.
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Total Canada

Total Canada is a corporation governed by the federal laws of Canada, incorporated on January 1, 2001, and is a direct
wholly-owned subsidiary of Total. Total Canada holds a 50% interest in the Surmont oil sands project located southeast
of Fort McMurray, Alberta, as well as an interest in other oil sands permits in northern Alberta. Total Canada also holds
a non-controlling and minor interest in several oil and gas exploratlon properties in northeastern British Columbia. Total
Canada'’s principal and registered offices are located at Suite 810, 202 - 6th Avenue S.W., Calgary, Alberta, T2P 2R9.
The consideration paid by: (i) Amalco in connection w1th the redemption of the Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares
by Amalco; and (ii) Putco in connection with Putco's agreement to purchase any and all Amalco Redeemable Preferred
Shares that holders thereof validly elect to sell to Putco; will be funded directly or indirectly by Total Canada.

Newco

Newco was incorporated under the ABCA on November 3, 2005 as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Total Canada. Newco
is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares.and an unlimited number of preferred shares. No securities
of Newco are outstandmg other than 44,399,603 shares issued to Total Canada at a price of $31.00 per share. Newco
was incorporated for the sole purpose of participating in the Proposed Transaction and has not carried on any material
business or activity. other than entering into the Amalgamation Agreement and related matters. Newco has no material
assets or liabilities other than :the Common Shares of the Corporanon acqulred by Total Canada under the Offer (and
which were subsequently transferred by Total Canada to Newco), which represent approximately 82.4% of the Common
Shares outstanding. The Board of Directors of Newco is comprised of Jean-Luc Guiziou, Humbert de Wendel and Anita
O'Brien. Jean-Luc Guiziou is the President of Newco and Anita O'Brien is the Corporate. Secretary of Newco. See "The
Amalgamation — Members of Board of Directors! for addmonal 1nformat10n in respect of’ Newco's directors and ‘officers.
Newco's directors and offi icers are not remuneraled by Newco for serving as directors and officers of ‘Newco, Newco s
principal and regtstered ofﬁces are located at Suite, 3700, 400 — 3rd Avenue W Calgary, Alberta T2P 4H2 Newco s
audited financial statements are attached as Appendlx N hereto

Putco

Putco was mcorporated under the AuCA on November 3 2005 as a wbollv owned subsndrary of 'Iotal Canada Putco 1s
authorized to issue an vnlimited nurnhe: of rommon shares and an unhmlted number of ‘preferred, shares No secur1t1es
of Putco are outsta*\dmg other than ong common share 1ssued to “Total Canada,at a orlce of $31.00 per share Putco was
incorporated for the sole purpose of pamcmatmg n the Pronosed Transactton and has not camed on any material
business or activity, other than entering into the Amalﬁamatton Agreemeni and related matters. Putco has ne material
assets or liabilities., The Boerd of Drrectors of Putco is comprlsed of Jean Luc G'uzrou Humbert de Wendel and Anita
O'Brien. Jean-Luc. Cut?'ou is the President of Puico and Anita. O' Brlen 1, the C orporate Seeretary of Puico., See "The
Amalgamation - Members of. Board of l')lrectors for addmonal mfonnatlon in respect of Putco's directors and officers.
Putco's directors and ofﬁcers are not remunerated by Putco for serving as.directors and officers of Putco. Putco's
principal and reg1stered offices are located at Suite 3700, 400 — 3rd Avenue S.W., Calgary, ‘Alberta, T2P 4H2. Putro ]
audited financial statements are attached as Appendix 6 hereto.

ADDITIONAL IN FORMATION

Addmonal 'nformatton relatmo t0 the Corporat1on s avarlable through the lntemet on the Canadian System for
website at www.deercr eekencrm com. F 1nanc1al 1nformat10n of the Corporatlon is provnded in the comparalrve ‘financial
statements and managements' discussion and analysis of the Corporation for the most recently completed financial year.
Copies of the financial statements and management's discussion and analysis of the Corporation may be obtained from
the Chief Financial Qfficer of the Corporatlon at 2600, 205 — 5'h Avenue S. W. Calgary, Alberta T2P 2\/7 telephone
(403) 264-3777.




APPENDIX 1
" DEER CREEK ENERGY LIMITED

SPECIAL RESOLUTION OF THE HOLDERS OF COMMON SHARES OF
DEER CREEK ENERGY LIMITED AUTHORIZING THE AMALGAMATION

RESOLVED AS A SPECIAL RESOLUTION THAT:

1.

The amalgamation (the "Amalgamation") of Deer Creek Energy Limited (the "Corporation") and 1202655
Alberta Ltd. ("Newco") upon the terms and conditions set forth in the amalgamation agreement (the
"Amalgamation Agreement") entered into as of November 10, 2005 among the Corporation, Newco, Total
E&P Canada Ltd. and 1202614 Alberta Ltd., a copy of which is attached as Appendix 2 to the management
information circular of the Corporation dated November 10, 2005, is hereby approved;

The Amalgamation Agreement is hereby approved;

The board of directors of the Corporation is hereby authorized to terminate the Amalgamation Agreement at any
time prior to the issuance of a certificate of amalgamation without further approval of the shareholders of the
Corporation; and

Any one or more officers and directors of the Corporation is hereby authorized and directed for and on behalif of
the Corporation to execute and deliver articles of amalgamation under the Business Corporations Act {Alberta)
and to take any and all such other steps or actions as may be necessary or appropriate in connection with the
Amalgamation, including, without limitation, actions to amend, extend, waive conditions of or terminate the
Amalgamation Agreement and to execute and deliver for and in the name of and on behalf of the Corporation,
whether under corporate seal or not, all such other certificates, instruments, agreements, documents and notices,
and to take such further actions, which in such person's opinion may be necessary or appropriate to carry out the
purposes and intent of this special resolution.



APPENDIX 2
DEER CREFEK ENERGY LIMITED

AMALGAMATION-AGREEMENT



AMALGAMATION AGREEMENT

THIS AMALGAMATION AGREEMENT is dated as of the 10" day of November, 2005

AMONG:
DEER CREEK ENERGY LIMITED
a corporation governed by the laws of the Province of Alberta ("Deer Creek")
-and-
1202655 ALBERTA LTD.
a corporation governed by the laws of the Province of Alberta ("Newco")
-and-
TOTAL E&P CANADA LTD.
a corporation govemed by the laws of Canada (”Total Caana")
~ -and-
1202614 ALBERTA LTD. ‘ ‘
a corporation governed by the laws of the Piovince of Alberta ("Putco”)
RECITALS: :
A. Deer Creek and Newco have agreed to amalgamate pursuant to the Busmess Corporatzons Act (Alberta)
h and upon the terms‘and ¢onditions sef forth herein;’ *~ - - : e
B. _the authorized share capital of Deer Creek consists of an unlimited number of common shares and an
" inlimited numbér of first preferred shares, issuablé in series of which 53,855,904'common shares are
issued and outstanding and no first preferred shares are issued and ouistanding as of the date hereof;

C.”  the authorizéd share capital of Newco consists of an tnlifnited nuniber of common shates and an unlimited
number of preferred shares of which 44,399,603 common shares are issued and cutstanding as of the date
hereof, all of which are owned by Total Canada, and no preferred shares are issued and-outstanding;

D. ' 'the authiorized share capital of Putco consists of an unlimited number of common starées and an unlimited
number of preferred shares of which one common share is issued and outstanding as of the date hereof,
which is ‘6wned by Total Canada, and no preferred shares are issuec and outstanding; - -

E.  Newco owns 44, 399,602 comon shares of Deer Creek, represemmg appr0x1matciy 82.4% of the issued
and outstanding commion shares of Deer Creek; :

F. In accordance with the terms and conditions of the acquisition agreement dated August 2, 2005 between
Deer Creek and Total Canada, as amended by an amending agreemeni dated -Sepiember 2, 2005, Total
Canada has agreed to use all commercially reasonable efforts to acquire, and Deer Creek has agreed to use
all commercially reasonable efforts to assist Total Canada in acquiring, the balance. of the Deer Creek
common shares not previously acquired by Total Canada, as soon as practicable by way of a statutory
arrangement, amalgamatlon reorganization, consohdatlon recapltallzatron or other type of acqunsltlon
-transactlon oo ‘ .

G. Deer Creek and Newco have each made disclosure to the other of their respective assets and liabilities; and

H.

“ it is desirable that this amalgamation be effected.



NOW THEREFORE in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements contained herein and other

good and valuable consideration (the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged) the parties hereby
agree as follows:

L.

Interpretation
In this Agreement:
"ABCA" means the Business Corporations Act (Alberta);

"Agreement" means this amalgamation agreement, and the expressions "hereof”, "herein", "hereto",
"hereunder”, "hereby" and similar expressions refer to this amalgamation agreement;

"Amalco" means the corporation continuing as a result of the Amalgamation;
"Amalco Common Shares” means the common shares in the share capital of Amalco having the rights,
privileges, restrictions and conditions set forth in Schedule A hereto, which forms an integral part hereof;

"Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares" means the class A redeemable preferred shares in the share
capital of Amalco-having the rights, pr1v1leges, restnctlons and conditions set forth in Schedule A hereto,
which forms an integral part hereof;

"Amalgamating Corporations" means Deer Creek and Newco;

[T CE Sataiin I e iate L Ton, - Lt - e Lt S ;
"Amalgamation” means the amalgamation of the Amalgamating Cerporations as contemplated in this
Agreement; ’

"Business, Day"means :myday, cher ;h‘an‘la: S'étur'dayq a;Spi'nda)' or a statytory hollday m the :Pr'(‘;K\:/ince of
Alberta;. ;. o SR e T e : o '

"Consrderatmn .means.$31.00:in cash: per share, payable on the redemption of the Amalco Redeemable
Preferred Shares to be issued by Amalco to Qharehclders (other than Dlssentmg Shareho'ders and Newco)
in connection;with the Amalgamation,-as more fully described in this Agreement

. "Deer Creek Shares", means the: 1ssue:l and outstanding common shares:in the share capital of Deer,Creek; .

"Dlssentmg Shareholder" means a reglstered Shareholder who m connectmn with the spemal meetmg of
the Shareholders to approve this Agreement and the Amalgamanon has exercised the right to dissent
pursuant.to section- 191 of the ABCA in compliance with the provisions thereof who has not withdrawn the
notice of the exercise of such rights and in respect of which Deer Creek has not rescinded the resolution to
approve this Agreement and the Amalgamation;

"Dollars" or: ’fS" mea,r;s;.t-helawful currency of Canada;

"Effective-Date": means the cl_ete shown on the certificate of amalgameation to be 'iSsped in respect of the
Amalgamallon ST '
"fair value where used n relatlon to a Deer Creek Share held by a Dlssentmg Shareholder means fair
value as determmed by the Court under section 191 of the ABCA or as agreed between Amalco and the
Dissenting: Shareholder; - A .
"Meeting" means the special meeting (and any adjournments. thereof) of Shareholders, to be,held to, .
consider the approval of the special resolution to approve this Agreement and the Amalgamatlon

"Newco Common Shares" means common shares in the share capital of Newco;



"Redemption Date" means the first Business Day following the Effective Date; and
"Shareholder" means a holder of Deer Creek Shares.

Words and phrases used but not defined in this Agreement and defined in the ABCA shall have the same
meaning in this Agreement as in the ABCA unless the context or subject matter otherwise requires.

2. Agreement to Amalgamate

The Amalgamating Corporations hereby agree to amalgamate and to continie as one corporation under the
provisions of the ABCA as of the Effective Date, on the terms and conditions set out in this Agreement.

3. ' Name
The name of Amalco shall be: "Deer Creek Energy Limited".

4. Registered Office

The registered office of Amalco shall be iocated in the Clty of Calgaly, n the Provmce of Alberta at 3700,
400 - 3 Avenue S.W., Calgary, Alberia T2P 4H2.

5. Authorized Share Capital

The authorized share capital of Amalco shall consist of an unlimited number of Amalco Common Shares
and an unlimited number of Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares. The rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions
attaching to each class of shares of Amalco shall be-as descnbed n Schedule A hereto whxen forms an mtegral part
hereof ‘ ;

6. Number of Directors

The board of directors of Amalco shall until otherwise cnanged in accordance with the ABCA, consist of a
minimum number of three (3) and a maximum number of fen (10) direciors. “Subjeci to section 106 of the ABCA,
the directors, in order to increase the number of directors within the limits prescribed by the articles, may appoint
one (1) or more directors, who shall hold office for a term expiring not later than tne close of the next annual
meeting of the shareholders, but the total number of directors so appointed shall not exceed one third (1/3) of the
number of directors who held office at the expiration of the last annual meeting of the shareholders.

7. Initial Directors

The first directors of Amalco shall be the persons whose names and addresses appear bélow: °

NAME ' ADDRESS ‘ CANADIAN RESIDENT
Jean-Luc Guiziou 810,202 - 6" Avenue SW. Now
Calgary, Alberta T2P 2R9
,Humberf Dé Wendel ' 2 Place De La Coupole, ' ~ 'No
! S La Defense 6 o o
Courbevoie, France, 92400
Anita O'Brien 810, 202 - 6™ Avenue S.W. - Yes |

Calgary, Alberta T2P 2R9

§uch directors shali hold office until the pext annual meetmg of”’ shareholders of Amalco or untll their
successors are eleeted or appomted : :



8. By-Laws
The by-laws of Amaico, until repealed, amended or altered, shall be the by-laws of Deer Creek.
9. Treatment of Issued Share Capital
On the Effective Date:
{(a) each issued and outstanding Deer Creek Share shall be conveh:tec-f 'into one Amalco Redeemable
Preferred Share, other than those Deer Creek Shares held by Dissenting Shareholders and those

Deer Creek Shares.held by Newco;

b) each issued and outstanding Deer Creek Share held by Newco shall be cancelled without any
repayment of capital in respect thereof;

(©) each issued and outstanding Newco Common Share shall be converted into one Amalco Common
Share; and
(d) each Disserting Shareholder shall cease to have any rights as a Shareholder other than the right to

be paid the fair value in respect of Deer Creek Sh%iréé held by such Dissenting Shareholder in
accordance with the provisions of the ABCA. ' '

10. Stated Capital Accounts

Sub'ect to reducnon to effer‘t pavments made to Dlssentmg Shareholdefs as heremafter set forth the .
aggregate stated capltal accounts in the records of Amalm shall be the aggregate of the paid-up capital (as defmed m
the Income Tax Act (Canada)) of the Amalgamatmg Corporatlons less the amount of paid-up capital (as so def: ned)
of the Deer Creek Shares held by Newco cancelled on the Amalgamation, and shall be allocated to the stated capital
account for the Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares and the Amalco Common Shares as follows:

(2) for the Amalco Common Shares, an amount equal to the aggregate paid-up capital (as sc defined)
of the Newco Common Shares 1mmed1ately prior to the Amalgamation; and

{b) ' .for the Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares, the balance of such aggregate paid-up capxtal (as so, 4
. defmed) .

The amount of stated capital attributable to the Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shareé shall ‘heiﬁdjlj‘sted to
reflect payments that may be made to Dissenting Shareholders.

1. Share Certificates

No certificates shall-be issued in respect of the Amalec Redeemable Preferred Sharss issued pursuant to the
Amalgamation and such shares shail be evidenced by ihe certificaies repiesenting Deer Creek Shares (other than
certificates representing Deer Creek Shares held by Dissenting Shareholders and Newco).

On the Effective Date, share certificates evidencing Deer.Creek Shares and Newco Common Shares shall
cease to represent any claim upon or interest in Deer Creek or Newco, as the case may be, other than the right of the
holder to receive that which is provided for in sections 9, 13 and 15 hereof.

12. General Conditions Precedent

The respective obligations , of the Amalgamating Corporations to consummate the transactions
contemplated hereby, and in particular the Amalgamatlon are subject to the satlsfactlon on or before the Effectlve .,
Date, of the following conditions any of which may be waived by the mutual consent of Amalgamatmg
Corporations without prejudice to their right to rely on the other condition:



(a) this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby, including in particular the
Amalgamation, shall have been approved by the shareholders of each of the Amalgamating
Corporations in accordance with the provisions of the ABCA and any other applicable regulatory
requirements;

(b)  all necessary governmental or regulalory approvals, orders, rulings, exémptions and consents in
respect of the Amalgamation shall have been obtained on terms satisfactory to the Amalgamating
Corporations or any applicable governmental or regulatory waiting period shall have expired or
been terminated;

(o immediately available funds required for the redemption of the Amalco Rédeemable Preferred
Shares by Amalco and the puichase of any Amalco Preferred Shares by Putco (pursuant to Section
13'below) shail have been provided to Valiant Trust Company, the depositary for Deer Creek; and

(d) Newco and Deer Creek shall be satisfied that there are reasonable grounds for believing that at the
Redemption Date and after payment of the consideration on ‘redemption of the Amalco
Redeemable Preferred Shares (1) Amalco will be able to pay its liabilities as they become due, and
(11) the reaiizable value of Amalco's assets will not be less than the aggregate of its liabilities.

13.  Obligation to Purchase

Putco covenants and agrees that it' wili, prior to the time of the redemption of theiAmalco Redeemable
Preferred Shares, purchase any and all such Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares that any holder thereof validly
elects to sell to Pufco at 4 purchase price of $31:00 pet share, such purchages to be ¢ompleted and such purchase
price to be paid as soon as practicable after Valiant Trust Company, the depository for Deer Creek, receives a duly
executed and completed letter of transmittal from such holder of Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares together with
the relevant share certificates and other required:dociimentation prior to the tirhe' &f redemption.

14. Termination
directors of Deer Creek or Newco notwuhstandmg thc approval thereof by the shareholders of Deer Creek and
Newco. o

15~ “Dissenting Shareholders
Deer Creek Shares which are held by a Dissenting Shareholder shall not-be converted into Amalco
Redeemable Preferred Shares and shall not be redeemed for the Consideration. However, in the event that a
Shareholder's rights as a shar¢holder of Deer Creek Have been reinstated as a resuit of a failure to properly exercise
the dissent rights in accordance with the ABCA, éach Deer Creek Share held by that-Shareholder shall thereupon be
deemed to have been converted as of the Effective Date for an Amalco Redeemable Preferred Share, which Amalco
Redeemable Preferred Share shall be deemed to have been redeemed at the Redemption Date for the Consideration.

16: Representations and Wasranties
" Deer Creek represents and warrants to Total Canada, Newco and Putco that: - -
(a) Deer Creek is duly incorporated under the ABCA and validly exists as a corporation under the
g laws '0f Alberta and has the ‘corporate power ana autho 1ty to'own 1ts properties and assets and to
‘carry on its busmeS> as 1t is bemg conducted :

(b) " the board of directors of Deer Creek has duiy authorued the executmu and dehvery of this
,"'Agreement by Deer Creek; ! e e

(c) Deer Creek has the corporate power and authority fo enter into this Agreement;



(d)

(e}

)

the execution of this Agreement does not and the amalgamation of Deer, Creek and Newco will not
result in a breach of or violate any term or provision of the articles or the by-laws of Deer Creek or
of any agreement to which Deer Creek is. a party and by which it is bound, except as has been
disclosed to Total Canada, Newco and Putco; ' '

Deer Creek is authorized to issue. an.unlimited number of Deer Creek Shares and an unlimited
number of first preferred shares, 1ssuable in_series, of which there are issued as of the date hereof
53,855,904 Deer Creek Shares and no first preferred shares; and

as of the date hereof, there are reasonable grounds for believing that (i) Deer Creek is and Amalco
will be able to pay their liabilities as they become due, and (ii) the realizable value of Deer Creek's

assets are not and Amalco’s assets will not be less than the -aggregate of their habllltles and stated
capital of. all classes, .and there are reasonable grounds for believing that (i) no creditor will be
prejudiced by the Amalgamation, or (ii) adequate notice has been given to all known creditors of
the Amalgamating Corporations and no-creditor objects to the Amalgamation otherwise than on

-greunds that are frivolous or vexatious. .

Each of Total Canada,,Newc:o and Putca rep_resents and warrants to ‘Deer.Creek that:

(a)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(e)

®

(®

(hy

each of Newco, Putco and Total Canada is duly incorporated and validly exists as a corporation
under the laws of Alberta, in the case of Newco and Putco and Canada in the case of Total
C an,ada,. and Newco and Putco fto date have nof carried on any busmess

dehvery of thxs !\vreeme'lt by Newco Tota‘ Canada and Putco respectlvely, e
each of. Ncwco T tal Canana and Putco ha° the corporate power and authonty to enter lnto thls
Agreement;

the execution of this Agreement does not and the amalgamation of Deer Creek and Newco will not
result-in a breach of or violate eny term or provision of the articles or. the by-laws of Newco, Total

Canada or Putco or of any agreement to which Newco Total Canada or Putco is a party and by. |

which it is bound, except as has been disclosed to Deer Creek;

Newco is authorized to issue an unlimited number of Newco Common Shares and an un! limited -
number of preferred shares of which there are issued as of the date hereof 44,399 603 Newco

.Commen Sharec and no preferred shares;

, Putco is autho 1zed f0 issue an. unlimited number of common shares and an unhmlted number off-';i
_prefarred. shares of which, there are issued as of the date. hereof one common share and no_
: prefe'red shares; | <

Putco w1ll have as of the Effectlve Date and the Redemption Date sufﬁc1ent funds to pay all'
amounts to holders of Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares which may.become payable pursuant
to section 13 and Newco will have, as of the Effective Date and as of the Redemption Date,
sufficient funds to pay all redemption.amounts to holders of Amalco, Redeemable Preferred Shares
which may become payable by Amalco; and

as of the date hereof there are reasonable grounds for behevmg that (1) each of Total Canada
Newco and Putco is and Amalco will be able to pay thelr liabilities as they become due, and (i)
the realizable value of each of Total Canada's, Newco's and Putco's assets are not and Amalco’s
assets will not be less than the aggregate of their liabilities and stated capita] of all classes, and
there are reasonable grounds for believing that (i) .no. _creditor will . be prejudiced by the
Amalgamation, or (i) adequate notice has been given to all known creditors of the Amalgamating

SR



Corporations and no creditor objects to the Amalgamation otherwise than on grounds that are
frivolous or vexatious.

17. Filing of Documents

Upon the shareholders of each of the Amalgamating' Corporations approving this Agreement and the
Amalgamation in accordance with the ABCA and applicable regulatory requirements and subject to the other
provisions of this Agreement, the Amalgamating Corporations shall jointly file with the Registrar under the ABCA
articles of amalgamation and such other documents as may be required.

18. Governing Law

This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the Province of Alberta
and the laws of Canada applicable therein and-each of the parties to this Agreement hereby atiorn to the jurisdiction
of the courts in Alberta.

19. Execution and Counterparts

This Agreement may be executed by the parties in counterparts and may be executed and delivered by
facsimile and all such counterpaits and facsimiles shall together constitute one and the same agreement.

20. Third Party Beneficiaries

The provxslons of sectlon 13 are ( |) u‘tended for the benefit of the holders of Amalco Redeemable Preferred
Shares and shall be enforceable by each of such persons and his or her heirs, executors admmlstrators and other
legal representatives (collectively, the "Third Party Beneficiaries") and Putco shall hold the rlghts and benefits of
section 13 in trust for and on behalf of the Third Party Beneficiaries and Putco hereby accepts such trust and agrees
to hold the benefit of and enforce performance of such covenants on behalf of the Third Party Beneficiaries, and
(it) in addition to, and not in substitution for, any other rights that the Third Party Beneficiaries may have by
contract or otherwise.

21. Amendment

This Agreement may at any time and from time to time be amended by written agreement of the parties
hereto without, subject to applicable law, further notice to or authorization on the part of their respective
shareholders and any such amendment may, without limitation:

(a) change the time for performance of any of the obligations or acts of the parties hereto;

(b) waive compliance with or modify any of the covenants contained herein and waive or modify
performance of any of the obligations of the parties hereto; or

(c) waive compliance with or modify any other conditions precedent contained herein;

provided that no such amendment shall change the provisions hereof regarding the consideration to be received by
the shareholders of Deer Creek and Newco for their Deer Creek Shares or Newco Common Shares, as the case may
be, without approval of such sharcholders, given in the same manner as required for the approval of the
Amalgamation.

22. Covenant of Newco and Deer Creek
Newco and Deer Creek agree to conduct their business such that (i) at the Effective Date there are

reasonable grounds to believe that Amalco will be able to pay its liabilities as they become due and the realizable
value of Amalco's assets will not be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and stated capital of all classes, and



(i1) at the Redemption Date there are reasonable grounds to believe Amalco will be able to pay its liabilities as they
become due and the realizable value of Amalco's assets will not be less than the aggregate of its liabilities.

23 Entire Agreement
This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement among the parties to this Agreement relating to the

Amalgamation and supersedes all prior agreements and understandings, oral and written, between such parties with
respect to the subject matter hereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties have executed this Agreement.

DEER CREEK ENERGY LIMITED‘, o 1202655 ALBERTA LTD.
By: (Signed) Bruce Libin By: (Signed) Jean-Luc Guiziou
Director President
TOTAL E&P CANADA L’fD. ' ' 1202614 ALBERTA LTD
y: (Signed) Anita O'Brien By: (Signed) Jean-Luc Guiz;'ou A

Vice President, General Counsel © - President
and Corporate S»cremry o ' iy



SCHEDULE A

pertaining to the share capital of

the corporation resulting from the amalgamation of
Deer Creek Energy Limited and 1202655 Alberta Ltd.

" {the "Corporation")

The authorized share capital of the Corporation shall consist of an unlimited number of Common Shares
and an unlimited number of Class A Redeemable Preferred Shares. The rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions
attaching to each class of shares of the Corporation shall be as follows:

Class'A Redeemable Preferred Shares
L. Redemption

Subject to the requirements of the Business Corporations Act (Alberta) (the "ABCA™), the Corporation
shall, as of 5:00 p.m. (Calgary time) on the first business day following the amalgamation forming the Corporation
and at the instance and in the discretion of the Corporation from time to time thereafter (the "Time of
Redemption"), redeem all of the Class A Redeemable Preferred Shares in accordance with the following provisions
of this section 1. Except as hereinafier provided or as otherwise determined by the Corporatiorn, no notice of
redemption or other act or formality on the part of the Corporatlon shall be requlred to call the Class A Redeemable
Prefelred Shares for redemptlon : Sl Co ‘

" Class A Redeemabie Preterred Shares; cther than' those redeemed as uf 5: OO p.in. (Cdlgary time) on the first
busmess day followmg the amalgamanon forming the Corporation, may be redeemed ai any time and from time to
time by one or miore resolutions (a "Redemption Resolution")-of the beard of directors of the Corporation, whether
made before or afier the-issuance or creation’of the Class A Redeemable Preferred Shares to-be redeemed, stating
that the Class A Redeemable Preferred Shareés setout in the Redemption Resclution shall.be redeemed, and shall be
deemed to have been: tedeemed for thé Redeniption Amoune (as deﬁned ‘telow) in the manner and-at the time
specified herem and m ‘thie Redemptlon Resolutxon SRR S SR :

At or before each Time of Redemption, the Corporation shall deliver or cause to be delivered to Valiant
Trust Company (the "Depositary”), at its principal office in the City of Calgary, Province of Alberta, $31.00 cash
(the "Redemption Amount") in respect of each Class A Redeemable Preferred Share to be redeemed. Delivery of
the aggregaie Redemption Amount in such a manner, shall be a full and complete discharge of the Corporation's
obligation to deliver the aggregate Redemption Amount to the holders of Class A Redeemable Preferred Shares.

From and after the Time of Redemption, (i) the Depositary shall'pay and deliver or cause to be paid and
delivered to thé order of the respective holders of the Class A Redeemable Preferred Shares, by way of cheque, on
presentation and surrender at the principal office of the Depositary in the City of Calgary, Province of Alberta, of the
certificate representing the common shares in the share capital of the Corporation’s predecessor, Deer Creek Energy
Limited, which were converted into Class A Redeemable Preferred Shares upon the amalgamation or:such other
documents as the Depositary may, in its discretion, consider acceptable, the total Redemption Amount payable and
deliverable to such holders, respectively, and (ii) the former liolders of Class A Redeemable Preferred Shares shall
not be entitled to-exercisé any of the rights of shareholders in respect thereof except to receive.the Redemption
Armount therefor, provided that if satisfaction’ of the Redemption Amount for any Class A:Redeemable Preferred
Share is not duly made by or on behalf of the Corporation in accordance with the provisions hereof, then the rights
of such holders shall remain unaffected. Under no circumstances will interest on the Redemption Amount be paid by
the Corporation whether as a result of any delay in paying the Redemption Amount or otherwise.

From the Time of Redemption,:cach Class A-Redeemeble Preferred Share in.respect of whick deposit of
the Redemption Amount is made shall be deemed to-be redeemed and cancelled, the Corporation shall be fully and
completely discharged: from its.obligations with respect to the payment of the Redemption Amount to. such holders
of ClassA Redeemable Preferred Shares, and the rights of such holders shall.be limited to receiving the Redemption
Amount payable to them' on presentation and surrender of .the said- certificates held by them. or other documents
respectxvely as specified above. Subject to the requirements of applicable law with respect to unclaimed property, if
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the Redemption Amount has not been claimed in accordance with the provisions hereof within six years of the Time
of Redemption, the Redemption Amount shall be forfeited to the Corporation.

2. Priority

The Common Shares shall rank junior to the Class A Redeemable Preferred Shares and shall be subject in
all respects to the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attaching to the Class A Redeemable Preferred
Shares. :

3. Dividends

The holders of the Class A Redeemable Preferred Shares shall not be entitled to receive any dividends
thereon.

4, Voting Rights

Except as etherv,tfiseprovided in the ABCA, the holders of the Class A Redeemahle Preferred Shares shall
not be entitled to receive notice of, to attend or to vote at any meeting of the.shareholders of the Corporation.

3. Liqmdanon Dlssolutlon or WmdmO-Up

In the event of the hqu1dat10n, dlssolutlon or winding-up of the Corporatlon or any other distribution of the .

property or assets of the Corporation among its shareholders for the purpose of winding-up its affairs, and subject to
the extinguishment. of: the rights of holders. of Class A Redeemable Preferred Shares upon satisfaction of the
Redemption Amount-in respect of 2ach Class:A; Redeemable Preferred Share, the holders of Class :A Redeemable.
Preferred Shares shall be entitled;to. receive, and the Corporztion shal) pay to such holders, before any amgunt shall'

be paid or any property or assets of-the-Corporation shall ke d}str'buted to the holders of Comm(m Shares of any}v

other class of shares ranking junicr to the Glass A Redeemable Preferred Shares as to such entitlement, an amount
equal to the Redemption Amount for each Class A Redeemable Preferred Share held by them respecnvely and no

more. After payment to the holders of the Class A Redeemable Preferred. Shares of the amounts so r\ayable to them

as hereinbefore prov1ded they shall not be entltled to share in any further distribution of the property or assets of the
Corporatlon v R STV PSP o e

Common Shares
1. Dividends . -

The holders: of the Common Shares shall be entitled tc receive dividends if, as and when declared by the

board of directors of the Corporation out- of the assets of the Corporation properly available for the payment of;,

dividends of such amounts and payablc in such manner as the board of directors may from time to time determine. ..

2. Votmg Rjghts

The holders of thc Cornrr-on Shares sha]l be entxtled to receive notlce of and to attend any meetmg of the :
sharcholders of the. Corporatlon and shall.be entiiled tc cne vote in respact of each Common Share held -at such,-
meetings, except a meeting of hoiders of a particular class or series of shares other thar.the Commeon Shares who are -

entitled to vote separatel} asa c,ass orseries at such meeting. L -

-

3. Liquidation,v Dissoiution’ or -Win'di-ng.-‘U‘p'

I the-evént of the liquidation, dissolution‘or winding-up of the Corporztion or any other distribution of the

property or assets of the Corporatien among its shareholders-for the puipose of windiog-up its affairs, the holdersiof:

the Common Shares shall, subject tosthe:righits of the holders of zay. other class. of shares of the Corporation:entitled,

iy

to receive the property or-assets of the Corporatlon upon such distribution in priority to-or ratably with the- holders of,

the Common harcs pe ermtled to receiveithe remarnmg property and assets of the Fnrporatmn

DOERR ot les b
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APPENDIX 3
DEER CREEK ENERGY LIMITED
SUMMARY OF PRGCEDURE TO EXERCISE DISSENT RIGHT

The procedure to be followed by a shareholder who intends to dissent (a "Dissenting Shareholder") from the special
resolution (the "Special Resolution") approving the amalgamation (the "Amalgamation") described in the
accompanying Management Information Circular and who wishes to require Deer Creek Ernergy Limited (the
"Corporation") to acquire the Dissenting Shareholder's common shares and pay the fair value thereof, determined as of
the close of business on the last business day before the day on which the Special Resolution is adopted, is set out in
section 191 of the Business Corporations Act (Alberta) ("ABCA").

Section 191 provides that a Dissenting Shareholder may only make a claim under section 191 with respect to all the
shares of a class held by the Dissenting Shareholder or on behalf of any one beneficial owner and registered in the name
of the Dissenting Shareholder. One consequence of this provision is that a Dissenting Shareholder may only exercise
the right to dissent under section 191 in respect of shares which are registered in that shareholder's name. In
many cases, shares beneficially owned by a person (a "Non-Registered Holder") are registered either: (a) in the name of
an intermediary that the Non-Registered Holder deals with in respect of the shares (such as banks, trust companies,
securities dealers and brokers, trustees or administrators of self-administered RRSPs, RRIFs, RESPs and similar plans,
and their nominees); or (b) in the name of a clearing agency (such as The Canadian Depositary for Securities Limited
("CDS™) of which the intermediary is a participant. Accordingly, a Non-Registered Holder will not be entitled to
exercise the right to dissent under section 191 directly (unless the shares are re-registered in the Non-Registered Holder's
name). A Non-Registered Holder who wishes to exercise the right to dissent should immediately contact the
intermediary who the Non-Registered Holder deals with in respect of the shares and either: (i) instruct the intermediary
to exercise the right to dissent on the Non-Registered Holder's behalf (which, if the shares are registered in the name of
CDS or another clearing agency, would require that the shares first be re-registered in the name of the intermediary); or
(i1) instruct the intermediary to re-register the shares in the name of the Non-Registered Holder, in which case the Non-
Registered Holder would have to exercise the right to dissent directly.

A Dissenting Shareholder who wishes to invoke the provisions of section 191 of the ABCA must send to the Corporation
at or before the special meeting of shareholders of the Corporation, a written objection to the Special Resolution ("a
dissent notice"”). The ABCA does not provide, and the Corporation will not assume, that a vote against the Special
Resolution approving the Amalgamation constitutes a dissent notice. An application by the Corporation, or by a
Dissenting Shareholder if he has sent a dissent notice as described above, may be made to the Court of Queen's Bench of
Alberta (the "Court") by originating notice, after the adoption of the Special Resolution approving the Amalgamation, to
fix the fair value of the shares held by the Dissenting Shareholder. The fair value is to be determined as of the close of
business on the last business day before the date on which the Special Resolution was adopted. If an application is made
to the Court, the Corporation shall, unless the Court otherwise orders, send to each Dissenting Sharcholder, at least ten
days before the date on which the application is returnable if the Corporation is the applicant or within ten days after the
Corporation is served with a copy of the originating notice if the Dissenting Shareholder is the applicant, a written offer
to pay an amount considered by the Board of Directors of the Corporation to be the fair value of the shares. Every such
offer is to be made on the same terms and is to contain or be accompanied by a statement showing how the fair value was
determined.

Upon the occurrence of the earliest of: (i) the Amalgamation becoming effective; (ii) the making of an agreement
between the Corporation and the Dissenting Sharcholder as to the payment to be made by the Corporation for the
Dissenting Shareholder's shares; or (iii) a pronouncement of the Court fixing the fair value of the shares; a Dissenting
Shareholder ceases to have any rights as a shareholder of the Corporation, other than the right to be paid the fair
value of such shares in the amount agreed to between the Corporation and the Dissenting Shareholder or in the amount
fixed by the Court, as the case may be. Until one of these three events occurs, the Dissenting Shareholder may withdraw
the dissent notice or the Corporation may rescind the Special Resolution and in either event, the dissent and appraisal
proceedings in respect of such Dissenting Shareholder will be discontinued.

Dissenting Shareholders will not have any right other than those granted under the ABCA to have their shares appraised
or to receive the fair value thereof.



This summary is expressly subject to section 191 of the ABCA, the text of which is reproduced in its entirety in
Appendix 4 hereto. The Corporation is not required to notify, and the Corporation will not notify, shareholders
of the time periods within which action must be taken in order for a shareholder to perfect the shareholder's
dissent rights. It is reccommended that any shareholder wishing to exercise a right to dissent seek legal advice, as
failure to comply strictly with the provisions of section 191 of the ABCA may prejudice any such rights.




APPENDIX 4
DEER CREEK ENERGY LIMITED

SECTION 191 OF THE BUSINESS CORPORATIONS ACT (ALBERTA)

"Shareholder's Right to Dissent

191(1) Subject to sections 192 and 242, a holder of shares of any class of a corporation may dissent if the corporation

)

3

(4)

(%)

(6)

resolvesto

(a) amend its articles under section 173 or 174 to add, change or remove any provisions restricting or
constraining the issue or transfer of shares of that class,

(b) amend its articles under section 173 to add, change or remove any restrrctlons on the business or
businesses that the corporation may carry on,

(©) amalgamate with another corporation, otherwise than under section 184 or 187,
(d  be coniinued under the laws of another jurisdiction under‘secticn'189; or -
(e) sell, lease or exchange all or substantially all its property under séction 190,

A holder of shares of any class or series of shares entitled to vote under section }76, other than section
176(1)(a), may dissent if the cqrporation resolves to amend its articles in a marmer described in that section.

In addition to any other right the shareholder may have, but sub}ect to subsection (20) a shareholder entitled to
dissent under ihis section and who complies with this section”is entitléd to be paid by the corporation the fair
value of the shares held by the shareholder in respect of which the shareholder dissents, determined as of the
close of business on the last business day before the day on which the resolution from which the shareholder
dissents was adopted.

A dissenting shareholder may only clainr under this section with respect fo all the sharés of a class held by the

shareholder or on behalf of any one beneficial owner and registered in the name of the diséenting shareholder.

A dissenting ‘shareholder shall send fo the corporation a written objection”to a resolution referred to in

subsection (1) or (2)
(a) at or before any meeting of shareholders at which the resolution is to be voted on, or

(b) if the corporation did not send notice to the shareholder of the purpose of the meeting or of the
" shareholder's right to dissent, within a reasonable time after the shareholder learns that the resolution
was adopted and of the shareholder's right to dissent.

An application may be made to the Court by originating notice after the adoptron of a resolution referred to in
subsection (1) or (2) . . e

(a) by the corporation, or

(b) by ashareholder if he has sent an objection to the corporation under subsection (5),

to fix the fair value in accordance wrth subsectron (3) of the shares of a shareholder who dissents under this
section. : - . . PR : N



N

(8)

)

(10)

(11)

(12)

(13)

If an application is made under subsection (€), the corporation shall, unless the Court otherwise orders, send to
each dissenting shareholder a written offer to pay him an amount considered by the directors to be the fair value
of the shares.

Unless the Court otherwise orders, an offer referred to in subsection (7) shall be sent to each dissenting
shareholder

(a) at least 10 days before the date on which the application is réturrizible; if the corpofation is the
applicant, or

(b) within 10 days after the corporation is served with a copy of the originating notice, if ‘2 shareholder is
the applicant.

Every offer made under subsection (7) shall

(a) be made on the same terms, and

b contain or be accompanied by a statement showing how the fair value was determined.

A dissenting shareholder may make an agreement with the corporatlon for the purchase of the shareholder's
shares by the corporation, in the amount of the corporatlon s offer under subsection (7) or otherwise, at any time
before the Court pronounces an order fixing the fair value of the shares.

A dissenting shareholder o

(a) is not requlred to glve securlty for costs in respect of an apphcat]on under subsection (6) and

(b) . except n specxal c*rcumstanCPs shall not be requtred to paV the costs of the. apphcatlon or appralsal

In conncg:_tiqg,with an applicatior; under subse;ction"(o);,the Court rhay give direct_ions for

s

(a) joining as parties all dissenting shareholders whose shares have not been purchased by the corporation
-and.for.the representation of dissenting shareholders who, in the opinion of the Court are in need of
1epresentation, :

(b) the trial of issues and interlocutory maiters, including pleadings and examinations for discovery,

(c) the payment to the shareholder of all or part of the sum offered by the corporation for the shares,

(d) the dei)osit of the share certificates with the Court or with the corporation or its transfer agent,

(e) the-appointment and payme‘nt of indepéndent appraisers, and the procedures to be followed by them,

() the service of documents, and
(2) thé oufden of proof on the parties.
On an application under subsection (6), the Court shall make an order

(a) fixing the fair vaiue,of the shares in accordance with subsestion (3) of all dissenting shareholders who
are pames to the apphcatlon

(b) glvmg Judgment in that amount against the corporatlon and in favour of each of 'Hose dissenting
shareholders, and



(14)

(15)

(16)

)

(18)

(19)

(20)

(©) fixing the time within which the corporation must pay that amount to a shareholder.

On

(a) the action dpproved by the resolution from which the shareholder dissénts bécoming effective,

(b) the making of an agreement under subsection (10) between the corporation and the dissenting
shareholder as to the payment to be made by the corporation for the shareholder's shares, whether by
the acceptance of the corporation's offer under subsection (7) or otherwise, or

(c) the pronouncement of an order under subsection (13),

whichever first occurs, the shareholder ceases to have any rights as a shareholder other than the right to be paid
the fair value of his shares in the amount agreed to between the corporation and the shareholder or in the
amount of the judgment, as the case may be.

Subsection (14)(a) does not apply to a shareholder referred to in subsection (5)(b).

Until one of the events mentioned in subsection (14) occurs

() the shareholder may withdraw his dissent, or

(b) the corporation may rescind the resolution,

and in either event proceedings under this section shall be discontinued.

The Court may in its discretion allow a reasonable rate of interest on the amount payable to each dissenting
shareholder, from the date on which the shareholder ceases to have any rights as a shareholder by reason of
subsection (14) until the date of payment.

If subsection (20) applies, the corporatioﬁ shall, within 10 days after

(a) the pronouncement of an order under subsection (13), or

(b) the making of an agreement between the shareholder and the corporation as to the payment to be made
for his shares,

notify each dissenting shareholder that it is unable lawfully to pay dissenting shareholders for their shares.

Notwithstanding that a judgment has been given in favour of a dissenting shareholder under subsection (13)(b),
if subsection (20) applies, the dissenting shareholder, by written notice delivered to the corporation within 30
days after receiving the notice under subsection (18), may withdraw the shareholder's notice of objection, in
which case the corporation is deemed to consent to the withdrawal and the shareholder is reinstated to the
shareholder's full rights as a shareholder, failing which the shareholder retains a status as a claimant against the
corporation, to be paid as soon as the corporation is lawfully able to do so or, in a liquidation, to be ranked
subordinate to the rights of creditors of the corporation but in priority to its shareholders.

A corporation shall not make a payment to a dissenting shareholder under this section if there are reasonable
grounds for believing that

(a) the corporation is or would after the payment be unable to pay its liabilities as they become due, or

(b) the realizable value of the corporation's assets would thereby be less than the aggregate of its
liabilities."



APPENDIX 5
DEER CREEK ENERGY LIMITED

AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS-OF 1202655 ALBERTA LTD.



Financial Statement of

1202655 ALBERTA LTD.

........



AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE DIRECTORS

We have audited the balance shéet of 1202655 Albérta Ltd. as at November 9, 2005. This
financial statement is the responsibiiity of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on this financial statement based on our audlt

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.
Those standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance
whether the financial statement is free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on
a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statement. An audit
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.

In our opinion, this financial statement presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of the Company as at November 9, 2005 in accordance with Canadian generaily accepted
accounting principles.

Mvv(f LepP

Chartered Accountants

Calgary, Canada
November 10, 2005



1202655 ALBERTA LTD.

Balance Sheet

As at November 9, 2005

Assets

Current assets:
Cash

31

Shareholders’ Equity

Shareholders’ equity: : TR S ST SRR LY, U

“Authorized:

Uniimited number of common shares without a value

Unlimited number of preferred shares without a value

Issued:
One common share at a price of $31

31

See accompanying notes to financiat staterment.” « = -
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1202655 ALBERTA LTD.

Notes to Financial Statement

As at November 9, 2005

Incorporation:

The Company was incorporated in the province of Alberta on November 3, 2005 under the Alberta
'Business Corporations Act. The Company has not engaged in any active business operations.
The Company is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Total E&P Canada Ltd. (Total Canada).

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:

The financial statements are prepared in .accordance with Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles. ~

2. Subsequent events:

On November 10, 2005, pursuant to a share transfer agreement, Total Canada transferred
44,399,602 common shares of Deer Creek Energy Limited (the “Deer Creek sharés") at $31.00
per share for total consideration of $1,376,387,662. The consideration was paid through the
issuance of 44,399,602 common shares of the Company pursuant to an election under section
85(1) of the Canadian Income Tax Act.



APPENDIX 6

DEER CREEK ENERGY LIMITED

AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF 1202614 ALBERTA LTD.



Financial Statement of

1202614 ALBERTA LTD.

As at November 9, 2005



AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE DIRECTORS

We have audited the balance sheet of 1202614  Alberta Lid. as at Novembar 9. 2005. This
financial statement is the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on this financial statement based onour audit. - - v :

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.
Those standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance
whether the financial statement is free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on
a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statement. An audit
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.

In our opinion, this financial statement presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of the Company as at November 9, 2005 in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles.

M\A@ Lo

Chartered Accountants

Calgary, Canada
November 10, 2005



1202614 ALBERTA LTD.

Balance Sheet

As at November 9, 2005

Assets

Current assets:
Cash

31

Shareholders’ Equity

Shareholders’ equity:
Authorized:

Unlimited number of common shares without a value .

Unlimited number of preferred shares witholt a vaiue
Issued:

31

One common shares at a price of $31

See accompanying note to financial statement. - -, -



1202614 ALBERTA LTD.

Note to Financial Statement

As at November 9, 2005

Incorporation:

The Company was incorporated in the province of Alberta on November 3, 2005 under the Alberta
Business Corporations Act. The Company has not engaged in any active business operations.
The Company is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Total E&P Canada Ltd. (Total Canada).

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles.



